
CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

MUNICIPAL BUILDING, 1777 BROADWAY 
Tuesday, January 19, 2016 

6 PM  
 

AGENDA 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
A. State of the City Presentation 
B. Climate Summit Presentation by Matt Appelbaum 
 

2. OPEN COMMENT and COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE (limited to 45 min.) 
Public may address any city business for which a public hearing is not scheduled later in 
the meeting (this includes the consent agenda and first readings).  After all public 
hearings have taken place, any remaining speakers will be allowed to address Council.  
All speakers are limited to three minutes. 
 

3. CONSENT AGENDA (to include first reading of ordinances) Vote to be taken on the 
motion at this time (roll call vote required). 

A. Consideration of a motion to accept the November 12, 2015 Study Session 
Summary on the Access Management and Parking Strategy 

 
B. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution No. 1179 declaring the city of 

Boulder’s official intent to participate in a future issuance of a Water and 
Sewer revenue bonds and to reimburse itself for capital  expenditures 
undertaken in advance of such financing made from the Water and Wastewater 
funds, including, without limitation, architectural, engineering, appraisal, surveying, 
acquisition, site preparation and other costs incidental to the commencement of 
construction of the financed project 

 
C. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by 

title only Ordinance No. 8103 approving supplemental appropriations to the 
2016 Budget for costs incurred to implement the new short term rental 
program and tax 

 
D. A motion to hold a Special Council meeting at the conclusion of the January 26, 

2016 Study Session, for the purpose of holding an Executive Session obtaining 
and discussing legal advice, including negotiation strategy, with respect to 
Boulder's Electric Utility 
 

E. Consideration of a motion to appoint Tim Plass as an alternate member of the 
Planning Board to consider the site review and rezoning applications for the 
Reve project, located at 2100 and 2170 30th Street, 3000 Pearl Street, and 2120 
32nd Street 
 

Packet Page 1



4. POTENTIAL CALL-UP CHECK IN
Opportunity for Council to indicate possible interest in the call-up of an item listed 
under 8-A. No Action will be taken by Council at this time. 

ORDER OF BUSINESS 

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS
Note:  Any items removed from the Consent Agenda will be considered after any City
scheduled Public Hearings
A. Second reading and consideration of a motion adopt Ordinance No. 8100

designating the building and property at 2200 Broadway Street, to be known as 
the Trinity Lutheran Church, as an individual landmark per Section 9-11-5 of the 
Boulder Revised Code, 1981 (HIS2015-00189) * 
Owner/Applicant: Applicant/Owner: Reverend Mark Twietmeyer, Trinity 
Lutheran Church 

B. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt  Ordinance  No. 8102 
designating the building and property at 1900 King Street, to be known as the 
Sampson-Wood House, as an individual landmark per Section 9-11-5 of the 
Boulder Revised Code, 1981(HIS2015-00173)  * 
Owner/Applicant: Applicant/Owner: Dr. William Wood 

* Ordinance numbers have been renumbered; formerly out of sequence

6. MATTERS FROM THE CITY MANAGER
A. An update on the Transportation Master Plan Implementation – Complete

Streets and Living Lab Phase I Projects  

B. Band Shell Update - Follow up on a statement from a member of the public 
regarding the Oct. 7, 2015 memo for the Landmark Alteration Certificate 
Application for the Glen Huntington Band Shell (1236 Canyon Blvd.) 

7. MATTERS FROM THE CITY ATTORNEY

8. MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL
A. Potential Call-Ups

B.  Approval of Committee Assignments as discussed at the January 12, 2016 Study
Session  

9. PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS
Public comment on any motions made under Matters. -15 min

10. FINAL DECISIONS ON MATTERS
Action on motions made under Matters.

Packet Page 2



11. DEBRIEF
Opportunity for Council to discuss how the meeting was conducted-5 min

12. ADJOURNMENT
This agenda and the meetings can be viewed at www.bouldercolorado.gov / City Council.
Meetings are aired live on Municipal Channel 8 and the city’s Web site and are re-
cablecast at 6 p.m. Wednesdays and 11 a.m. Fridays in the two weeks following a regular
council meeting.  DVDs may be checked out from the Main Boulder Public Library.

Anyone requiring special packet preparation such as Braille, large print, or tape recorded 
versions may contact the City Clerk’s Office at 303-441-4222, 8 a.m. – 5 p.m. Monday 
through Friday.  The Council Chambers is equipped with a T-Coil assisted listening loop 
and portable assisted listening devices.  Individuals with hearing or speech loss may 
contact us using Relay Colorado 711 (711 or 800-659-3656). Please allow 48 hours 
notification prior to the meeting if additional packets are required.

If you need Spanish interpretation or other language-related assistance for this meeting,
please call (303) 441-1905 at least three business days prior to the meeting.  Si usted
necesita interpretación o cualquier otra ayuda con relación al idioma para esta junta, por
favor comuníquese al (303) 441-1905 por lo menos 3 negocios días antes de la junta.

Electronic presentations to the city council must be pre-loaded by staff at the time of sign
up and will NOT be accepted after 3:30 p.m. at regularly scheduled meetings.  Electronic
media must come on a prepared USB jump (flash/thumb) drive and no technical support
is provided by staff.

Packet Page 3

http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/


CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: January 19, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to accept the November 12, 2015 Study 
Session Summary on the Access Management and Parking Strategy. 

PRESENTERS  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Molly Winter, Director, Department of Community Vitality 
Kathleen Bracke, GO Boulder Manager, Public Works Transportation 
Chris Hagelin, Senior Transportation Planner, GO Boulder  
Bill Cowern, Transportation Operations Engineer 
Karl Guiler, Senior Planner, Planning Housing + Sustainability 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This agenda item provides a summary of the November 
12, 2015 study session on the Access Management and 
Parking Strategy.  

The purpose of the study session was to share ongoing community engagement and work plan items 
related to AMPS and next steps. In addition, staff requested council input on options related to:  

1. Parking  pricing considerations;
2. Off-street parking code requirements and Transportation Demand Management (TDM)

policies for new developments; and
3. On-street car share parking policy.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff recommends Council consideration of this summary and action in the form of the 
following motion: 

Motion to accept the November 12, 2015 Study Session Summary on the Access 
Management and Parking Strategy. 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 1Packet Page 4



November 12, 2015 Study Session Summary 
Access Management and Parking Strategy 

PRESENT 
City Council: Matt Appelbaum, Macon Cowles, Suzanne Jones, George Karakehian, Lisa Morzel 
Tim Plass and Mary Young 

Staff Members: Director of Community Vitality, Molly Winter; GO Boulder Manager, Kathleen 
Bracke; Senior Transportation Planner, Chris Hagelin; Transportation Operations Engineer, Bill 
Cowern; and Planning Housing + Sustainability Senior Planner, Karl Guiler 

OVERVIEW OF THE PRESENTATION  
Molly Winter gave an overview of the AMPS process, timelines, and guiding principles. She then 
highlighted three specific topics for which staff is seeking Council input: 1) parking  pricing 
considerations; 2) off-street parking code requirements f and Transportation Demand Management 
(TDM) policies for new developments; and 3) on-street car share parking policy. 

Ms. Winter also provided an overview of the broader range of AMPS topics. The six focus areas of 
AMPS have numerous components and Ms. Winter gave a brief update on which items are 
currently being implemented, which items are in process, and which items are scheduled for next 
year. The Neighborhood Parking Permit program is the most immediate AMPS topic scheduled for 
a Council Study Session in February.   

PARKING PRICING CONSIDERATIONS 
Ms. Winter provided an overview of parking pricing policy considerations and what to expect 
related to pricing analysis in the coming year. Council requested specific information about how the 
city prices parking for the neighborhood parking program and city garages. Ms. Winter provided an 
overview of the considerations of parking pricing, how the rates are increased over time,  how those 
prices compare with market rate prices, and additional analysis planned for the 2016 AMPS work 
program. 

Council Discussion: 
• Is there a requirement for private garages to provide public parking? Ms. Winter responded

no, but that some provide limited parking for their retail and office tenant customers.
• Is there data on the number of tourists/cars particularly with more short term rentals? Ms.

Winter responded that we partner to do a intercept surveys and we have data on who is
coming to the downtown and how since the mid 1990s (Downtown Boulder User Survey –
2014 and Downtown Employee Survey for Transportation – 2015).

• If a building does not have parking on site, do they pay the same amount as a building that
does have parking? Ms. Winter responded that every property in CAGID pays a tax to the
district to provide parking. If the property has some on-site parking they get a partial rebate
based upon the parking provided.

• Is staff looking at changing parking rates based on time of day? Ms. Winter responded that
staff will be looking at a host of other pricing models as well as parking violation fines
including graduated fines to address abuse. Some changes may depend on technology
investments. Staff is looking at convening a parking practitioners’ panel early next year on
different pricing structures and to discuss other communities’ experiences implementing

Attachment A-Summary

Agenda Item 3A     Page 2Packet Page 5

https://bouldercolorado.gov/links/fetch/28523
https://bouldercolorado.gov/links/fetch/28523
https://bouldercolorado.gov/links/fetch/28524


changes and how changes were received. It was noted that parking fine revenues go to the 
general fund. On-street parking revenues also are general fund revenues and a major portion 
goes to support downtown programs including the downtown employee EcoPass program. 
Customers getting parking tickets can be a concern for businesses, so programs are in place 
to allow a business to validate parking for a customer (e.g. a customer that gets a ticket may 
not come back). It is a delicate balance – having parking management policies that 
encourage turnover and at the same time provide customer ease of payment and convenient 
access to businesses. The city tries to promote validation and educate visitors to park in a 
garage if they think they may overstay the metered time in order to avoid a ticket. It was 
noted that new pay by phone technology at the pay stations has benefited businesses by 
offering additional convenience of notification when the meter will expire. 

• Can you add time to a meter remotely with a phone? Ms. Winter responded yes, if you use
the phone app for the initial purchase and only up until the time limit. Technology has
opened up a new frontier in convenience and possibility.

• With increased rates, is there an analysis of any changes in mode preferences? Ms. Winter
responded that we have not specifically asked the question or looked at a causal correlation
of price and mode share.

• When addressing parking, how do we extend RTD service hours to allow more downtown
users to take advantage of transit? Ms. Bracke responded that we continually work with
RTD on frequency, timing, and funding to enhance transit service to downtown and
throughout the community.  Council requested additional information regarding RTD and
city’s plans to enhance transit service for a more in-depth discussion at a future study
session (this is in process of being scheduled for mid-2016)

• Do part-time employees get EcoPasses? Ms. Winter responded that employees receiving
full-time benefits receive the passes. The definition of part-time varies based on business
type. Staff expressed interest in understanding how many part-time employees are
downtown and what would entail providing passes for all part-time employees. Council
requested additional information on this topic.

• Can we find out why downtown EcoPass holders are not using the pass? Council members
discussed how it depends on where people live and their current life situation. More people
would take transit if was available and easy to use. The city should consider ways to ways to
help with childcare and eldercare that may current be a barrier to transit use.

• How do we know if we are charging the right amount for long-term permits? How do we
know what the sweet spot is? Ms. Winter responded that it is a mixture of science and art.
Permit waitlists are one variable, but it is also tied to overall economic health, short-term
parking and customer parking demand. There is no magic formula – we need to do our best
to balance our sustainability goals in determining an appropriate price in consultation with
businesses and community.

• Do we have enough short-term parking in the garages? Do we have the right balance? Ms.
Winter replied yes, at most times. We monitor occupancy levels and adjust employee
permits accordingly along with input from businesses and customers. Paid parking is one
piece of the puzzle, managing parking and offering a menu of access options are also
important considerations.

• Council was appreciative of Ms. Winter’s email responses to questions and the detailed
information on parking pricing provided in the study session memo.

Attachment A-Summary

Agenda Item 3A     Page 3Packet Page 6



Next Steps: 
Topics related to parking pricing in the next two years are related to: 

• Evaluating parking fines and graduated fines – increasing ticket fine with additional tickets; 
• Evaluating short-term hourly parking pricing (both rates and structure); and 
• Evaluating rates for the Neighborhood Parking Permit program for residents and commuter 

permits. 
 

All these efforts will require significant community and stakeholder engagement to ensure that the 
pricing issues and considerations discussed by Council are addressed. 

 
OFF-STREET PARKING CODE REQUIREMENTS AND TRANSPORTATION DEMAND 
MANAGEMENT POLICIES FOR NEW DEVELOPMENT  
 
PARKING CODE REQUIREMENTS 
Karl Guiler gave an update on the process to update the off-street parking code and the closely 
related topic of Transportation Demand Management policies for new development. Mr. Guiler 
gave an overview of the outreach related to this topic and the research completed to date, including 
a parking utilization (supply vs. demand) analysis and best practices. 
 
Council Discussion: 

• Is there an ideal utilization rate for a parking lot so that people do not have to circle the lot? 
Mr. Fox responded that 85% is a general rule for when a lot is perceived as full. That 
perception is often triggered when people cannot find parking directly in front of a business. 

• Can the city influence how private lots are managed? Mr. Guiler responded that the city only 
has control over city owned lots and we currently use technology in city lots to help people 
know how many spaces are currently available, but we are unaware of private businesses 
doing this. The city may suggest signage to direct customers to additional parking, but it is 
usually not a requirement. 

• Can we help explain to the public how the data was gathered? Mr. Fox explained that each 
site was observed differently to find the time of day and week with the highest utilization. 

• Council members urged caution on parking issues. Take more time to get the data right and 
make sure that the data resonates with members of the public and captures a broader 
spectrum of parking usage. Provide additional data points over a longer period of time. 
There are a number of parking issues in flux at this time that ideally should be considered 
before moving forward on the parking changes. 

• Is it reasonable to discuss a specific grocery store parking utilization within a larger parking 
lot (e.g. people need to walk with their groceries)? Mr. Fox responded that the intent was not 
to assign a parking utilization to a specific business, but rather a larger area of analysis 
particularly when there is a mixture of businesses. It is difficult to isolate, so we aggregate. 
Many uses change over time and the demand will change based on the use. 

• Do we know how this data relates to the use of other modes on private lots? Mr. Guiler 
responded that we did not get to that level of detail. The data does show that the mixed use 
sites recently built that received parking reductions have demand closer to supply compared 
to sites that did not obtain a parking reduction. 

• How can we measure spillover parking from multi-unit residential developments into 
surrounding neighborhoods and be proactive in addressing management of private parking? 
Mr. Guiler responded that it is a difficult situation to regulate how property owners manage 

Attachment A-Summary

Agenda Item 3A     Page 4Packet Page 7



their parking. Ms. Winter responded that AMPS will be looking at NPP’s, district 
management and how we can start to apply the AMPS principles to specific areas of the city. 

• Would parking maximums apply only to new development, or also redevelopment? Mr. 
Guiler responded the requirement would apply to new development and existing 
developments would be grandfathered if they had more parking than required under the new 
requirements. Mr. Guiler also pointed out that reducing parking requirements could initiate 
redevelopment/additional floor area if the parking limits are reduced.  

• Council discussed the described scenarios and there was general support for Scenario #2, but 
there were a number of important considerations: 

o Spillover issues (both in-commuters and commercial developments to residential) 
o How do we manage private parking allocation? 
o Best effort vs. outcome – businesses have limited ability to influence behavior  
o Consider a changing landscape related to housing, jobs and parking (e.g. higher 

number of employees in downtown tech industries than 10 years ago). 
o Need to be flexible to address a changing landscape. 
o Satellite parking is an important ingredient as well as other incentives to modes other 

than single occupant vehicles. Incentives should be stronger. 
o Understand the relationship between parking and congestion (in particular how free 

parking affects congestion). 
o Consider a parking user fee in lieu of sales taxes to fund the transportation system as 

a way to incentivize single-occupant vehicle modes and reduce congestion. 
o A one size fits all approach may not be realistic due to the unique circumstances in 

the different parts of the city. 
o Council may need to have additional discussions about RTD issues (e.g., levels of 

service, funding, etc.).  
• Council generally agreed that we need to understand and have more confidence in the data 

before moving forward with any of the scenarios and that any unintended consequences are 
addressed. 

 
TDM PLAN ORDINANCE FOR NEW DEVELOPMENT 
Mr. Hagelin presented an overview of Transportation Demand Management programs being 
analyzed for new development projects and the relationship to the parking code changes as well as 
transportation impact fee analysis.  
 
Council Discussion: 

• Concern was expressed that requiring TDM programs for existing businesses would create a 
challenging environment for businesses that made business decisions without knowledge of 
this new requirement. Mr. Hagelin responded that the focus is on new development, but that 
at a later stage it could be expanded to existing development, if appropriate. 

• Are there examples in other places that take into consideration the availability of transit? 
What is a business supposed to do if transit not available? Mr. Hagelin responded that many 
businesses do provide incentives not directly related to transit (e.g. vanpools, parking cash 
out, etc.). Transit is sometimes difficult even for the city to influence. 

• Can a TDM plan serve as a nexus for an impact fee? Mr. Hagelin responded yes, we are 
working with the consultant team and breaking new ground on understanding what 
opportunities and constraints exist related to TDM plans and impact fees. 

Attachment A-Summary

Agenda Item 3A     Page 5Packet Page 8



• Transportation Management Organizations were formed to deal with both new and existing 
development – what have we learned? Mr. Hagelin responded that we have learned a lot and 
these organizations have been successful at doing outreach to businesses to expand TDM 
programs and work closely with the parking and access districts. 

• Council generally agreed that TDM requirements should be tied to the tenants, not a 
developer who has no real influence over time. 

• Council generally agreed that the TDM program needs to be modernized and there was a 
desire to align the work with the impact fee study. 

• There was a discussion of TDM requirements and the concern that it is a one size fits all 
approach. Mr. Hagelin responded that TDM requirements are intended to be customized to 
the project, and for example could  be tied to the amount of parking provided (development 
that proposes parking close to the minimums could have stronger TDM program . In 
addition, the TDM targets could be tied directly to the proximity of other transportation 
modes. And those targets can change over time as additional options are made available. 

 
Next Steps: 
Staff will continue to work on a city-wide ordinance requiring TDM Plans for new developments 
and specifically on identifying specific targets, employee size and housing unit/bedroom thresholds, 
enforcement options, draft ordinance language with CAO, and integration with both the parking 
code changes and Impact Fee Study. Additional analysis and community engagement is needed for 
both the parking and TDM program evaluation and need to take time to consider all of the potential 
concerns and inter-related elements. 

 
ON-STREET CAR SHARE POLICY 
Bill Cowern gave an overview of the current status of car sharing in Boulder and the potential to 
expand car sharing to on-street parking spaces throughout the city. The primary purpose of updating 
the policy is to respond to new car share companies interested in operating in Boulder and all 
companies (existing and new) interested in having special access to the city’s on-street spaces.  

   
Council Discussion: 

• Do car share companies pay for spaces on private property? Mr. Cowern responded that both 
private property owners and the city rent spaces or offer those spaces free or with a subsidy 
to existing car share companies. The price is negotiated between the parking space owner 
and the car share company. 

• How many cars would be considered by a new car share company? Mr. Cowern responded it 
would vary but could be in the hundreds, depending upon the business model. 

• What is the level of staff effort to change the policy? Mr. Cowern responded that the code 
changes would require significant effort from multiple departments and that substantial 
community engagement would also be required. 

• What do we anticipate would be the demand for the geo-based model? Mr. Cowern 
responded that Car2Go indicated a desire to deploy about 100 cars. 

• How will changes in the Civic Area for city employee parking deter employees from driving 
more? Mr. Cowern responded that the number of employees seeking to park in the Civic 
Area are less than the number of parking spaces available, and that demand for parking will 
decrease further as parking is currently free in the library area and this will change to 
metered parking and the rates for a city employee permit are being raised from $2 to $3 a 
day which is comparable to CAGID surface parking lots. Ms. Bracke responded that the 

Attachment A-Summary

Agenda Item 3A     Page 6Packet Page 9



City is working on other TDM programs to manage parking demand by employees through 
incentives, concierge service, etc. being piloted in 2015 and rolled out in January 2016 based 
on feedback and results from the pilot program. Quarterly monitoring of the Civic Area 
parking lots will be done in 2016 and reported back to the boards, Library Commission, and 
City Council. 

• Can we follow Denver’s example? Mr. Cowern responded that Denver has both business 
models of car share operational and has a car share policy to help staff work with them. We 
have a copy of their car share policy and have been communicating with Denver staff. 

• Does staff have a recommendation? Ms. Winter responded that we would consider a pilot to 
understand the elements and issues specific to Boulder (pricing, usage, etc.). The off-street is 
going fine, we would focus on the on-street car share piece. The pilot could be for a period 
of time and staff would craft an evaluation framework to determine if we should continue it. 

• How does this fit into the overall work plan and what can we do well? Should we focus on 
one model versus another? Mr. Cowern noted that the potential impact car share programs 
can have on implementation of the city’s goals appears limited and that this is a 
consideration regarding how high a priority this work task should be in 2016. Ms. Bracke 
recommended that the pilot address both models within a policy framework, similar to how 
the city approached the pilot for electric assist bicycles in 2013-14. It would be a similar 
work plan and multi-year timeline. Ms. Winter added that there may be additional 
complications adding parking in areas with parking permit programs and would likely 
require additional outreach. 

• Council members expressed concern about how many cars would be involved in a pilot, how 
many car share companies, how it would all be managed, and how it would apply in 
different parts of the city. 

• Council generally agreed there should be a pilot with a clearly defined process and 
evaluation criteria for how we measure success. Council requested additional information on 
how a pilot would be structured and responses to questions raised by Council. 

 
Based on feedback from City Council at the November Study Session, staff is developing 2016 
work program items to address these questions/concerns for all of the AMPS items. Staff will 
provide the next AMPS update to City Council in the second quarter of 2016. 

Attachment A-Summary

Agenda Item 3A     Page 7Packet Page 10



CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: January 19th, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution No. 1179 

declaring the city of Boulder’s official intent to participate in a future issuance of a 

Water and Sewer revenue bonds and to reimburse itself for capital  expenditures 

undertaken in advance of such financing made from the Water and Wastewater 

funds, including, without limitation, architectural, engineering, appraisal, 

surveying, acquisition, site preparation and other costs incidental to the 

commencement of construction of the financed project.  

PRESENTER/S  

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  

Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 

Cheryl Pattelli, Director of Finance  

Jeff Arthur, Director of Utilities 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The passage of this resolution will allow the Utilities Department to use some of their fund 

balance to fund expenditures if they have the opportunity to do so prior to receiving bond 

proceeds anticipated in September.  By allowing an advance from their fund balance, Utilities 

can continue to actively pursue capital improvements with currently available appropriated funds 

up to $35,000,000 until the closing of the upcoming water and sewer bonds occurs in June.  

When the Series 2016 bonds are issued, the current available funds can be reimbursed from the 

bond proceeds.  This reimbursement is available for funds expended up to sixty days prior to the 

date of this resolution. This is being done to provide maximum flexibility for the Water and 

Wastewater funds so they can continue to address capital improvement issues, and to help meet 

the three year 85 percent Internal Revenue Service requirements for the expenditure of municipal 

bond proceeds.  The use of a reimbursement resolution is commonly used when issuing debt. 

The City has used the methodology with other bond issues to provide for effective and efficient 

use of resouces.    

The passage of this resolution is a formality required by federal tax law to allow the City to 

reimburse itself from bond proceeds for capital improvements prior to the bond proceeds 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 1Packet Page 11



arriving. This resolution does not authorize the bond sale.  Therefore, the impact analysis of 

using board and commission feedback and public feedback will be addressed when the Notice of 

Sale Resolution is brought to Council at a future date. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language:  

Move to adopt Resolution No. 1179 authorizing up to $35,000,000 of reimbursement 

from bond proceeds for Water and Wastewater funds that could be expended between 

now and the arrival of the bond proceeds. 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

The passage of a reimbursement resolution has no economic, environmental or social impact on 

residents of the City of Boulder.  These impacts do occur with the Notice of Sale Resolution that 

is being brought to Council at the April 19
th

 meeting.

OTHER IMPACTS 

 There are no fiscal or other impacts that occur due to the passage of a reimbursement

resolution.

BACKGROUND AND ANALYSIS 

On some occasions, the receipt of bond proceeds cannot be timed to coincide with when money 

will be needed. By passing a reimbursement resolution, the Water and Wastewater fund balances 

could be used to fund capital improvement projects. The funds will then be reimbursed from the 

bond proceeds when they are received.  If the fund balance money is not needed, the 

reimbursement resolution expires when the bond proceeds are received and no reimbursement 

occurs. 

The resolution is required by federal law to comply with tax exempt bonding requirements. The 

following items must be included in the resolution: 

 An announcement and acknowledgement of the municipality’s expectation to issue

bonds.

 An announcement and acknowledgement that the municipality will reimburse itself from

bond proceeds for capital expenditures.

If this action is not approved, the Water and Wastewater funds cannot reimburse themselves 

from bond proceeds if there is an unforeseen delay in the issuance of the bonds.  The resolution 

is written to allow flexibility in the timeline in case some unexpected delay occurs. 

ATTACHMENT  

A:  Reimbursement Resolution No. 1179 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 2Packet Page 12



RESOLUTION No. 1179 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO (ACTING THROUGH ITS WATER UTILITY ENTERPRISE 

AND ITS WASTEWATER UTILITY ENTERPRISE), TO PARTICIPATE IN A 

FUTURE ISSUANCE OF WATER AND SEWER REVENUE BONDS AND TO 

REIMBURSE ITSELF FOR CAPITAL EXPENDITURES UNDERTAKEN IN 

ADVANCE OF SUCH FINANCING IN CONNECTION WITH THE 

CONSTRUCTION OF THE PROJECTS 

WHEREAS, the City of Boulder (the “City”), in the State of Colorado (the “State”), is a 

municipal corporation of the State, duly organized and existing under and by virtue of a home 

rule city charter (the “Charter”); and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City (the “Governing Body”) is the governing body 

of the City and the City’s Water Utility Enterprise and Wastewater Utility Enterprise; and 

WHEREAS, the Governing Body has determined that it is in the best interest of the City 

to make or cause to be made certain capital expenditures relating to the construction, acquisition, 

improvement and equipping of certain treatment and transmission facilities in the City’s water 

system (collectively the “Project”); and  

WHEREAS, the Governing Body currently intends and reasonably expects to participate 

in a tax-exempt borrowing to finance such capital expenditures for the Project, including an 

amount not-to-exceed $35,000,000 for reimbursing the City for capital expenditures for the 

Project incurred or to be incurred subsequent to a period commencing 60 days prior to the date 

hereof, and ending prior to the later of 18 months of the date of such capital expenditures or the 

placing in service of the Project (but in no event more than 3 years after the date of the original 

expenditure of such moneys); and 

WHEREAS, the Governing Body hereby desires to declare its official intent, pursuant to 

26 C.F.R. § 1.150-2, to reimburse the City for such capital expenditures with the proceeds of the 

City’s future tax-exempt borrowing. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF BOULDER, COLORADO THAT: 

Section 1.  Declaration of Official Intent.  The City shall, presently intends, and 

reasonably expects to finance the Project in part with proceeds of tax exempt bonds to be issued 

by the City at a later date. 

Section 2.  Dates of Capital Expenditures.  All of the capital expenditures covered by 

this Resolution will be made on and after the date which is 60 days prior to the effective date of 

this Resolution. 

Attachment A- Res No. 1179

Agenda Item 3B     Page 3Packet Page 13



Section 3.  Issuance of Bonds, Notes or Other Obligations.  The City presently intends 

and reasonably expects to participate in a tax-exempt borrowing within 18 months of the date of 

the expenditure of moneys on the Project or the date or dates upon which the Project are placed 

in service, whichever is later (but in no event more than 3 years after the date of the original 

expenditure of such moneys), and to allocate from said borrowing an amount not to exceed 

$35,000,000 of the proceeds thereof to reimburse the City for its expenditures in connection with 

the Project. 

Section 4.  Confirmation of Prior Acts.  All prior acts and doings of the officials, agents 

and employees of the City which are in conformity with the purpose and intent of this 

Resolution, and in furtherance of the Project, shall be and the same hereby are in all respects 

ratified, approved and confirmed. 

Section 5.  Effective Date of Resolution.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately 

upon its passage. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting this 19th day of January, 2016. 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 

________________________________________  

Mayor 

[SEAL] 

Attest: 

_________________________________  

Clerk 

Attachment A- Res No. 1179

Agenda Item 3B     Page 4Packet Page 14



C I T Y   O F   B O U L D E R 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE:  January 19, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE:  Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order 
published by title only Ordinance No. 8103 approving supplemental appropriations to 
the 2016 Budget for costs incurred to implement the new short term rental program and 
tax. 

PRESENTERS: 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
Cheryl Pattelli, Director of Finance  
Peggy Bunzli, Executive Budget Officer 
Elena Lazarevska, Senior Financial Analyst 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This proposed supplemental appropriation ordinance (Attachment A) allocates funding 
for expenditures to implement the regulatory and administrative aspects of implementing 
the new Short Tern Rental (STR) program and the taxation of such transactions. The final 
agenda memo prepared for Council during discussion of placing this STR program on the 
ballot can be found at: 
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/129844/Electronic.aspx. 

On Nov. 3, 2015, voters approved a new tax on STR. This is a new program and new 
revenue source for the city. Therefore, there are new accompanying costs to implement 
the program. The normal practice of the city is that cost appropriations will not be 
brought forward to be added to the city budget until after the voters have approved a 
ballot item. This has worked well in the past, such as when the city implemented 
programs for the regulation and taxation of medical marijuana, and then recreational 
marijuana. The amount estimated for the first year of new revenue for the STR program 
included in the ballot item was $350,000. Starting up a new program with significant 

1Agenda Item 3C     Page 1Packet Page 15

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/129844/Electronic.aspx


administrative effort and software changes means there will be a learning curve for both 
those collecting and remitting the tax, and the staff involved in both the regulatory and 
administrative aspects of implementing the new program. It is expected there will be a 
large number of applications and not all processing will be completed by January 4, 2016 
(effective date of the ordinance). Therefore, staff will work with the applicants and those 
remitting the tax during the first few months to educate and help with the compliance 
issues. 

A communications plan was developed and has been implemented to apprise the 
community and owners of STR about the new requirements. A summary of the 
communications program was sent to council on December 11 in the Heads Up for that 
day. It can be found at: https://bouldercolorado.gov/city-manager/heads-up-dec-11-2015. 

As was covered in previous agenda items brought before council on this topic, it is 
expected that compliance work by city staff will be more labor intensive than any other 
tax the city currently administers. This is based on discussions with other cities that have 
implemented such a tax. In addition, it is unknown at this time if revenue projections will 
be met. Based on these reasons, it was proposed by staff and indicated by council there 
will be no sharing of the tax being collected until all costs are known and covered by the 
new revenue. If this were not done, the city could find itself in a position where revenues 
were shared and the amount left after that did not cover all of the new costs of the STR 
program. As an example, two years after implementation of recreational marijuana, we 
are still learning the full expenditure impacts of implementation. A part of this 
supplemental appropriation is proposed to come from recreational marijuana revenue. 
This is due to finally knowing the impact that recreational marijuana is having on the 
Municipal Court and City Attorney operating budgets.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION  

Suggested Motion Language: 

Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

Motion to introduce and order published by title only an ordinance approving 
supplemental appropriations to the 2016 Budget to implement the short term rental 
program and tax.  

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
• Economic: The new tax on STR will create an incremental economic impact that

will be equal to the amount of the actual tax collected. 

• Environmental: The payment and the collection of the tax will not have a direct
impact on the environment. The remittance of the tax will soon be able to be done
online so paper forms will not be required. What impacts the regulation of STR

2Agenda Item 3C     Page 2Packet Page 16

https://bouldercolorado.gov/city-manager/heads-up-dec-11-2015


will have on the environmental aspects of the city is unknown at this time. 

• Social: The payment or collection of the tax will not have a direct impact on the
social aspects of the city. What impacts the regulation of STR will have on the
social aspects of the city is unknown at this time.

OTHER IMPACTS  
• Fiscal: The proposed supplementary appropriation of $350,000 is the amount

projected to be needed to implement the regulatory and tax aspects of the program 
approved by the voters in November of 2015. No funds are currently appropriated 
in 2016 to implement this new program.   

• Staff time:  The implementation of the new STR program will create significant
new workloads for some departments in the city.  A detailed accounting of the
increase in workload is detailed in the analysis and background section of this
agenda memo.

PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
During the consideration of placing the STR tax on the ballot and during the time the 
regulations for STR were being discussed, council members received numerous e-mails 
both for and against the proposed regulations and tax. During the same time staff 
received various inquiries regarding when council meetings and study sessions would be 
held. Since voters approved the tax, staff has received questions regarding the timeline 
for implementation of the program.  

ANALYSIS AND BACKGROUND 
The implementation of the STR program was tied to the passage of the ballot item on the 
taxation of such transactions. That is, there would be a new source of revenue to pay for 
the additional costs of implementing the new program. This has been structured to 
maintain the city’s financial policy of matching ongoing revenues to ongoing 
expenditures. This financial policy has been one of the primary drivers in moving the city 
from having a large structural fiscal imbalance, highlighted in the Blue Ribbon 
Commission I report, to the position today where the city has a fully structurally balanced 
budget (meaning ongoing expenses are matched to ongoing revenues and one-time 
revenues are used only to cover one-time expenses).  If new costs are added without new 
revenues being authorized, or without a corresponding reduction in current programs and 
services, there is a mismatch between revenues and ongoing expenditures. Such 
situations are called structural deficits and jeopardize the sound financial standing of the 
city and its strong bond ratings.  

It is projected that the new tax will generate $350,000 in new revenue during the first 
year. Staff will monitor collections closely throughout the year to determine if the 
revenue and expenditure targets remain reasonable. If adjustments need to be made they 
will occur during the 2017 budget process when more relevant data is available. 

3Agenda Item 3C     Page 3Packet Page 17



One topic that arose during the discussion of implementing this new program is the 
unwillingness of the large players in this business segment to collect the tax or, if they do, 
their unwillingness to provide the location and how much each place was rented for and 
for how many nights. Without this type of information it is impossible for staff to 
determine if a location is licensed, by whom it is being rented (the owner or someone 
else), or if the tax or appropriate tax is being collected. This means it would be 
impossible to audit or find out if they are in compliance. Every other business in the city, 
including those who collect the accommodations tax must keep such records and make 
them available if requested. 

Based on the numerous e-mails received by the council and staff when the ballot item for 
this program was being developed, there will also be many questions from various people 
or organizations in the community that will want to know if a certain location is licensed 
and paying tax. The process implemented by the city was specifically designed to address 
this concern. The tax code as written makes the owner responsible for licensing and the 
collection of the tax in a format that can provide the needed information. Therefore, at 
this time the city does not have an agreement with any of the major players in this 
business segment since their methods and processes do not meet city requirements. Staff 
will continue to work with the companies to find common ground that will work for them 
and the city. Until that time, the owner continues to be responsible for conforming to the 
city’s requirements for the collection and remittance of the tax.   

The compliance issues listed in the prior paragraph are a major reason for the requests in 
the supplemental appropriation. As has been stated in previous meetings, this is a 
compliance issue not a revenue issue. That means, it is expected that gaining compliance 
will be time consuming and require extensive education, and follow up. The 
implementation of the program impacts several departments.  Attachment B contains the 
proposed supplemental requests by department. Some of the departments have reached a 
tipping point. By prioritizing and implementing operating efficiencies in the past they 
have been able to absorb additional workloads that have occurred over the past few years. 
The addition of this new program puts them at the point where they cannot add more 
workload without requesting additional staff. This is the main reason for the requests 
from the Municipal Court. For others, like Licensing and Code enforcement, the new 
program will have a heavy workload impact and it has been known since it was first 
being analyzed that additional staff would need to be added if the program was approved 
by the voters. Some of the departments only need additional dollars to pay for contract 
help, such as the City Attorney’s Office.   

While doing the analysis on the new workload it became evident that the maximum 
workload, or tipping point, for departments was reached, in part, with the implementation 
of medical and recreational marijuana regulations and taxation. Therefore, where that has 
occurred, it is proposed that half of the costs be paid from recreational marijuana 
revenues. At this time recreational marijuana sales are exceeding expenditures by nearly 
$500,000 and the corresponding revenues are adequate to cover the newly identified 
costs. The additional marijuana dollars are currently falling to the fund balance of the 

4Agenda Item 3C     Page 4Packet Page 18



general fund and would be appropriated from this fund balance if approved by council. 
The table below shows the 2016 Recreational Marijuana Budget for reference. 

2016 Recreational Marijuana Budget 

It is proposed that $65,500 be used to fund the costs as shown in Attachment B. The 
total amount of the supplemental appropriation is $415,500 with the $65,500 from 
marijuana revenue and $350,000 from the STR revenue. Of the total $348,624 is 
proposed as ongoing expenditures and $66,876 for one-time expenditures. This leaves a 
proposed contingency of $45,676. Though this is a small contingency staff feels it will be 
adequate for 2016.  

NEXT STEPS 
Second reading for this ordinance is scheduled for Feb. 2, 2016. Staff will address any 
first reading questions in the second reading packet. 

ATTACHMENTS  
A. Proposed ordinance for supplemental appropriations to the 2016 Budget  
B. Detail of proposed appropriations to implement the regulatory and tax programs 

for STR 

Dept Name Budget Item  Amount Description

Finance Audit of RMJ sales 
tax revenues

130,000$    Funds will be used to provide sales tax audit services for 
this sector. 

Finance Licensing positions 
(1.34 FTE)

113,273$    Staffing related to marijuana licensing and reviews.This 
includes salary, benefits and NPE for training, equipment and 
supplies for 1.34FTE.

Public 
Works/Development 
and Support Services

Building Code 
Compliance 
Specialist

67,857$      Staffing for RMJ code compliance. This include salary and 
benefits for 1.0 FTE

Human Services Educational program 
development and 
implementation

250,000$    Development and implementation of community-wide 
educational programs for children, youth and families, 
related to the  impacts of recreational marijuana use on 
young people in concert with community partners, including 
Boulder County Public Health, BVSD, Mental Health Partners 
and non-profits. Development and implementation of 
messaging and support of existing best practice community 
education and support programs. 

561,130$    

Citywide/General Fund Projected Revenues 1,560,000$ Revenues from supplemental sales and use tax, exise tax, 
licenses and other fees.

1,560,000$ 

998,870$    Unbudgeted Contingency: 

Total budgeted expenditures: 

2016 Budget - Expenditures

2016 Budget - Revenues

Total estimated revenues: 

5Agenda Item 3C     Page 5Packet Page 19



ORDINANCE NO.   8103

AN ORDINANCE RELATING TO THE FINANCIAL 

AFFAIRS OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO, 

MAKING SUPPLEMENTAL APPROPRIATIONS FOR 

THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2016 

SETTING FORTH DETAILS IN RELATION TO THE 

FOREGOING. 

WHEREAS, Section 102 of the Charter of the City of Boulder provides that: "At 

any time after the passage of the annual appropriation ordinance and after at least one week's 

public notice, the council may transfer unused balances appropriated for one purpose to another 

purpose, and may by ordinance appropriate available revenues not included in the annual 

budget;" and 

WHEREAS, the City Council now desires to make certain supplemental 

appropriations for purposes not provided for in the 2016 annual budget; and, 

WHEREAS, required public notice has been given; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO, that the following amounts are appropriated from 

additional projected revenues to the listed funds: 

Section 1.  General Fund 

Appropriation from Additional Revenue $350,000 

Section 2.  The City Council finds that this ordinance is necessary to protect the 

public health, safety, and welfare of the residents of the City and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 3.  If any part or parts hereof are for any reason held to be invalid, such 

shall not affect the remaining portion of this ordinance. 

Attacment A: Ordinance Supplemental Budget STR

6Agenda Item 3C     Page 6Packet Page 20



Section 4.  The Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by 

title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the Office of the City 

Clerk for public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ, ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this 19
th

 day of January, 2016.

__________________________________ 

Mayor 

Attest: 

______________________________ 

City Clerk  

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 2
nd

 day of  February, 2016.

__________________________________ 

Mayor 

Attest: 

_______________________________ 

City Clerk  

Attacment A: Ordinance Supplemental Budget STR

7Agenda Item 3C     Page 7Packet Page 21



Short Term Rental Implementation - 2016 Supplemental Budget Requests

Dept # Dept Name 2016 Expenditure Category  Ongoing  One Time  Total Budget 

Request 

 Amount from 

Short Term 

Rental 

Revenue 

 Amount from 

Recreational 

Marijuana 

Revenue 

Description

380 Public Works-

Development

Personnel 76,000$         -$            76,000$               76,000$               -$                      This is a request for a Compliance Specialist (1.0 FTE) to enforce the new short-term 

rental license requirements.  

380/385 Public Works-

Development/PH&S

Personnel 66,000$         -$            66,000$               66,000$               -$                      This is a request for an Administrative Specialist (1 FTE) to review short-term rental 

applications, perform data processing, respond to customer inquiries, follow-up on 

complaints and help support occupancy research and enforcement.

135 Municipal Court Courtroom Remodel -$                20,000$         20,000$               10,000$               10,000$               The court anticipates setting and conducting additional administrative hearings as a 

result of increased enforcement. We have only one courtroom. Our main courtroom has 

already reached maximum capacity with our existing docket. However, we do have some 

empty space in our old courtroom which we believe we could use to conduct these 

additional administrative hearings. In order to do this, we will need to remodel this 

existing space to conduct the hearings. Some items needed are better lighting, a judge's 

bench, cabling for network connectivity, a clerk's station, tables and chairs for the 

prosecution and defense, and wiring for audio recordings.

135 Municipal Court Relief judge 15,000$         -$            15,000$               7,500$                 7,500$                  The court anticipates increasing the use of relief judges to handle the increase in court 

dockets. Even if we have an additional 4 hours of relief judge time a week, then we 

anticipate this cost to be about $15K.

135 Municipal Court Court Clerk 70,000$         -$            70,000$               35,000$               35,000$               Additional hearings will require at least one additional staff person. We will need 

someone to clerk the hearings and process all of the paperwork associated with setting 

and resolving the hearings. We do not know how many additional hearings the court will 

handle. Nonetheless, one person could be assigned to handle all court-related business 

impacted by the short-term rental ordinance.
135 Municipal Court Supplies 1,000$            -$            1,000$                 500$                     500$                     Extra supplies will be needed to conduct additional hearings. Included among these 

items are various office supplies and a phone for the courtroom.

185 Finance Salary and Benefits 93,724$         -$            93,724$               93,724$               -$                      FTE to administer the short-term rental tax - Outreach, research, and tax collection

185 Finance NPE 1,900$            1,200$           3,100$                 3,100$                 -$                      Computer for FTE, associated annual technology costs, training, supplies

130 City Attorney's Office Personnel 25,000$         -$            25,000$               12,500$               12,500$               Funds for additional staffing in the Prosecution Office to handle civil hearings, including 

short-term rentals, marijuana, trash and occupancy.

CMO Contingency 45,676$         45,676$               45,676$               

Total (All in General Fund) 348,624$     66,876$       415,500$           350,000$           65,500$             

 Funding Split Request

Attachment B: Detailed Requests

8Agenda Item 3C     Page 8Packet Page 22



CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: January 19, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE:  Consideration of a motion to appoint Tim Plass as an alternate 

member of the Planning Board to consider the site review and rezoning applications for 

the Reve project, located at 2100 and 2170 30th Street, 3000 Pearl Street, and 2120 32nd 

Street. 

PRESENTERS  
Tom Carr, City Attorney 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

On January 28, 2016, the planning board will consider site review and rezoning 

applications for the Reve project.  A planning board member has announced a need to 

recuse himself because of a conflict of interest.  Pursuant to the council rules, staff has 

contacted former planning board members in the order in which they left the board.  The 

former planning board member most recently departed from the board, who is available 

and does not have a conflict of interest, is Tim Plass.  Because he is a former council 

member, he is prohibited from participating on a board on a matter on which he took 

official action for twelve months after his departure from Council.  Council may waive 

this prohibition through an official appointment.   The purpose of this agenda item is to 

seek such an appointment.    

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language: 

Staff requests Council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 

motion:  Motion to appoint Tim Plass as alternate planning board member pursuant to 

Section 2-3-11, B.R.C. 1981, to participate in review of and action on the site review and 

rezoning applications for the Reve project and matters under Title 9 related to that 

project. 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 1Packet Page 23



BACKGROUND & ANALYSIS 

At a planning board meeting on December 17, 2015, board member Leonard May 

announced that due to a conflict of interest he would be recusing himself from 

participating in reviewing the site review and rezoning applications under case numbers 

LUR2015-00042 and LUR2015-00043 for the Reve project, located at 2100 and 2170 

30th Street, 3000 Pearl Street, and 2120 32nd Street, and requests related to the Reve 

matter.  At the same meeting, the planning board unanimously voted to approve a motion 

to request appointment of an alternate board member pursuant to Subsection (f) to 

Section 2-3-11, Planning Board, B.R.C. 1981, for the Reve matter.  The board currently 

has only six members; one of the board’s seats is vacant.  Four members of the board 

constitute a quorum and must be present for a planning board meeting.  An affirmative 

vote of at least four members is necessary to authorize any action of the board.  The 

board found it necessary that more than five members be present for the hearing on the 

site review and rezoning applications.    

Section 2-3-11(f), B.R.C. 1981, allows for appointment of an alternate board member 

under the present circumstances:   

The mayor, with the consent of the city council, may appoint former 

board members as alternates to hear matters under title 9, "Land Use 

Code," B.R.C. 1981, when the mayor finds that there will be an absence 

due to an appearance of impropriety or a conflict of interest under Chapter 

2-7, "Code of Conduct," B.R.C. 1981, or due to an anticipated absence of 

a board member. An alternate board member may be appointed pursuant 

to the following standards and procedures:  

(1) The board member with the conflict of interest, a recusal because of 

an appearance of impropriety or anticipated absence shall inform the board 

at a meeting prior to the meeting when the item where such conflict or 

recusal exists is to be considered or the time of an anticipated absence;  

(2) If the board or chair finds it necessary to appoint an alternate board 

member as set forth above, the board or chair shall request that the mayor 

appoint an alternate member from among the former members of the 

board; and  

(3) The alternate board member shall only be authorized to act upon the 

matters that have been requested by the full board or chair and authorized 

by the mayor.  

The Council consented to appointment of alternate board members by the majority under 

the circumstances described in Section IX(J) of the Council Procedural Rules, requiring 

appointment of the most recently departed members of the board, in reverse alphabetical 

order, with appointments alternating between eligible and able former members who 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 2Packet Page 24



departed at the same time.   Pursuant to the Council Procedural Rules, staff has 

approached former planning board member in an attempt to find an eligible former board 

member who is able to serve. 

The following is a list of the most recently departed former planning board members: 

November 2015- Aaron Brockett 

November 2013- Mary Young, Sam Weaver 

March 2013- Bill Holicky and Danica Powell 

March 2012- Willa Williford and Andrew Shoemaker 

November 2011- Tim Plass 

March 2011- Elise Jones 

March 2010-Adrian Sopher 

November 2009- KC Becker 

March 2009- Philip Shull 

Pursuant to Charter Section 74, current members of city council are not eligible to be 

appointed to the planning board.  Danica Powell is a consultant to the Reve project and is 

therefore not eligible to be appointed as an alternate.  Both Bill Holicky and Willa 

Williford are unable to serve on January, 28, 2016, the date the Reve project is currently 

scheduled.  Tim Plass has indicated that he is able to serve on that date.    

Tim Plass was a council member until November 2015.  Subsection (e) to Section 2-7-5, 

B.R.C. 1981, limits participation of a former public official in matters reviewed by a 

board within twelve months following termination of office:   

Participation of Former Officials or Employees: No former public official 

or public employee shall appear before, or participate in, a city board, 

commission, task force or similar body on which he or she was a member 

or served directly as an employee concerning any matter or on which he or 

she took official action during his or her service with the city for twelve 

months following termination of office or employment. This prohibition 

may be waived by the city council by appointment or vote. This 

prohibition shall not apply to persons who appear before the city in their 

capacity as an elected official following termination of their office or 

employment with the city. 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 3Packet Page 25



While an argument can be made that the section does not apply to this situation, to ensure 

compliance with the Code of Conduct, staff recommends that the City Council appoint 

Tim Plass as an alternate planning board member for purposes of participating in review 

of the applications for the Reve Project.  Subsection 2-7-5(e) authorizes city council to 

waive the requirements of the section by appointment or vote.   

Agenda Item 3E     Page 4Packet Page 26



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: January 19, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE: 
Second reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only Ordinance No. 
8100 designating the building and property at 2200 Broadway St., to be known as the Trinity 
Lutheran Church, as a local historic landmark per Section 9-11-5 of the Boulder Revised 
Code, 1981 (HIS2015-00189).  

Owner/Applicant: Applicant/Owner: Reverend Mark Twietmeyer, Trinity Lutheran Church 

PRESENTERS: 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Planning, Housing & Sustainability 
Debra Kalish, Senior Assistant City Attorney  
Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager 
James Hewat, Senior Historic Preservation Planner  
Marcy Cameron, Historic Preservation Planner 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
The purpose of this item is to allow the City Council to determine whether the proposed 
individual landmark designation of a portion of the building at 2200 Broadway meets the 
purposes and standards of the Historic Preservation Ordinance (Sections 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, 
B.R.C. 1981). The property owner is in support of the designation.   

If approved, this ordinance (see Attachment A) would result in the designation of a portion of 
the property as an individual landmark.  The findings are included in the ordinance.  

A landmark designation application was submitted by the property owner on June 26, 2015, and 
was heard by the Landmarks Board on Nov. 4, 2015. The board voted 5-0 to recommend the 
designation to City Council.   First reading of the ordinance was approved by the City Council at 
its Jan. 5, 2016 meeting. No comments from the public have been received on the proposed 
designation. The second reading for this designation is a quasi-judicial public hearing.   

Agenda Item 5A     Page 1Packet Page 27



STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the 
following motion: 

Motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8100, designating the building at 2200 Broadway, to be 
known as the Trinity Lutheran Church, as an individual landmark under the City of 
Boulder’s Historic Preservation Ordinance.   

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS: 
Economic:  Owners of locally designated landmarked properties are eligible for state and local 
tax credits for approved rehabilitations and repairs, and studies have found that historic 
preservation adds to economic vitality and tourism. Exterior changes to individually landmarked 
buildings require a Landmark Alteration Certificate, issued by the Planning, Housing and 
Sustainability Department at no charge. The additional review process for landmarked buildings 
may, however, add time and design expense to a project.  

Environmental: The preservation of historic buildings is inherently sustainable. Owners of 
individually landmarked buildings are encouraged to reuse and repair as much of the original 
building as possible when making exterior alterations, thereby reducing the amount of building 
material waste deposited in landfills. City staff can assist architects, contractors and homeowners 
with design and material selections and sources that are environmentally friendly. Also, the 
Historic Preservation website provides information on improving the energy efficiency of older 
buildings. 

Social:  The Historic Preservation Ordinance was adopted to “…enhance property values, 
stabilize neighborhoods, promote tourist trade and interest, and foster knowledge of the city’s 
living heritage.”  Section 9-11-1 (a), B.R.C., 1981. The primary beneficiaries of historic 
designation are the property owners of a historic landmark and adjacent neighbors, who are 
ensured that the character of the immediate area will be protected through the design review 
process. The greater community also benefits from the preservation of the community’s 
character and history.  

OTHER IMPACTS: 
Fiscal: The designation of individual historic landmarks is an anticipated and ongoing function 
of the Historic Preservation Program.   

Staff Time: This designation application is within the staff work plan. 

LANDMARKS BOARD ACTION:  
On Nov. 4, 2015 the Landmarks Board voted 5-0 to recommend to City Council that a portion of 
the building at 2200 Broadway be designated as a local historic landmark, finding that the 
application meets the standards for individual landmark designations set out in sections 9-11-1 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 2Packet Page 28



and 9-11-2, B.R.C. 1981, and is consistent with the criteria specified in section 9-11-5(c), B.R.C. 
1981.The Landmarks Board also recommended that the City Council encourage the congregation 
to consider landmark designation of the 1966 Hobart Wagener portion of the church at a later 
date.  

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION:  
Constructed in 1929, the original church at 2200 Broadway Street is located at the northeast 
corner of Broadway and Pine Streets along the western edge of the identified Potential, Whittier 
Historic District. Additions to the church were constructed in 1966 and 1989. Only the original 
1929 portion of the church, now known as the Chapel of the Resurrection, is being recommended 
for landmark designation at this time. 

Figure 1. Location Map, 2200 Broadway. 

Figure 2. North Elevation (façade), 2200 Broadway, 2015. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 3Packet Page 29



Designed by local architect Margaret Read, the Gothic Revival church was completed in 1929.  
The gable form, structural buttresses, arched windows with decorative tracery and a bell tower 
are all features common to early twentieth century Gothic Revival church design. The floor plan 
is cruciform in plan with the entrance into the nave at the west and the apse, or main altar, facing 
east. Bisecting the nave is the transept, an aisle that crosses the nave in front of the main altar. 
All elevations of the original church feature regularly coursed native sandstone. 

The Trinity English Evangelical Lutheran congregation was established in Boulder in 1896 with 
31 charter members. In 1899, the congregation purchased the former Seventh Day Adventist 
church at the southeast corner of Broadway Street and Mapleton Avenue. Thirty years later, the 
group expanded their property by purchasing the lot across the alley at the corner of Broadway 
and Pine Streets with the intention of building a larger church to replace their current one. The 
new Gothic Revival church cost $36,000 to construct and was dedicated on December 8, 1929 
with 89 active members.2 

Figure 3. 2200 Broadway, 1930. Carnegie Branch Library for Local History. 

The design of the church was the work of local architect Margaret Read, who is considered to be 
Boulder’s first female architect.  She worked in the firm of Glen H. Huntington. Born in 1892, 
she moved to Boulder as a teenager, then attended the University of Colorado College of 
Engineering in the mid-1910s before transferring to the University of California at Berkeley 
School of Architecture. She was one of five women in her class of twenty-five students.3 Upon 
her return to Boulder in the early 1920s, Read was an instructor at the University of Colorado 
where she taught classes in engineering drawing. By 1926, Read landed a second job in Glen 
Huntington’s architectural firm.  
Read designed many houses in the University Hill neighborhood, including her own 
Mediterranean-Revival house at 740 13th St. where she lived with her father. Over the span of 
her career, Read designed many single-family as well as, sorority, and fraternity houses in the 

2 “1896-1996: Trinity Lutheran Church.” Trinity Lutheran Church, 1996. 
3 Barker, Jane Valentine. Historic Homes of Boulder County, 131. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 4Packet Page 30



University Hill neighborhood. She is credited with the design of the Boulder County Court 
House and on several buildings at the University of Colorado. Read served on the city planning 
and parks commission in the 1930s, taught drafting to women at Lowry Field during World War 
II, spent time in the 1950s designing houses and ski lodges in Aspen, and even remodeled Bob 
Hope’s Beverly Hills house late in her career.4  Read worked well into her 70s, dying at age 90 
in 1982. 

As a result of substantial growth in church membership after WWII, the Trinity Lutheran Church 
expanded its facilities by constructing a one-story addition with a basement directly north of the 
church in 1959. This building held the Sunday school classrooms. In 1966, local architect Hobart 
D. Wagener was hired to design a new sanctuary to accommodate 375 people and provide 
classroom space. Wagener’s addition is attached to the north side of the original 1929 church. 
Although contemporary in design, Wagener continued the use of the coursed sandstone to 
compliment Read’s original design. The 1929 sanctuary was retained as a small chapel for 
private devotions, funerals, and weddings, and also holds the church offices and library. In 1989, 
a second addition was constructed at the west side of the building, obscuring the 1966 Wagener 
addition and referencing the Gothic Revival design of the original church. The diagram in Figure 
4 illustrates the evolution of the building over time.  

Figure 4. Aerial of 2200 Broadway, showing 1929 church (pink), 1966 addition (yellow) and 
1989 addition (blue). 

Site Review Approval  
On May 1, 2014, Site and Use Review approval was granted to redevelop the existing surface 
parking lot to the north of the church. The project includes 24 permanently affordable senior 
housing units; open space for the Trinity Lutheran Church and other non-profit organizations; 
and partially below grade parking.   Redevelopment is proposed on the lots to the north of the 
church, and will not impact the historic character of the existing church. The design of the new 

4 “Margaret Read was first female architect in Boulder,” Daily Camera (Boulder, Colorado), March 25, 2012. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 5Packet Page 31



building references the original Gothic Revival church in a contemporary fashion through the use 
of gabled roof forms, gothic arches, and the use of stone. 

According to the Planning Board memo dated May 1, 2014, the proposal to landmark the historic 
(1929) portion of the church was offered as one of several community benefits of the proposed 
ordinance. Other community benefits include provision of permanently affordable housing for 
seniors in the downtown near transit; providing slightly larger amount of additional community 
meeting and office space for the church and other non-profit organizations; and a project that 
will allow the church congregation to remain within the downtown area as it has for over 100 
years. 

Condition 6 of the Site Review approval reads: Prior to a building permit application, the 
Applicant shall submit to the City an application for and pursue in good faith an Individual 
Landmark designation of the historic portion of the church building located at 2200 Broadway 
with a designation boundary as shown on sheet A1.00 of the approved plans dated Feb. 3, 2014. 

In their deliberations, some members of Planning Board expressed concern that only a portion of 
a building would be included in the landmark boundary. To address these concerns, the Planning 
Board agreed to make a note to the Landmarks Board that the Site Review approval would not 
define the Landmark Boundary. At the Nov. 4, 2015 meeting, this information was presented and 
the Landmarks Board voted to recommend to City Council the boundary supported by the 
applicant that encompasses only the 1929 portion of the church.  The Landmarks Board asked 
the applicant if the church would be open to expanding the landmark boundary follow the 
property lines. The applicant responded that it had taken a year for the congregation to agree to 
support of the designation of the original portion of the church and at this time, the congregation 
is not interested in expanding the landmark boundary. He added that the church does not have 
plans to alter or demolish any portion of the church. The Landmarks Board encouraged the 
congregation to consider landmark designation of the 1966 Hobart Wagener addition as it 
reaches 50 years in age, but found the current proposal to landmark the 1929 portion of the 
church to be consistent with the criteria for landmark designation. See the Boundary Analysis 
section (end of memo) for additional information.  

ANALYSIS: 
Criteria for Review  
Section 9-11-6(b), B.R.C. 1981, specifies that during the review for an application for local 
landmark designation, the council must consider “whether the designation meets the purposes 
and standards in subsection 9-11-1(a) and section 9-11-2, “City Council May Designate or 
Amend Landmarks and Historic Districts,” B.R.C. 1981, in balance with the goals and policies 
of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan” and provides that the City Council “shall approve by 
ordinance, modify and approve by ordinance, or disapprove the proposed designation.” 

Historic, Architectural, and Environmental Significance 
Staff finds that the proposed application to landmark a portion of the property at 2200 Broadway 
Street will protect, enhance, and perpetuate a property important in local history and preserve an 
important example of Boulder’s historic architecture. Staff considers the application to meet the 
historic criteria for individual landmark designation as outlined below: 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 6Packet Page 32



ANALYSIS OF LANDMARK CRITERIA: 
A. Does the proposed application protect, enhance, and perpetuate buildings in the city 

reminiscent of past eras, events, and persons important in local, state, or national history or 
providing significant examples of architectural styles of the past?   

Staff finds that the designation of a portion of the building at 2200 Broadway will protect, 
enhance, and perpetuate a building reminiscent of a past era important in local history and 
preserve an important example of Boulder’s historic architecture. Staff considers the 
application to meet the historic criteria for individual landmark designation as outlined 
below: 

HISTORIC SIGNIFICANCE: 
Summary:  The building located at 2200 Broadway Street has historic significance under criteria 1, 2, 
and 3. 

1. Date of Construction: 1929
Elaboration: The cornerstone on the building, architectural blueprints, and Daily Camera
newspaper articles date the building to 1929.

2. Association with Persons or Events: the Trinity Lutheran Congregation
Elaboration: The Trinity Lutheran Congregation was established in Boulder in 1896 with 31
charter members. In 1899, the congregation purchased the property at the southeast corner of
Broadway and Pine, then expanded its property in 1927 by purchasing the lot directly south
across the alley. Construction of a new church at this location designed by local architect
Margaret Read was completed in 1929, at which point the congregation, “became firmly
established as one of the city’s formidable congregations when it contributed to Boulder’s
skyline an authentic neo-Gothic building.”5

The Trinity Lutheran Congregation continues to use this church and offer its services to
Boulder as it has for the past 119 years.                 

3. Development of the Community: This building reflects the development of Boulder’s
religious community.

4. Recognition by Authorities: Historic Building Inventory Form
Elaboration: The 1986 Historic Building Inventory Form found the property to be in
excellent condition with minor alterations (the survey was recorded prior to the 1989
addition). The form notes that “this building is significant for its association with the history
of the development of the religious community in Boulder.”

5 Rev. Jack W. Lundin, “The City’s Churches: Trinity Lutheran.” Focus Magazine (Boulder, Colorado), July 5, 
1964. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 7Packet Page 33



ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE: 
Summary:  The building at 2200 Broadway Street has architectural significance under criteria 1, 2, 
3, and 5. 

1. Recognized Period or Style: Gothic-Revival
Elaboration:  The Gothic-Revival was popular for ecclesiastical buildings in the 
nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. The building’s use of towers, buttresses, 
recessed openings, pointed arches, and masonry construction are all characteristic of the 
Gothic-Revival.   

2. Architect or Builder of Prominence: Margaret Read
Elaboration: Margaret Read is considered to be Boulder’s first female architect. She
moved to Boulder with her parents in 1910. After attending the University of Colorado,
Read transferred to University of California at Berkeley where she received a degree in
architecture. Upon her return to Boulder in the 1920s, Read was hired as an instructor at
the University of Colorado and was also employed in Glen H. Huntington’s architectural
firm. Read’s first solo project was her 1928 house at 740 13th St., where she lived with
her father. Over the span of her career, Read designed many single-family as well as,
sorority, and fraternity houses in the University Hill neighborhood. \. She is  also credited
with the design of the Boulder County Court House and several buildings at the
University of Colorado. Read served on the city planning and parks commission in the
1930s, taught drafting to women at Lowry Field during World War II, spent time in the
1950s designing residences and ski lodges in Aspen, and even remodeled Bob Hope’s
Beverly Hills house late in her career. Read worked well into her 70s, dying at age 90 in
1982. 

3. Artistic Merit: The 1929 church is skillfully designed, with a notable integration of
design, material and craftsmanship.

4. Example of the Uncommon: None observed

5. Indigenous Qualities: The building’s use of native stone is notable.

A. Does the proposed application develop and maintain appropriate settings and environments 
for such buildings, sites, and areas to enhance property values, stabilize neighborhoods, 
promote tourist trade and interest, and foster knowledge of the City’s living heritage? 

Staff finds that the proposed designation maintains an appropriate setting for the historic 
resource at 2200 Broadway and enhances property values, promotes tourist trade and interest, 
and fosters knowledge of the City’s living heritage. Staff considers that the application meets 
the environmental significance criteria for individual landmark designation as outlined 
below: 

ENVIRONMENTAL SIGNIFICANCE: 
Summary:  The building at 2200 Broadway has environmental significance under criteria 1, 2, 4, 
and 5.  

1. Site Characteristics:

Agenda Item 5A     Page 8Packet Page 34



Elaboration: The church is prominently located on the northeast corner of Broadway and 
Pine Streets. It is located within the boundaries of the identified potential Whittier 
Historic District. Despite the construction of additions in 1966 and 1989, the church 
retains its historic character. 

2. Compatibility with Site: Downtown historic character
Elaboration:  The building is representative of the Gothic Revival style and contributes
to the character of the neighborhood. The property retains its historic relationship to its
lot and surrounding neighborhood.

3. Geographic Importance: The building is a familiar visual feature on the 2200 block of
Broadway.

4. Environmental Appropriateness:
Elaboration:  The building and its surroundings are complementary and careful
integrated.

5. Area Integrity: Potential Whittier Historic District
Elaboration:  The 2200 block of Broadway is located in the identified Potential Whittier
Historic District and retains a large degree of historic integrity to the original
development of that neighborhood.

C. Does the proposed application draw a reasonable balance between private property rights 
and the public interest in preserving the city’s cultural, historic, and architectural heritage 
by ensuring that demolition of buildings and structures important to that heritage will be 
carefully weighed with other alternatives?(See Subsection 9-11-1(b), B.R.C. 1981). 

Staff finds this application draws a reasonable balance between private property rights and 
the public’s interest in preserving the city’s cultural, historic, and architectural heritage. The 
proposal is unusual in that it proposes designation of a portion of the building, however, staff 
considers that proposal is appropriate in that the original 1929 church retains a high degree of 
architectural and historic integrity and the additions do not compromise its significance. The 
property owner supports the designation. 

Landmark Name:  
Staff considers that the landmark should be named the Trinity Lutheran Church, given its 
association with the Trinity Lutheran congregation, which has been active in Boulder since the 
late 1890s. This is consistent with the Landmark Board’s Guidelines for Names of Landmarked 
Structures and Sites (1988) and the National Register of Historic Places Guidelines for 
Designation.  

Boundary Analysis: 
Staff recommends that the boundary be established to encompass the footprint of the original 
1929 church, as proposed by the applicant and recommended by Planning Board and the 
Landmarks Board. This proposed boundary is somewhat unusual in that it proposes designation 
of a portion of the building, however, staff considers that it is appropriate in that the original 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 9Packet Page 35



1929 church retains a high degree of architectural and historic integrity and the additions do not 
compromise its significance. The application for designation of the historic portion of the church 
also fulfills the condition of approval of Planning Board’s Site and Use Review approval.  

At the Nov. 4, 2015 Landmarks Board hearing, the board asked the applicant if the church would 
be open to expanding the landmark boundary follow the property lines. The applicant responded 
that it had taken a year for the congregation to vote inThe Landmarks Board encouraged the 
congregation to consider landmark designation of the 1966 Hobart Wagener addition as it 
reaches 50 years in age, but found the current proposal to landmark the 1929 portion of the 
church to be consistent with the criteria for landmark designation.  

Figure 5. Proposed Landmark Boundary (shaded area). 

OPTIONS: 

City Council may approve, modify or not approve the ordinance.  

Approved By: 

_____________________ 
Jane S. Brautigam, 
City Manager  

ATTACHMENTS: 
A:    Ordinance No. 8100
B:  Sections 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, “Purposes and Intent,” B.R.C., 1981 
C:  Significance Criteria for Individual Landmarks 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 10Packet Page 36



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

ORDINANCE  NO. 8100 

AN ORDINANCE DESIGNATING A PORTION OF THE 
BUILDING AND THE PROPERTY AT 2200 BROADWAY, 
CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO, ALSO KNOWN AS THE 
TRINITY LUTHERAN CHURCH, A LANDMARK UNDER 
CHAPTER 9-11, “HISTORIC PRESERVATION” B.R.C. 1981, 
AND SETTING FORTH DETAILS IN RELATION THERETO. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section l. The City Council enacts this ordinance pursuant to its authority under Chapter 

9-11, “Historic Preservation,” B.R.C. 1981, to designate as a landmark a property having a

special character or special historic, architectural, or aesthetic interest or value. 

Section 2. The City Council finds that: 1) on or about June 26, 2015, property owner 

Trinity Lutheran Church applied to the City of Boulder to designate a portion of the building and 

property at said property as a landmark; 2) the Landmarks Board held a public hearing on the 

proposed designation on November 4, 2015; and 3) on November 4, 2015, the Board 

recommended that the City Council approve the proposed designation. 

Section 3. The City Council also finds that upon public notice required by law, the 

council held a public hearing on the proposed designation on January 19, 2016 and upon the 

basis of the presentations at that hearing finds that the building and the property at 2200 

Broadway possesses a special character and special historic, architectural, or aesthetic interest or 

value warranting its designation as a landmark. 

Section 4. The characteristics of the subject property that justify its designation as a landmark 

are: 1) its historic significance is relevant to its construction in 1929, for its association with the 

Trinity Lutheran Congregation, and for its association with the development of Boulder’s 

religious community; and 2) its architectural significance as an example of the Gothic Revival 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8100

Agenda Item 5A     Page 11Packet Page 37



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

style, its association with Margaret Read, considered to be Boulder’s first female architect, and 

for its artistic merit evidence through its skillful integration of design, material and 

craftsmanship, and; 3) its environmental significance for its prominent location on the northeast 

corner of Broadway and Pine St., for its contribution to the character of downtown Boulder, and 

as a familiar visual feature along Broadway.  

Section 5. The City Council further finds that the foregoing landmark designation is 

necessary to promote the public health, safety, and welfare of the residents of the city. 

Section 6. There is hereby created as a landmark the 1929 portion of the Trinity Lutheran 

Church building and property, located at 2200 Broadway, which address is also known as:  

LOT 4 LESS N 88 FT & LOT 6 & LOT 7 & W 45 FT LOT 8 BLK 149 BOULDER OT. 

The portion of the building and property to be designated as a landmark is identified on 
the proposed landmark boundary map, attached hereto as Exhibit A, as “ORIGINAL 
CHURCH BLDG TO BE LANDMARKED.”  

Section 7. The City Council directs that the department of Community Planning and 

Sustainability give prompt notice of this designation to the property owner and cause a copy of 

this ordinance to be recorded as described in Subsection 9-11-6(d), B.R.C. 1981. 

Section 8. The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the City Clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8100

Agenda Item 5A     Page 12Packet Page 38



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY TITLE 
ONLY THIS 5TH DAY OF JANUARY 2016. 

Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________ 
City Clerk  

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY THIS 19TH DAY OF JANUARY, 2016. 

Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________ 
City Clerk  

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8100

Agenda Item 5A     Page 13Packet Page 39



Exhibit A – Landmark Boundary Map for 2200 Broadway  

Landmark boundary shown in black outline and labeled “Original Church Bldg To Be 
Landmarked”.  

LOT 4 LESS N 88 FT & LOT 6 & LOT 7 & W 45 FT LOT 8 BLK 149 BOULDER OT 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8100

Agenda Item 5A     Page 14Packet Page 40



9-11-1 & 9-11-2 Purposes and Intent
Boulder Revised Code, 1981 

9-11-1: Purpose and Legislative Intent states:

(a) The purpose of this chapter is to promote the public health, safety, and welfare by protecting,
enhancing, and perpetuating buildings, sites, and areas of the city reminiscent of past eras,
events, and persons important in local, state, or national history or providing significant
examples of architectural styles of the past. It is also the purpose of this chapter to develop
and maintain appropriate settings and environments for such buildings, sites, and areas to
enhance property values, stabilize neighborhoods, promote tourist trade and interest, and
foster knowledge of the city’s living heritage.

(b) The City Council does not intend by this chapter to preserve every old building in the city but
instead to draw a reasonable balance between private property rights and the public interest in
preserving the city’s cultural, historic, and architectural heritage by ensuring that demolition
of buildings and structures important to that heritage will be carefully weighed with other
alternatives and that alterations to such buildings and structures and new construction will
respect the character of each such setting, not by imitating surrounding structures, but by
being compatible with them.

(c) The City Council intends that in reviewing applications for alterations to and new
construction on landmarks or structures in a historic district, the Landmarks Board shall
follow relevant city policies, including, without limitation, energy-efficient design, access for
the disabled and creative approaches to renovation.

9-11-2:  City Council may Designate or Amend Landmarks and Historic Districts states:

(a) Pursuant to the procedures in this chapter the City Council may by ordinance:
(1) Designate as a landmark an individual building or other feature or an

integrated group of structures or features on a single lot or site having a
special character and historical, architectural, or aesthetic interest or value
and designate a landmark site for each landmark;

(2) Designate as a historic district a contiguous area containing a number of
sites, buildings, structures or features having a special character and
historical, architectural, or aesthetic interest or value and constituting a
distinct section of the city;

(3) Designate as a discontiguous historic district a collection of sites, buildings,
structures, or features which are contained in two or more geographically
separate areas,  having a special character and historical, architectural, or
aesthetic interest or value that are united together by historical, architectural,
or aesthetic characteristics; and

(4) Amend designations to add features or property to or from the site or district.

(b) Upon designation, the property included in any such designation is subject to all the
requirements of this code and other ordinances of the city.

Attachment B - Sections 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, "Purposes and Intent," B.R.C., 1981

Agenda Item 5A     Page 15Packet Page 41



SIGNIFICANCE CRITERIA 
Individual Landmark 

September 1975 

On September 6, 1975, the City Council adopted Ordinance #4000 providing procedures 
for the designation of Landmarks and Historic Districts in the City of Boulder.   The purpose of 
the ordinance is the preservation of the City’s permitted cultural, historic, and architectural 
heritage.  The Landmarks Board is permitted by the ordinance to adopt rules and regulations as it 
deems necessary for its own organization and procedures.  The following Significance Criteria 
have been adopted by the board to help evaluate each potential designation in a consistent and 
equitable manner.   

Historic Significance 

The place (building, site, area) should show character, interest or value as part of the 
development, heritage, or cultural characteristics of the community, state or nation; be the 
site of a historic, or prehistoric event that had an effect upon society; or exemplify the 
cultural, political, economic, or social heritage of the community. 

Date of Construction: This area of consideration places particular importance on the age 
of the structure. 

Association with Historical Persons or Events: This association could be national, state, 
or local. 

Distinction in the Development of the Community of Boulder: This is most applicable to 
an institution (religious, educational, civic, etc) or business structure, though in some 
cases residences might qualify.  It stresses the importance of preserving those places 
which demonstrate the growth during different time spans in the history of Boulder, in 
order to maintain an awareness of our cultural, economic, social or political heritage. 

Recognition by Authorities: If it is recognized by Historic Boulder, Inc. the Boulder 
Historical Society, local historians (Barker, Crossen, Frink, Gladden, Paddock, 
Schooland, etc), State Historical Society, The Improvement of Boulder, Colorado by F.L. 
Olmsted, or others in published form as having historic interest and value.  

Other, if applicable. 

Architectural Significance 

The place should embody those distinguishing characteristics of an architectural type 
specimen, a good example of the common; be the work of an architect or master builder, 
known nationally, state-wide, or locally, and perhaps whose work has influenced later 
development; contain elements of architectural design, detail, materials or craftsmanship 
which represent a significant innovation; or be a fine example of the uncommon. 

Attachment C - Significance Criteria for Individual Landmarks

Agenda Item 5A     Page 16Packet Page 42



Recognized Period/Style: It should exemplify specific elements of an architectural 
period/style, i.e.: Victorian, Revival styles, such as described by Historic American 
Building Survey Criteria, Gingerbread Age (Maass), 76 Boulder Homes (Barkar), The 
History of Architectural Style (Marcus/Wiffin), Architecture in San Francisco (Gebhard 
et al), History of Architecture (Fletcher), Architecture/Colorado, and any other published 
source of universal or local analysis of a style. 

Architect or Builder of Prominence: A good example of the work of an architect or 
builder who is recognized for expertise in his field nationally, state-wide, or locally. 

Artistic Merit: A skillful integration of design, material, and color which is of excellent 
visual quality and/or demonstrates superior craftsmanship. 

Example of the Uncommon: Elements of architectural design, details, or craftsmanship 
that are representative of a significant innovation. 

Indigenous Qualities: A style or material that is particularly associated with the Boulder 
area. 

Other, if applicable. 

Environmental Significance 

The place should enhance the variety, interest, and sense of identity of the community by 
the protection of the unique natural and man-made environment. 

Site Characteristics: It should be of high quality in terms of planned or natural vegetation. 

Compatibility with Site: Consideration will be given to scale, massing placement, or 
other qualities of design with respect to its site. 

Geographic Importance: Due to its unique location or singular physical characteristics, it 
represents an established and familiar visual feature of the community. 

Environmental Appropriateness: The surroundings are complementary and/or it is 
situated in a manner particularly suited to its function. 

Area Integrity: Places which provide historical, architectural, or environmental 
importance and continuity of an existing condition, although taken singularly or out of 
context might not qualify under other criteria. 

Attachment C - Significance Criteria for Individual Landmarks

Agenda Item 5A     Page 17Packet Page 43



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: January 19, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE: 
Second reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only Ordinance No. 
8102 designating the building and property at 1900 King Ave., to be known as the Sampson-
Wood House, as a local historic landmark per Section 9-11-5 of the Boulder Revised Code, 
1981 (HIS2015-00173).  

Owner/Applicant: Applicant/Owner: Dr. William Wood 

PRESENTERS: 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Planning, Housing & Sustainability 
Debra Kalish, Senior Assistant City Attorney  
Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager 
James Hewat, Senior Historic Preservation Planner  
Marcy Cameron, Historic Preservation Planner 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
The purpose of this item is to allow the City Council to determine whether the proposed 
individual landmark designation of the building at 1900 King Ave. meets the purposes and 
standards of the Historic Preservation Ordinance (Sections 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, B.R.C. 1981). The 
property owner is in support of the designation.   

If approved, this ordinance (see Attachment A) would result in the designation of the building 
and property as an individual landmark.  The findings are included in the ordinance.  This 
landmark designation application was submitted by the property owner on June 20, 2015, and 
was heard by the Landmarks Board on Nov. 4, 2015. The board voted 5-0 to recommend the 
designation to City Council. The City Council approved the first reading ordinance at its Jan. 5, 
2016 meeting. No comments from the public have been received on the proposed designation. 
The second reading for this designation is a quasi-judicial public hearing.   

Agenda Item 5B     Page 1Packet Page 44



STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the 
following motion: 

Motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8102, designating the building at 1900 King Ave., to be 
known as the Sampson-Wood House, as an individual landmark under the City of 
Boulder’s Historic Preservation Ordinance.   

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS: 
Economic:  Owners of locally designated landmarked properties are eligible for state and local 
tax credits for approved rehabilitations and repairs, and studies have found that historic 
preservation adds to economic vitality and tourism. Exterior changes to individually landmarked 
buildings require a Landmark Alteration Certificate, issued by the Planning, Housing and 
Sustainability Department at no charge. The additional review process for landmarked buildings 
may, however, add time and design expense to a project.  

Environmental: The preservation of historic buildings is inherently sustainable. Owners of 
individually landmarked buildings are encouraged to reuse and repair as much of the original 
building as possible when making exterior alterations, thereby reducing the amount of building 
material waste deposited in landfills. City staff can assist architects, contractors and homeowners 
with design and material selections and sources that are environmentally friendly. Also, the 
Historic Preservation website provides information on improving the energy efficiency of older 
buildings. 

Social:  The Historic Preservation Ordinance was adopted to “…enhance property values, 
stabilize neighborhoods, promote tourist trade and interest, and foster knowledge of the city’s 
living heritage.”  Section 9-11-1 (a), B.R.C., 1981. The primary beneficiaries of historic 
designation are the property owners of a historic landmark and adjacent neighbors, who are 
ensured that the character of the immediate area will be protected through the design review 
process. The greater community also benefits from the preservation of the community’s 
character and history.  

OTHER IMPACTS: 
Fiscal: The designation of individual historic landmarks is an anticipated and ongoing function 
of the Historic Preservation Program.   

Staff Time: This designation application is within the staff work plan. 

LANDMARKS BOARD ACTION:  
On Nov., 4, 2015 the Landmarks Board voted 5-0 to recommend to City Council that the 
property at 1900 King Ave. be designated as a local historic landmark, finding that it meets the 
standards for individual landmark designations in sections 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, B.R.C. 1981, and 
is consistent with the criteria specified in section 9-11-5(c), B.R.C. 1981. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 2Packet Page 45



PROPERTY DESCRIPTION:  
The property at 1900 King Ave., constructed in 1958, is located at the southwest corner of King 
Avenue and Camden Court. The property is not located in a designated or potential historic 
district but was found to be potentially eligible for local designation and listing on the State 
Register of Historic Places when it was surveyed as part of the Modern Architectural Structures 
in Boulder 1947-1977 Survey in 2000. The property was recognized as a Structure of Merit by 
the Landmarks Board in 2014.  

Figure 1. Location Map, 1900 King Ave. 

Figure 2. North Elevation (façade), 1900 King Ave., 2015. 

Designed by architect Tician Papachristou, the house was commissioned by Edward Sampson Jr. 
and his wife June and completed in 1958.  Stylistically, the house embodies characteristics of 
Usonian architecture, evidenced through its horizontal orientation and cubist conception of the 
building’s volumes. Traditional materials are used inside and out, creating an organic integration 
of the building into the topography of the lot. The straight-stacked concrete block walls reflect 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 3Packet Page 46



the structural composition of the building and extend along the north and east elevations, with 
mortar joints raked both vertically and horizontally. The tilted wall and roof planes intersect at 
the north entrance, creating a dynamic composition of form. Steel elements of the roof are 
painted bright yellow further accentuating the building’s structural system.   

In 1961, the house was featured in an article in the Rocky Mountain News, and which noted in 
response to constraints including budget, size of the land, “and the desire by Mrs. Sampson for a 
house easy to maintain,” Papachristou designed an imaginative and contemporary house to 
express the casual and informal Sampson family.2  

Tician Papachristou was born in Athens, Greece, in 1928.3 He earned both an undergraduate 
degree and a Master of Fine Arts degree at Princeton University. He first worked for a time in 
New York, moving to Boulder with his wife Judith in 1954 to work in the architectural office of 
James Hunter. In 1956, he opened his own office and a year later was joined by Charles 
Haertling. The two shared an office until 1960. Papachristou taught at the University of Colorado 
from 1958 until 1962. In a 2013 interview, Papachristou noted that "All of my clients in Boulder 
were so wonderful. Boulder was a place that was ready to accept new ideas and fresh things."4 

In 1977, Dr. William Wood, the current owner, purchased the property from the Sampsons where 
he and his wife, Renate, raised their sons Oliver and Chris. Dr. Wood received his Ph.D. in 
biology from Stanford University. Beginning in 1977, he taught as a professor at the University 
of Colorado, where he continues to teach. Renate, a well-known independent poet within 
Colorado, published two collections, The Patience of Ice and the Raised Underground. She 
passed away in 2007. The Woods have been careful stewards of the property for over 40 years.  

Figure 3. 1900 King Ave., c.1958. Carnegie Branch Library for Local History. 

In the 1990s, a rear addition designed by local architect Kristin Lewis was constructed. It 
continues the modern language of the house and increases the natural light into the house while 
strengthening the connection between the interior and exterior spaces. It was recognized by 

2 Barrett, Marjorie, “This House Grows on You,” Rocky Mountain News (Denver, CO), Oct. 14, 1961. 
3 Taylor, Carol, “Architect left his mark on Boulder,” Daily Camera (Boulder, CO), Oct. 19, 2012. 
http://www.dailycamera.com/ci_21809826/architect-left-his-mark-boulder  
4 Ibid. 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 4Packet Page 47

http://www.dailycamera.com/ci_21809826/architect-left-his-mark-boulder


Historic Boulder, Inc. in 1997 and was featured in a panel discussion on compatible additions as 
part of the 2015 Landmarks Board Lecture Series.  

ANALYSIS: 
Criteria for Review  
Section 9-11-6(b), B.R.C. 1981, specifies that during the review for an application for local 
landmark designation, the council must consider “whether the designation meets the purposes 
and standards in subsection 9-11-1(a) and section 9-11-2, “City Council May Designate or 
Amend Landmarks and Historic Districts,” B.R.C. 1981, in balance with the goals and policies 
of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan” and provides that the City Council “shall approve by 
ordinance, modify and approve by ordinance, or disapprove the proposed designation.” 

Historic, Architectural, and Environmental Significance 
Staff finds that the proposed application to landmark the property at 1900 King Ave. will protect, 
enhance, and perpetuate a property important in local history and preserve an important example 
of Boulder’s historic architecture. Staff considers the application to meet the historic criteria for 
individual landmark designation as outlined below: 

ANALYSIS OF LANDMARK CRITERIA: 
A. Does the proposed application protect, enhance, and perpetuate buildings in the city 

reminiscent of past eras, events, and persons important in local, state, or national history or 
providing significant examples of architectural styles of the past?   

Staff finds that the designation of the house at 1900 King Ave. will protect, enhance, and 
perpetuate a building reminiscent of a past era important in local history and preserve an 
important example of Boulder’s historic architecture. Staff considers the application to meet 
the historic criteria for individual landmark designation as outlined below: 

HISTORIC SIGNIFICANCE: 
Summary:  The house located at 1900 King Ave. has historic significance under criteria 1, 2, 3 and 4. 

1. Date of Construction: 1958
Elaboration: Rocky Mountain News Article, Architectural Inventory Form, 2000.

2. Association with Persons or Events: Edward & June Sampson, William & Renate Wood,
Oliver and Chris Wood of the Wood Brothers.
Elaboration: The house was constructed for Edward and June Sampson in 1958. Edward
was a professor of civil engineering at the University of Colorado for nearly 30 years, retiring
as a professor emeritus in the 1980s.

William and Renate Wood purchased the house in 1977. William received his Ph.D. in
biology from Stanford University. Beginning in 1977, he taught as a professor at the
University of Colorado, where he continues to teach. Renate is a well-known independent
poet within Colorado with two published collections, The Patience of Ice and the Raised
Underground. Renate died in 2007.

Agenda Item 5B     Page 5Packet Page 48



3. Development of the Community: Modernist Architectural Movement
Elaboration: The building is associated with the development of the local Modernist
architectural movement and survives as an excellent example of Usonian design from the
post-WWII period in Boulder.

4. Recognition by Authorities: Modern Architecture Survey
Elaboration: In the 2000 survey of Boulder Modernism the house at 1900 King Ave. was
recommended as being eligible for listing in the Local and State levels. It is significant as an
example of Tician Papachristou, an acknowledged master of Boulder architecture and as an
example of Usonian design, utilizing horizontal forms, cubist conception of building
volumes, clerestory windows, the use of same materials inside and out, structural forms,
overhanging eaves, and the use of the cantilever.

ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE: 
Summary:  The house at 1900 King Ave. has architectural significance under criteria 1, 2, 3, and 4. 

1. Recognized Period or Style: Usonian
Elaboration:  The house embodies characteristics of the Usonian style through its
horizontal orientation, and cubist conception of the building’s volumes. Traditional
materials are used inside and out, creating a highly organic integration of the building
into the topography of the lot. Frank Lloyd Wright is credited with developing the
Usonian ideology to refer to his natural vision for the American landscape including the
planning of cities and construction of affordable buildings for the middle class. Wright
proposed the use of the adjective Usonian in place of American to describe the particular
“new world” character of the American landscape as distinct and free of previous
architectural conventions.  The Usonian variant of modern architecture became the
alternative to the “International Style” in the United States during the 1950s. The Usonian
found relatively widespread acceptance in Boulder where at least 25 examples of this
type were built including 1836 Baseline Road (Hampton, 1951), 896 17th St. (Hampton,
1951), the Greenshield Insurance Building (Wagener, 1959) and the Willard House at
125 Bellevue Avenue (Haertling, 1962). The house at 1900 King Ave. retains a very high
degree of historic integrity.

2. Architect or Builder of Prominence: Tician Papachristou
Elaboration: Tician Papachristou is an acknowledged master of Boulder Modernist
architectural design.  Papachristou was born in Athens, Greece, in 1928.5 He earned both
an undergraduate degree and a Master of Fine Arts degree at Princeton University. He
first worked for a time in New York, moving to Boulder with his wife Judith in 1954 to
work in the architectural office of James Hunter. In 1956, he opened his own office and a
year later was joined by Charles Haertling. The two shared an office until 1960.
Papachristou taught at the University of Colorado from 1958 until 1962. He currently
resides in New York.

3. Artistic Merit: Sculptural roof, high standard of construction and craftsmanship.

5 Taylor, Carol, “Architect left his mark on Boulder,” Daily Camera (Boulder, CO), Oct. 19, 2012. 
http://www.dailycamera.com/ci_21809826/architect-left-his-mark-boulder  

Agenda Item 5B     Page 6Packet Page 49

http://www.dailycamera.com/ci_21809826/architect-left-his-mark-boulder


Elaboration: Unique and remarkable example of Usonian design exemplified by strong 
sculptural forms paired with non-traditional structural elements. The building is 
horizontal structure comprised of a pair of cantilevered roof planes that intersect above 
the main entrance to the house. The building is notable for its unique roof form and its 
use of traditional materials found on both the interior and exterior of the house. The 
building exhibits a high level of attention to detail of intersecting roof forms, concrete 
brickwork, and windows, exterior wall, and associated landscaping. 

4. Example of the Uncommon: Usonian
Elaboration: Unique and remarkable example of Tician Papachristou’s architectural
design in Boulder. The Usonian is a post-war variant of Modernism in the United States,
which found fairly wide acceptance in Boulder where a number of buildings of this type
were built. The 2000 survey of Modern Architecture identifies this building as “one of
the finest Modernist houses built in the 1950s” and notes that it its “significant in that
embodies the characteristics of the Usonian style.”

5. Indigenous Qualities: None observed

A. Does the proposed application develop and maintain appropriate settings and environments 
for such buildings, sites, and areas to enhance property values, stabilize neighborhoods, 
promote tourist trade and interest, and foster knowledge of the City’s living heritage? 

Staff finds that the proposed application would maintain appropriate settings and environments 
for such buildings, sites, and areas to enhance property values, stabilize neighborhoods, promote 
tourist trade and interest, and foster knowledge of the City’s living heritage.  Staff believes that 
the application meets the environmental significance criteria for individual landmarks as outlined 
below: 

ENVIRONMENTAL SIGNIFICANCE: 
Summary:  The building at 1900 King Ave. has environmental significance under criteria 1, 2, and 
3.  

1. Site Characteristics: High quality of planned and natural vegetation
Elaboration: The house is carefully integrated into its site. The 2000 Modernism survey
noted that “the landscaping featuring white gravel and specimen trees and bushes is every
bit as unconventional as is the house itself.

2. Compatibility with Site: Integration into site
Elaboration:  House is consciously sited on the southwest corner of King Ave. and
Camden Pl. and is carefully integrated into its site.

3. Geographic Importance: Familiar visual feature
Elaboration:  The unique placement, orientation, and form of the house makes it an
established and familiar feature of the King Avenue streetscape, the Bellevue Heights
neighborhood, and the city as a whole.

Agenda Item 5B     Page 7Packet Page 50



4. Environmental Appropriateness: None observed.

5. Area Integrity: Residential character
Elaboration: The property is not in an identified potential historic district. The Bellevue
Heights neighborhood retains its residential character and has an eclectic variety of
building styles and eras.

C. Does the proposed application draw a reasonable balance between private property rights 
and the public interest in preserving the city’s cultural, historic, and architectural heritage 
by ensuring that demolition of buildings and structures important to that heritage will be 
carefully weighed with other alternatives?(See Subsection 9-11-1(b), B.R.C. 1981). 

Staff finds this application draws a reasonable balance between private property rights and 
the public’s interest in preserving the city’s cultural, historic, and architectural heritage. The 
property owner supports the designation. 

Landmark Name:  
Staff considers that the landmark should be named the Sampson-Wood House, given its 
association with Edward and June Sampson, who commissioned Tician Papachristou to design 
the house in 1958 and for Dr. William and Renate Wood, who cared for the house for nearly 40 
years. This is consistent with the Landmark Board’s Guidelines for Names of Landmarked 
Structures and Sites (1988) and the National Register of Historic Places Guidelines for 
Designation. 

Boundary Analysis: 
The building sits on a residential lot measuring approximately 15,000 sq. ft. in size. Staff 
recommends that the boundary be established as proposed to follow the property lines of the lot, 
which is consistent with current and past practices and the National Register Guidelines for 
establishing landmark boundaries.  

Figure 4. Proposed Landmark Boundary (dashed line). 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 8Packet Page 51



OPTIONS: 

City Council may approve, modify or not approve the ordinance.  

Approved By: 

_____________________ 
Jane S. Brautigam, 
City Manager  

ATTACHMENTS: 
A:    Ordinance No. 8102  
B:  Sections 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, “Purposes and Intent,” B.R.C., 1981 
C:  Significance Criteria for Individual Landmarks 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 9Packet Page 52



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

ORDINANCE  NO. 8102 

AN ORDINANCE DESIGNATING THE BUILDING AND THE 
PROPERTY AT 1900 KING AVE., CITY OF BOULDER, 
COLORADO, ALSO KNOWN AS THE SAMPSON-WOOD 
HOUSE, A LANDMARK UNDER CHAPTER 9-11, “HISTORIC 
PRESERVATION” B.R.C. 1981, AND SETTING FORTH 
DETAILS IN RELATION THERETO. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section l. The City Council enacts this ordinance pursuant to its authority under Chapter 

9-11, “Historic Preservation,” B.R.C. 1981, to designate as a landmark a property having a

special character or special historic, architectural, or aesthetic interest or value. 

Section 2. The City Council finds that: 1) on or about June 20, 2015, property owner 

William Wood applied to the City of Boulder to designate the building and property at said 

property as a landmark; 2) the Landmarks Board held a public hearing on the proposed 

designation on November 4, 2015; and 3) on November 4, 2015, the Board recommended that 

the City Council approve the proposed designation. 

Section 3. The City Council also finds that upon public notice required by law, the 

council held a public hearing on the proposed designation on January 19, 2016 and upon the 

basis of the presentations at that hearing finds that the building and the property at 1900 King 

Ave. possesses a special character and special historic, architectural, or aesthetic interest or value 

warranting its designation as a landmark. 

Section 4. The characteristics of the subject property that justify its designation as a landmark 

are: 1) its historic significance is relevant to its construction in 1958, for its association with 

Edward and June Sampson, and for its association with the local Modernist architectural 

movement; and 2) its architectural significance as an example of the Usonian style designed by 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8102

Agenda Item 5B     Page 10Packet Page 53



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Tician Papachristou, and for its artistic merit evident in its sculptural roof, high standard of 

construction and craftsmanship and; 3) its environmental significance for its high quality of 

planned and natural vegetation, its integration into its corner site, and as a familiar visual feature 

on the King Avenue streetscape. 

Section 5. The City Council further finds that the foregoing landmark designation is 

necessary to promote the public health, safety, and welfare of the residents of the city. 

Section 6. There is hereby created as a landmark the building and property located at 

1900 King Ave., also known as the Sampson-Wood House, whose legal landmark boundary 

encompasses a portion of the legal lots upon which it sits:  

LOT 6 & NLY PT LOT 5 BLK 4 GREENBRIAR  

as depicted in the proposed landmark boundary map, attached hereto as Exhibit A.  

Section 7. The City Council directs that the department of Community Planning and 

Sustainability give prompt notice of this designation to the property owner and cause a copy of 

this ordinance to be recorded as described in Subsection 9-11-6(d), B.R.C. 1981. 

Section 8. The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the City Clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8102

Agenda Item 5B     Page 11Packet Page 54



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY TITLE 

ONLY THIS 5TH DAY OF JANUARY, 2016. 

Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________ 
City Clerk  

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY THIS 19TH DAY OF JANUARY, 2016. 

Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________ 
City Clerk  

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8102

Agenda Item 5B     Page 12Packet Page 55



Exhibit A – Landmark Boundary Map for 1900 King Ave. 

          LOT 6 & NLY PT LOT 5 BLK 4 GREENBRIAR 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8102

Agenda Item 5B     Page 13Packet Page 56



9-11-1 & 9-11-2 Purposes and Intent
Boulder Revised Code, 1981 

9-11-1: Purpose and Legislative Intent states:

(a) The purpose of this chapter is to promote the public health, safety, and welfare by protecting,
enhancing, and perpetuating buildings, sites, and areas of the city reminiscent of past eras,
events, and persons important in local, state, or national history or providing significant
examples of architectural styles of the past. It is also the purpose of this chapter to develop
and maintain appropriate settings and environments for such buildings, sites, and areas to
enhance property values, stabilize neighborhoods, promote tourist trade and interest, and
foster knowledge of the city’s living heritage.

(b) The City Council does not intend by this chapter to preserve every old building in the city but
instead to draw a reasonable balance between private property rights and the public interest in
preserving the city’s cultural, historic, and architectural heritage by ensuring that demolition
of buildings and structures important to that heritage will be carefully weighed with other
alternatives and that alterations to such buildings and structures and new construction will
respect the character of each such setting, not by imitating surrounding structures, but by
being compatible with them.

(c) The City Council intends that in reviewing applications for alterations to and new
construction on landmarks or structures in a historic district, the Landmarks Board shall
follow relevant city policies, including, without limitation, energy-efficient design, access for
the disabled and creative approaches to renovation.

9-11-2:  City Council may Designate or Amend Landmarks and Historic Districts states:

(a) Pursuant to the procedures in this chapter the City Council may by ordinance:
(1) Designate as a landmark an individual building or other feature or an

integrated group of structures or features on a single lot or site having a
special character and historical, architectural, or aesthetic interest or value
and designate a landmark site for each landmark;

(2) Designate as a historic district a contiguous area containing a number of
sites, buildings, structures or features having a special character and
historical, architectural, or aesthetic interest or value and constituting a
distinct section of the city;

(3) Designate as a discontiguous historic district a collection of sites, buildings,
structures, or features which are contained in two or more geographically
separate areas,  having a special character and historical, architectural, or
aesthetic interest or value that are united together by historical, architectural,
or aesthetic characteristics; and

(4) Amend designations to add features or property to or from the site or district.

(b) Upon designation, the property included in any such designation is subject to all the
requirements of this code and other ordinances of the city.

Attachment B - Sections 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, "Purposes and Intent," B.R.C., 1981

Agenda Item 5B     Page 14Packet Page 57



SIGNIFICANCE CRITERIA 
Individual Landmark 

September 1975 

On September 6, 1975, the City Council adopted Ordinance #4000 providing procedures 
for the designation of Landmarks and Historic Districts in the City of Boulder.   The purpose of 
the ordinance is the preservation of the City’s permitted cultural, historic, and architectural 
heritage.  The Landmarks Board is permitted by the ordinance to adopt rules and regulations as it 
deems necessary for its own organization and procedures.  The following Significance Criteria 
have been adopted by the board to help evaluate each potential designation in a consistent and 
equitable manner.   

Historic Significance 

The place (building, site, area) should show character, interest or value as part of the 
development, heritage, or cultural characteristics of the community, state or nation; be the 
site of a historic, or prehistoric event that had an effect upon society; or exemplify the 
cultural, political, economic, or social heritage of the community. 

Date of Construction: This area of consideration places particular importance on the age 
of the structure. 

Association with Historical Persons or Events: This association could be national, state, 
or local. 

Distinction in the Development of the Community of Boulder: This is most applicable to 
an institution (religious, educational, civic, etc) or business structure, though in some 
cases residences might qualify.  It stresses the importance of preserving those places 
which demonstrate the growth during different time spans in the history of Boulder, in 
order to maintain an awareness of our cultural, economic, social or political heritage. 

Recognition by Authorities: If it is recognized by Historic Boulder, Inc. the Boulder 
Historical Society, local historians (Barker, Crossen, Frink, Gladden, Paddock, 
Schooland, etc), State Historical Society, The Improvement of Boulder, Colorado by F.L. 
Olmsted, or others in published form as having historic interest and value.  

Other, if applicable. 

Architectural Significance 

The place should embody those distinguishing characteristics of an architectural type 
specimen, a good example of the common; be the work of an architect or master builder, 
known nationally, state-wide, or locally, and perhaps whose work has influenced later 
development; contain elements of architectural design, detail, materials or craftsmanship 
which represent a significant innovation; or be a fine example of the uncommon. 

Attachment C - Significance Criteria for Individual Landmarks

Agenda Item 5B     Page 15Packet Page 58



Recognized Period/Style: It should exemplify specific elements of an architectural 
period/style, i.e.: Victorian, Revival styles, such as described by Historic American 
Building Survey Criteria, Gingerbread Age (Maass), 76 Boulder Homes (Barkar), The 
History of Architectural Style (Marcus/Wiffin), Architecture in San Francisco (Gebhard 
et al), History of Architecture (Fletcher), Architecture/Colorado, and any other published 
source of universal or local analysis of a style. 

Architect or Builder of Prominence: A good example of the work of an architect or 
builder who is recognized for expertise in his field nationally, state-wide, or locally. 

Artistic Merit: A skillful integration of design, material, and color which is of excellent 
visual quality and/or demonstrates superior craftsmanship. 

Example of the Uncommon: Elements of architectural design, details, or craftsmanship 
that are representative of a significant innovation. 

Indigenous Qualities: A style or material that is particularly associated with the Boulder 
area. 

Other, if applicable. 

Environmental Significance 

The place should enhance the variety, interest, and sense of identity of the community by 
the protection of the unique natural and man-made environment. 

Site Characteristics: It should be of high quality in terms of planned or natural vegetation. 

Compatibility with Site: Consideration will be given to scale, massing placement, or 
other qualities of design with respect to its site. 

Geographic Importance: Due to its unique location or singular physical characteristics, it 
represents an established and familiar visual feature of the community. 

Environmental Appropriateness: The surroundings are complementary and/or it is 
situated in a manner particularly suited to its function. 

Area Integrity: Places which provide historical, architectural, or environmental 
importance and continuity of an existing condition, although taken singularly or out of 
context might not qualify under other criteria. 

Attachment C - Significance Criteria for Individual Landmarks

Agenda Item 5B     Page 16Packet Page 59



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: Jan. 19, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE 
An Update on the Transportation Master Plan Implementation – Complete Streets and 
Living Lab Phase I Projects  

PRESENTERS:   
Jane Brautigam, City Manager 
Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works 
Michael Gardner-Sweeney, Interim Director of Public Works for Transportation 
Bill Cowern, Transportation Operations Engineer 
Kathleen Bracke, GO Boulder Manager 
Marni Ratzel, Senior Transportation Planner 
David Kemp, Senior Transportation Planner 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The purpose of this item is to update City Council about Phase I of the Complete Streets 
Living Lab program and to receive council feedback. The memo includes background 
information about Phase I; a technical evaluation; feedback collected from the 
community and the Transportation Advisory Board (TAB); the current status for each of 
the initial set of Phase I projects, including proposed next steps for 2016; and suggested 
refinements to several of the Phase I pilot projects. The proposed next steps are informed 
by ongoing evaluation of each pilot project, including input from the community and 
TAB.  

As part of the Transportation Master Plan (TMP) update, the Living Lab program began 
in 2013 to test and seek community feedback regarding innovative street design 
treatments to improve safety and access for all roadway users. Living Lab projects 
support a vision to create a more complete transportation system that provides a variety 
of travel options for everyone, is well connected with regional transit options and is 
environmentally sustainable. The initial set of Phase I projects include: buffered bike 
lanes on Spruce Street, back-in angle parking on University Avenue, and protected bike 
lanes on University Avenue and on Baseline Road.  

Agenda Item 6A     Page 1Packet Page 60



Summary of Staff Recommendation: 

Staff recommendations for each of the initial Phase I projects are highlighted below, and 
each recommendation is informed by ongoing evaluation and feedback from the 
community and TAB. More detailed information; including primary evaluation criteria, 
key findings and a more thorough recommendation for each of the following initial Phase 
I projects can be found in the Analysis section of this memo. 

Buffered bike lanes: 
• Spruce Street (15th to Folsom streets): Maintain as-is. Designate this bike

facility as part of the city’s transportation network.
Protected bike lanes: 

• Baseline Road (30th to 37th streets): Remove concrete parking blocks along
existing pilot project segment. Extend this modified treatment east to Mohawk
Drive. Continue pilot project evaluation to monitor modified treatment
through 2016.

• University Avenue (9th Street to Broadway): Convert parking protected
bike lanes back to buffered bike lane configuration. Formally establish this
facility as part of the city’s transportation network.

Back-in angle parking: 
• University Avenue (Broadway to 17th Street): Maintain as-is and continue

to monitor.

Pending feedback from council, staff is prepared to move forward with proposed changes 
to the projects and will provide another update to council in the second quarter of 2016. 

BACKGROUND  
The vision of the city’s Transportation Master Plan (TMP) is to create and maintain a 
safe and efficient multimodal transportation system that meets the sustainability goals of 
the community. A focus area of the TMP is to provide “Complete Streets,” that offer safe 
and comfortable access for all users, including pedestrians, bicyclists, motorists and 
transit riders of all ages and abilities. This approach emphasizes the value of a balanced 
and complete multimodal transportation system to enhance safety and increase access, 
while shifting trips away from single-occupant vehicles. The TMP Complete Streets 
vision includes developing streets that encourage walk and bike trips for women, older 
adults and families. 

The Living Lab program is a Complete Streets action item that installs pilot projects to 
test new street designs and community engagement processes. The projects are 
experimental and allow city staff to gather technical, observational and community 
feedback as part of an ongoing evaluation process that assesses whether a pilot project 
treatment achieves the intended benefits of complete streets and is a good fit for Boulder. 
It is envisioned that the results will inform the development of a network of low-stress 
bicycle routes, enhance transit access and create a more pedestrian-friendly community.  

Agenda Item 6A     Page 2Packet Page 61



The following Phase I projects include: 

1. Buffered bike lanes:
o Spruce Street (15th Street to Folsom Street)
o University Avenue (9th Street to Broadway)

o In October 2014, the University Avenue buffered bike lanes were
removed and replaced with parking protected bike lanes.

2. Protected bike lanes:
o Baseline Road (30th to 37th streets)
o University Avenue (9th Street to Broadway)

3. Back-in angle parking adjacent to a bike lane:
o University Avenue (Broadway to 17th Street)

4. Dashed (advisory) bike lanes:
o Harvard Lane (Dartmouth Avenue to the Broadway path at Table Mesa Drive)

5. Bike Box:
o Folsom Street at Arapahoe Avenue

6. Multiway Boulevard:
o Pearl Parkway (30th to the BNSF Railroad tracks)

7. Shared Street:
o Junction Place (Pearl Parkway to Goose Creek greenway path)

Please see Attachment A for Phase I project map and description of facilities. 

This update is focused on next steps for initial set of Phase I projects, including buffered 
bike lanes, protected bike lanes, and back-in angle parking. The additional projects, 
including, dashed bike lanes, bike box, a multiway boulevard, and shared street have 
recently been installed and the evaluation process for these projects will run through mid-
2016.  

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
Economic 
The Living Lab pilot projects are a cost-effective strategy to test transportation designs 
and roadway treatments to evaluate safety, increase comfort and decrease collisions on 
city streets.  

Environmental 
The Living Lab pilot projects are intended to help achieve the city’s TMP objectives of 
reducing single-occupancy vehicle (SOV) travel, managing traffic congestion, and 
reducing air pollution emissions, including greenhouse gases (GHGs). Biking and 
walking are zero-emission transportation options that reduce GHG pollution, and transit 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 3Packet Page 62



and transportation demand management (TDM) programs are key to reducing the number 
of trips made by SOVs. 

Social 
The Living Lab pilot projects will further the city’s social sustainability goals by 
increasing transportation mobility, access and safety for all members of the community, 
including expanding transportation choices for low income, older adults and children.  

Other Impacts 
Fiscal 
The Living Lab program and Phase I projects are supported by the FY 2015-2016 
transportation budget.  

Staff Time 
Staff resources for this project are included in the FY 2015-2016 transportation budget. 

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
TAB (Dec. 14) 
In addition to frequent staff briefings to the Transportation Advisory Board (TAB), TAB 
held a public hearing regarding the staff recommendations for the Living Lab Phase I 
projects on Dec. 14, 2015. No members of the community were present to provide 
comment. TAB members expressed interest in understanding collision trends at specific 
locations and the communications strategy for implementing the proposed next steps. 
TAB requested staff be more explicit when describing the decision making process that 
was used for each of the Phase I projects recommendations. TAB encouraged staff to 
continue applying the lessons learned from Living Lab Phase II (Folsom Street).   

TAB Motion: “Motion to recommend to council retention of buffered bike lanes on 
Spruce Street, extension of protected bike lanes on Baseline Road, conversion of 
protected bike lanes on University Avenue to buffered bike lanes, retention of back-in 
angle parking on University Avenue, and continued monitoring and evaluation of 
remaining Phase I projects.” Motion: Bilich, Seconded: Selvans; Vote: 4-0-1, Rigler 
abstained, Motion Passes 

For more detailed information, please refer to Attachment B (Dec. 14, TAB draft 
meeting minutes). 

PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
An important component of the ongoing evaluation of Living Lab pilot projects is 
community and user feedback. Since installation, the city has hosted a number of 
opportunities for community input including bike audits (guided community bike rides), 
online surveys, in-person feedback at public events, and social media and Inspire Boulder 
posts. In November 2015, staff hosted a public open house to present key findings of the 
ongoing evaluation and gather additional community input on the initial set of Phase I 
pilot projects. For each project, community members were asked to provide comments 
under three topic headings: continue it, refine it, or remove it. 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 4Packet Page 63



A summary of public comments received since 2013 and throughout the duration of the 
evaluation period of Phase I pilot projects demonstrates that prior to the open house in 
November 2015, qualitative feedback from the community primarily focused on the 
University Avenue parking protected bike lanes and back-in angle parking.  

Key themes of community feedback for the initial set of Phase I projects, organized by 
treatment, can be viewed in the following Analysis section of the memo. 

PHASE I PILOT PROJECT ANALYSIS 
A majority of the Phase I projects are considered opportunistic and involve very few 
tradeoffs. Staff selected the current project locations as they provided an available canvas 
for the experiment and not because they were necessarily the most appropriate long-term 
treatments for the location. The proposed next steps for the projects are based on a 
holistic evaluation process, including the technical and observational data, and 
community feedback. However, the decision-making process for each project is different 
due to unique characteristics and context of each project. A common thread consistent 
through all of the projects is the objective to improve safety for all road users while 
fostering an environment that is comfortable for vulnerable users, such as pedestrians and 
bicyclists.   

The evaluation process of the Living Lab Phase I pilot projects includes community 
feedback, field observations, and “before” and “after” comparison for both quantitative 
and qualitative measures. The Fox Tuttle Hernandez Transportation Group (FTH) has 
been assisting city staff with field observations and data analysis for all projects 
implemented to date. FTH has prepared a detailed analysis of the Phase I projects 
currently under consideration: buffered bike lanes, protected bike lanes, and back-in 
angle parking.   

Technical and observational “after” data was collected in April 2015 to coincide with the 
start of the peak cycling season and to ensure University of Colorado (CU) travel patterns 
are reflected. The qualitative analysis focuses on public input and informs an iterative 
review and response process to address community comments and concerns.  

Additional Phase I projects have been recently constructed and are currently being 
evaluated through mid-2016. These projects include, dashed (advisory) bike lanes, bike 
box, a multi-way boulevard, and shared street.  Staff will return to council in second 
quarter 2016 with the results from the evaluation process and proposed next steps. 

The following section describes the primary evaluation criteria, key findings, and 
proposed next steps for the Phase I projects currently under consideration.  

Buffered Bike Lanes (Spruce Street and University Avenue) 

Primary Evaluation Criteria: 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 5Packet Page 64

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/12-7-2015_Phase_I_Summary_of_Community_Input-1-201512071349.pdf
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/Living_Lab_Phase_I_memo_Attachment_A_Phase_I_FTH_Memo_+_Appendix-1-201512040908.pdf


• Before and after bicycle ridership along the corridor;
• Positioning of bicycles and vehicles on the street;
• Number and type of collisions;
• Maintenance practices; and
• Community feedback

Key Findings: 

Spruce Street  

• The number of bicycles observed was higher during the summer observation
period than during the fall observation period, likely due to seasonal conditions.
However, 18 percent more bicyclists were observed riding the corridor during
August 2015 (after installed) when compared to the August 2013 (before
installed) period.

• Only 2 to 3 percent of the motor vehicles encroached into the buffer area in the
after condition. Prior to the installation of the buffered bike lanes, no bicycle
facilities existed on this corridor.

• In the three years prior to the installation of the buffered bike lanes, two bicyclists
were involved in a “dooring” type of collision. Since the installation, this type of
collision has not occurred.
Community feedback expresses support for the buffered bike lane treatment.

University Avenue

• During the buffered bike lane pilot project, 93 percent of motor vehicles were
observed traveling within the travel lane while six percent encroached into the
bike buffer and one percent traveled with a wheel across the centerline.

• Observations during a winter storm event indicated that motor vehicle drivers stay
within the travel lane. Snowplow practices windrow the snow toward the middle
of University Avenue, which may result in drivers encroaching into the buffered
bike lane area.

• Vehicle speeds remained approximately the same in the before and after condition
with the buffered bike lanes, which was to be expected as the buffering had
limited effect of narrowing the perceived motor vehicle travel lane.

• In the two years prior to the installation of buffered bike lanes, the most common
collisions were u-turn related, parking-related, side street rear-end collisions and
right angle collisions. These collision trends continued after the installation of
buffered bike lanes, though fewer collisions per year occurred in the after period.
In the two years prior to installation of buffered bike lanes there were 14 crashes
in this corridor. During the 16 months in which the buffered bike lane was striped
there were only five crashes.

• Community feedback expresses support for the buffered bike lane treatment.

Agenda Item 6A     Page 6Packet Page 65



Staff Recommendation: 

Staff recommends keeping the buffered bike lanes in place along Spruce Street and re-
installation of buffered bike lanes along University Avenue. When and where 
appropriate, staff will consider this tool for future projects and for inclusion in the street 
facility design guide.  

In both of the tested areas, buffered bike lanes worked successfully to provide separation 
for bicyclists between the bike lane and the travel lane, or the parking lane (door zone). 
Buffered bike lanes can also have the added effect of narrowing wider travel lanes and 
increasing comfort level for cyclists, as well as providing social queues for both motor 
vehicle drivers and cyclists as to where each user should be traveling along the corridor.  

Protected Bike Lanes (Baseline and University) 

Primary Evaluation Criteria: 

• Aesthetic aspects of protected bike lanes;
• Encroachment of vehicles into the crosswalk and bike lane from side streets;
• Maintenance practices;
• Vehicle speeds on University Avenue;
• Number and types of collisions;
• Wrong way bicycle riding; and
• Community feedback

Key Findings: 

Baseline Road 

• An average of 42 percent of vehicles accessing Baseline from side streets roll
through the stop bars. The visibility and sight lines at intersections within the
study area are generally good, and may contribute to this level of stop bar non-
compliance.

• Speed data was not collected on Baseline prior to implementation.  Comparative
speed data is being collected in sections of Baseline with and without the
protected bike lanes. However, the adjacent travel lanes are 13 feet-wide, so there
is little expectation of speed reduction from this treatment.

• Observations during a winter storm event indicate that existing snowplow
vehicles used along the corridor are able to effectively remove snow.

• Community feedback expresses support for continuing or refining the protected
bike lane treatment.

Agenda Item 6A     Page 7Packet Page 66



• Public feedback expresses concern regarding the use of concrete blocks due to
aesthetic reasons and the inability for bicyclists to move from the protected bike
lane when executing left turns near the intersection.

University Avenue

• Bicyclists traveling in the wrong direction in the protected bike lanes account for
approximately six percent of the bike lane users. Skateboarders account for
another six percent of the users in the protected bike lanes. This activity was not
observed on Baseline Road protected bike lanes.

• The 85th percentile speed was reduced from 29 (mph) to 26 (mph) with the
installation of the protected bike lanes and the narrowing of the travel lanes,
which effectively moved parking closer to the moving traffic. The speed limit on
this section of University Avenue is 30 mph.  Since there was not a documented
speeding problem on this street prior to implementation, it was not the purpose of
this project to reduce speeds in the corridor. However, the demonstration results
do suggest that parking protected bike lanes can reduce vehicle speeds.

• 22 percent of the motorists approaching University Avenue on a stop sign
controlled side-street stopped before entering the protected bike lane. Another 26
percent of the motorists stopped within the bike lane. 27 percent of the motorists
stopped in the parking lane or vehicular travel lane, and 25 percent of the side
street vehicles rolled through the intersection without stopping at all.

• Parking-related and left-turn collisions were more common with the parking
protected bike lane configuration, compared to the buffered and standard bike
lanes. The total numbers of reported collisions per year also increased after the
protected bike lanes were installed. In the two years prior to implementing pilot
projects in this section of University there were 14 crashes in this corridor. During
the 12 months in which the parking protected bike lane was present there were 13
crashes.

• Winter maintenance practices are extremely challenging despite the city’s effort
to improve parking enforcement and increase attention to snow and ice removal.
The ongoing freeze/thaw cycles, drainage, vehicles parked incorrectly, and low-
angle sun are major factors working against the parking protected bike lane
installation.

• User feedback expresses support for the removing the protected bike lane
treatment. Community members have shared observations of cyclists riding
within the travel lanes, particularly during and after winter storm events.

• Comments also express concern for the narrow street design, winter maintenance
challenges, and inappropriate use of the bike lane by pedestrians, skateboarders
and wrong way cyclists. Drivers express concerns with lack of visibility of
bicyclists, pedestrians, and cars when entering University from a side street.
Feedback in support of the University Avenue protected bike lanes includes
design encourages new and diverse riders, people feel more safe and comfortable
to ride separated from auto traffic and slower vehicle speed.

Agenda Item 6A     Page 8Packet Page 67



Staff Recommendation: 

Baseline Road 
Keep the protected bike lanes in place, but remove the concrete blocks. The removal of 
the concrete blocks will improve maintenance access and address some of the aesthetic 
concerns while also improving cyclists turning maneuverability at intersections. Next 
steps also include extending the refined design of the protected bike lanes to Mohawk 
Drive. The extension of the protected bike lanes to Mohawk Drive will improve 
connectivity to an existing north/south bike route.  

University Avenue 
Convert the parking protected bike lanes between Broadway and 9th Street back to the 
buffered bike lane configuration. Safety concerns resulting from lack of sight distance 
from side streets and the encroachment of vehicles into the crosswalk and protected bike 
lanes are the primary reasons behind this recommendation. Year round maintenance of 
the parking protected bike lanes is challenging, particularly during the winter months 
with snow/ice conditions. Finally, parking irregularities by drivers of private and 
commercial vehicles continue to exist, which present additional safety and maintenance 
issues along the corridor.   

Staff believes that the parking protected bike lane treatment is generally a good tool when 
applied in the right context; however, the University Avenue is not the right street for this 
type of treatment due to the concerns mentioned above. Staff will consider this treatment 
for future projects, and the street facility design guidelines for future potential 
applications, if appropriate. 

Back in Angle Parking (University Avenue - Broadway to 17th Street) 

This treatment changes front-in angle parking to back-in angle parking adjacent to a bike 
lane in an effort to reduce the potential for conflict and documented collisions between 
cyclists or motor vehicles on the street and vehicles backing out blindly into their path. In 
August 2013, back-in angle parking was installed along University Avenue between 
Broadway and Macky Drive.   

Primary Evaluation Criteria: 

• Rate of parking compliance and conformity since the installation of the project;
• Number and types collisions;
• Maintenance practices; and
• Community feedback

Key Findings: 

• Citations related to back in angle parking have decreased from year one (August
2013 to August 2014) to year two (August 2014 to August 2015) by
approximately 48 percent.

Agenda Item 6A     Page 9Packet Page 68



• Between five and 10 percent of the parked vehicles continue to park across the
stall lines, but the latest after data (August 2015) shows that no parked vehicles
encroached into the bike lane.

• Observations during a snow event indicate that some vehicles did not back all the
way to the curb, and some were parked encroaching into the bike lane area.

• Based on observations, vehicles exiting the parking stall yielded to bicyclists
before pulling out into traffic on University Avenue.

• In the three years before the back-in angled parking, there were four parking
related crashes, two of these involving bikes. In the two years following the
installation, there have been three parking related crashes, none of these involving
bikes.

• User feedback ranges from continuing to refining or removing the back-in angle
parking treatment.

Staff Recommendation: 

Continue the back-in angle parking in place in order to further evaluate the installation. 
The reduction of crashes that are more prone to injury, including bicycle related crashes 
is the primary reason for keeping the demonstration in place.  It is recommended that this 
treatment be maintained through 2016 so that sufficient data is available to inform any 
additional conclusions.  

NEXT STEPS 
Pending feedback from council, staff is prepared to proceed with the proposed 
modifications to the initial set of Living Lab Phase I projects, as soon as weather permits 
and in conjunction with ongoing community engagement.  In summary, staff proposes to: 

• Retain buffered bike lanes on Spruce Street
• Retain and modify protected bike lanes on Baseline Road.
• Remove protected bike lanes and re-install buffered bike lanes on University

Avenue (9th Street to Broadway)
• Retain back-in angle parking and continue to monitor on University Avenue

(Broadway to 17th Street)

Staff will also continue to monitor and evaluate the remaining Phase I projects and will 
return to council in second quarter 2016 (May) with an update regarding overall Living 
Lab program as part of the TMP update.  

More information on the Living Lab program, Phase I projects, and community feedback 
is available at https://bouldercolorado.gov/goboulder/living-lab. 

ATTACHMENT 
Attachment A: Description and map of Phase I projects 
Attachment B: Dec. 14, TAB draft meeting minutes 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 10Packet Page 69

https://bouldercolorado.gov/goboulder/living-lab


Living Lab Phase I projects - facility descriptions

Buffered bike lanes are conventional bicycle lanes paired with a designated buffer space separating the 
bicycle lane from the adjacent motor vehicle travel lane and/or parking lane. In August 2013, the city installed 
buffered bike lanes along Spruce Street from 15th Street to Folsom and along University Avenue from 9th 
Street to Broadway. In October 2014, the University Avenue buffered bike lanes were removed and replaced 
with parking protected bike lanes.  

1. Buffered Bike lanes - spruce street

A protected bike lane is an on-street buffered bicycle lane that is physically separated from vehicle traffic by 
flexible posts, parked vehicles, planters, or a curb. In August 2013, the city installed protected bike lanes 
along Baseline Road from 30th to 37th Street. In October 2014, parking protected bike lanes were installed 
along University Avenue from 9th Street to Broadway.  

2./2.a Protected bike lanes - university avenue and baseline road

This treatment changes front-in angled parking to back-in angled parking adjacent to a bike lane in an effort 
to reduce the potential for conflict and documented collisions between cyclists or motor vehicles on the 
street and vehicles backing out blindly into their path. In August 2013, back-in angle parking was installed 
along University Avenue between Broadway and Macky Drive.    

3. Back in angle parking - university avenue

Used on low volume streets that are too narrow for traditional bike lanes, this treatment is marked with a skip
stripe pattern (not a solid stripe) between the travel lane and bike lane. No centerline is striped on the 
two-way street. The vehicle travel lanes are narrowed to accommodate a minimum standard width of five 
feet for each bike lane. This bike lane treatment prioritizes space for bicyclists while allowing motorists to 
encroach into the bike lane if needed to pass oncoming motor vehicles. In October 2014, dashed bike lanes 
were installed along Harvard Lane between Darmouth Avenue and the Broadway multi-use path north of 
Table Mesa Drive. 

4. dashed bike lanes - harvard lane

A bike box is a designated area in front of a traffic lane at a signalized intersection that provides bicyclists 
with a safe and visible place to wait during the red signal phase. Bike boxes help prevent ‘right-hook’ 
conflicts with turning vehicles at the start of the green signal phase. Motor vehicles are prohibited from 
making right turns during red signal phase and must yield to bicyclists within the bike box. The bike box was 
installed in the southbound lane on Folsom Street at Arapahoe Avenue in July 2015.  

5. bike box - folsom street

A multi-way boulevard provides center through lanes and parallel local access lanes separated from one 
another with tree-landscaped medians. The purpose is to provide buffered pedestrian spaces, bicycle 
access, and parking areas that are separated from through traffic and create a more attractive and inviting 
boulevard environment. As part of the Boulder Junction area, the city completed construction of a multi-way 
Boulevard along Pearl Parkway from 30th Street to the BNSF railroad tracks in July 2015.  

6. Multiway boulevard - pearl parkway

A shared street allows pedestrians and bicyclists to utilize roadway space along with motor vehicles. Shared 
street design techniques remove curbs, roadway markings and traffic signs. It is designed with distinctive 
streetscape features that minimize separation among transportation users. As part of the Boulder Junction 
area improvements, the city completed construction of a shared street along Junction Place from north of the
transit station at Depot Square to Goose Creek.    

7. shared street - junction place

Attachment A: Description and map of Phase I projects

Agenda Item 6A     Page 11Packet Page 70



University of Colorado
Boulder

Broadway

Broadway

N.I.S.T

28
th

 S
t

37
th

 S
t

30
th

 S
t

30
th

 S
t

28
th

 S
t

17
th

 S
t

Fo
ls

om
 S

t

15th St

9th St

Colorado Av

Dartmouth Av

Arapahoe Av

Canyon Bv

Spruce St
Pearl St

Pearl St
Pearl pkwy

Pine St

University Av

Spruce Street
Buffered Bike Lanes

University Ave.
Parking-Protected

BIke Lanes

University Ave.
Back-in-Angle Parking

Baseline Rd.
Protected Bike Lanes

Harvard Ln.
Dashed Bike Lanes

1

Junction Place
Shared Street

7

3
2

Folsom St.
Bike Box

5

Pearl Parkway
Multiway Boulevard

6

4

Spruce Street
Buffered bike lanes

University Avenue 
Protected bike lanes

University Avenue
Back-in angle parking 

Harvard Lane
Dashed (advisory) bike lanes

Folsom Street
Bike box

Pearl Parkway
Multiway Boulevard

Junction Place
Shared Street

1

2
Baseline Road
Protected bike lanes

2.A

2.A

3

4

5

6

7

Living Lab Phase I Bikeway projectsAttachment A: Description and map of Phase I projects

Agenda Item 6A     Page 12Packet Page 71



TAB Minutes 
14 December, 2015 

Page 1 of 3 

 CITY OF BOULDER 

BOULDER, COLORADO 

BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS MEETING 

MINUTES 

Name of Board/ Commission:  Transportation Advisory Board 

Date of Meeting: 12 December, 2015 

Contact Information Preparing Summary: Meredith Schleske 303.441.3204 

Board Members Present: Zane Selvans, Chair; Dom Nozzi, Daniel Stellar, Bill Rigler, Andria Bilich 

Board Members Absent:  

Staff Present:  Michael Gardner-Sweeney, Interim Director of Public Works for Transportation      

Bill Cowern, Transportation Operations Engineer 

Kathleen Bracke, GO Boulder Manager 

Marni Ratzel, Senior Transportation Planner 

Dave “DK” Kemp, Senior Transportation Planner 

Meredith Schleske, Board Secretary 

Type of Meeting:  Advisory/ Regular 

Agenda Item 1:  Call to Order         [6:04 p.m.] 

The meeting was called to order at 6:04 p.m. 

Agenda Item 2:  Approval of minutes from 12 October and 9 November 2015     [6:04 p.m.]         

Move to approve 12 October and 9 November, 2015 minutes as presented. 

Motion: Rigler  Second: Stellar 

4:0:0 Motion Passes (Bilich absent, arriving at the meeting @ 6:15 p.m.) 

Agenda Item 3:  Public Participation   [6:04 p.m.] 

 None.  Public participation closed.

Agenda Item 4: Public hearing and consideration of a recommendation regarding Living Lab Phase I) 

 [6:04 p.m.] 

Dave Kemp and Marni Ratzel gave the presentation to the board. 

Executive Summary from Packet Materials:  

The purpose of this item is to provide a Living Lab Phase I update and recommendations for consideration to the 

Transportation Advisory Board (TAB).  Staff last briefed TAB on the Phase I pilot projects at the Sept. 15, 2015 

meeting. Based on TAB feedback, staff conducted additional outreach and hosted an open house to seek additional 

feedback.  This update includes the community feedback from the open house, project evaluation highlights, and staff 

recommendations for the Phase I projects.     

Phase I of the Living Lab program provides a forum for testing new, innovative facilities and contemporary treatments 

to improve Boulder’s existing bicycle infrastructure. Phase I projects began in 2013 as part of the community 

engagement process for the Transportation Master Plan (TMP) update and have been opportunistic and primarily 

bicycle related.  User feedback is an integral element of the evaluation process coupled with technical data and field 

“before and after” behavior observations.  The Phase I analysis process is also being informed by the lessons learned 

from the Living Lab Phase II experience related to Folsom Street. 

Requested Action from TAB: 

Staff requests Transportation Advisory Board consideration of this matter and approval of recommendations as 

summarized below: 

1. Buffered bike lanes - Spruce Street (15
th

 to Folsom streets) – Keep as-is. Refine buffered bike lane design when

Spruce is re-striped.

2. Protected bike lanes - Baseline Road (30
th

 to 37
th

 streets) – Extend to Mohawk Dr. and remove concrete parking

stops.

3. Protected bike lanes - University Avenue (9
th

 Street to Broadway) – Convert back to buffered bike lane

configuration.

4. Back-in angle parking - University Avenue (Broadway to 17th Street) – Keep as-is and continue to monitor.

5. Continue monitoring and evaluating the remaining Phase I projects.

Attachment B: Dec. 14, TAB draft meeting minutes

Agenda Item 6A     Page 13Packet Page 72



 

 
TAB Minutes 

14 December, 2015 
Page 2 of 3 

 
Board member Andria Bilich arrived at 6:15 p.m. 

 
Public Comment:  None.  Public comment closed. 

 

Board discussion and comments included:                                                                                                   [6:23 p.m.] 

 

 Questions about refinement of buffered bike lanes on Spruce Street.  They will be restriped, signage made 

consistent with other locations, and a decision made on which style of buffered bike lane to use. 

 Expressions of broad support for the program. 

 Questions regarding criteria, and validity thereof, by which decisions were made. 

 Comments supporting narrowing of traffic lanes and reduced car speed.  Recognize the scope and goals of the 

project. 

 Discussion regarding crash data and trends at specific locations. 

 Concerns regarding tone and reactive or proactive messaging to the community and Council.   

 Encouragement to identify and benefit from lessons learned, filtered through the Folsom experience. 

 

Motion: Motion to recommend to City Council retention of buffered bike lanes on Spruce Street, extension of 

protected bike lanes on Baseline Road, conversion of protected bike lanes on University Avenue to buffered bike 

lanes, retention of back-in angle parking on University Avenue, and continued monitoring and evaluation of 

remaining Phase I projects.  Motion including concerns regarding communications, data, and decision-making. 

 

Motion: Bilich  Seconded: Selvans 

Vote: 4-0-1, Rigler abstained, Motion Passes 
 

Bill Cowern, Marni Ratzel, and Dave “DK” Kemp were excused.                                                                     [7:26 p.m.]  
 

 

Agenda Item 5: Matters                                                                                                                                     [7:26 p.m.] 

 

A. Matters from the Board  

 Updates re: collaboration with other city boards – there was none. 

 TAB input for Council retreat 

 In response to public feedback, Council requests annual input to their planning process and priority setting 

via Board letters to Council, due December 21
st
.  TAB was provided with the letter they wrote to Council 

last year. 

 General agreement that TAB urges Council to remain committed to, and work directly with RTD to 

improve, Flatiron Flyer. 

 Access Management and Parking Strategy (AMPS), community rider bypass, wellbeing of cyclists, 

continued bicycle treatments such as protected bike lanes, renewed vision for transit and corridor studies 

were discussed as important focal points. 

 Feedback to Council should align the Transportation Master Plan (TMP) and Boulder Valley 

Comprehensive Plan (BPCP). 

 Request TAB involvement or input to the BVCP. 

 TAB would like Council to “stay the course” and move forward with the TMP and BVCP in alignment 

with values and vision of our community. 

 Refer to lessons learned. 

 More effective communication with the community and subgroups such as concerned cyclists is desirable. 

 Look at notes from TAB’s 2015 retreat. 

Other discussion included educational opportunities including a 2016 retreat and community experts.  Staff can 

arrange an update to TAB regarding the BVCP. 

 

Action: Chair Selvans appointed Board members Bilich and Rigler to draft the TAB letter to Council 

and directed staff to follow up on any potential to extend the letter due date past 12/21/2015. 

 

Andria Bilich was excused at 7:48 p.m. 

Attachment B: Dec. 14, TAB draft meeting minutes

Agenda Item 6A     Page 14Packet Page 73



TAB Minutes 
14 December, 2015 

Page 3 of 3 

Board member Rigler brought up the below matter(s): 

 Requested an update on the search for a new Transportation Director for Public Works – Interviews are

intended to be conducted in January/February.  An informal public reception is likely and the candidate to 

possibly be on the job in March.  Board member Stellar is interested in being involved in the process in some 

manner; Interim Director Sweeney will relay the request. 

 ACTION: Staff will poll TAB members for a date to debrief Living Labs phase II.

B.) Matters from staff/Non Agenda:  [7:53 p.m.] 

 Living Lab phase II updates: – transitioning from weekly to monthly on the website.  City Council requested

a map of crashes, also on the website.  Travel time is now comparable to before implementation, slight increase 

in travel volume over a month, car speed reduced 2-3 mph than before, crashes increased.   

Action: Staff will ensure that relevant transportation statistics are posted on Facebook and Twitter. 

 A transportation report on transportation from 2012 to 2015 for each TMP focus area using the nine

measurable objectives will illustrate accomplishments.  Anticipated completion by 2015 year-end.

 Community-wide Eco Pass report – Technical Advisory Committee continuing to work, evaluating pricing

models, working with RTD.  RTD’s new director is committed to working with Boulder.

 Flatirons Flyer – staff is trying to engage RTD in communication with the public and clarifying changes to the

public.  RTD is reducing number of buses serving the route and service stops to three inbound; eight outbound.

Will make service faster but rider feedback to date has been negative.  Staff recommended not eliminating

stops at locations with greatest ridership.  RTD states they intend to monitor. Service is scheduled to begin

January 3, 2016 with an opening celebration January 7.

Action: Staff will prepare talking points for TAB members wishing to attend the opening celebration,

with emphasis on longstanding ridership.  City priorities in this area are to maximize existing and new

ridership and strategic access.

 Safe Route to School – Two grant applications due in January.  The programmatic section will be education in

schools; infrastructure focus will be sidewalk improvements 19
th

 Street from Norwood to Sumac.  These

federal grants are for five years.

 Board member Stellar inquired if there was any report from the Paris Climate Conference or resulting updates

to the TMP.  Staff understanding is that former mayor Appelbaum will make a presentation.

Agenda Item 9: Adjournment    [8:10 p.m.] 

There being no further business to come before the board at this time, by motion regularly adopted, the meeting was 

adjourned at 8:10 p.m.  

Motion: moved to adjourn; Nozzi, seconded by: Rigler 

Motion passes 4:0 

Date, Time, and Location of Next Meeting: 

The next meeting will be a regular meeting on Monday, 11 January, 2016 in the Council Chambers, 2
nd

 floor of the 

Municipal Building, at 6 p.m.; unless otherwise decided by staff and the Board.  

APPROVED BY: ATTESTED: 

___________________________________ ____________________________________ 

Board Chair Board Secretary 

___________________________________    ____________________________________ 

Date        Date 
An audio recording of the full meeting for which these minutes are a summary is available on the Transportation Advisory Board 

web page. 

Attachment B: Dec. 14, TAB draft meeting minutes

Agenda Item 6A     Page 15Packet Page 74



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: January 19, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE: Band Shell Update - Follow up on a statement from a member of the 
public regarding the Oct. 7, 2015 memo for the Landmark Alteration Certificate 
Application for the Glen Huntington Band Shell (1236 Canyon Blvd.) 

PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
David Driskell, Executive Director of Planning, Housing & Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director for Planning 
James Hewat, Senior Historic Preservation Planner 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Attached please find a memo that responds to the statement from a member of the public 
suggesting that staff intentionally left out information in its Oct. 7, 2015 memo to the Landmarks 
Board regarding the significance of the Glen Huntington Band Shell. In addition, an update on 
the pending Landmark Alteration Certificate for the band shell is included.  

Agenda Item 6B     Page 1Packet Page 75



January 13, 2016 

TO: Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 

FROM: Susan Richstone, Deputy Director, Planning, Housing & Sustainability 
James Hewat, Senior Historic Preservation Planner 
Marcy Cameron, Historic Preservation Planner 
Joanna Crean, Civic Area Project Manager 

SUBJECT:   Follow up on a statement from a member of the public regarding the Oct. 
7, 2015 memo for the Landmark Alteration Certificate Application for the 
Glen Huntington Band Shell (1236 Canyon Blvd.) 

The purpose of this memo is to respond to a statement from a member of the public suggesting 
that staff intentionally left out information in its Oct. 7, 2015 memo to the Landmarks Board 
regarding the significance of the Glen Huntington Band Shell. In addition, an update on the 
pending Landmark Alteration Certificate for the band shell is included.  

Statement by Member of the Public  
In an email to City Council on Dec. 2, 2015 (Attachment A), Karl Anuta, a member of the public 
had several comments about staff’s October 7, 2015 memo to the Landmarks Board 
recommending changes in the band shell landmark boundary. In referring to the memo, Mr. 
Anuta references a 1995 memo to the Landmarks Board (then known as the LPAB) during the 
designation process for the Band Shell. Mr. Anuta writes: 

“I found that the 2015 Staff memo relied, to a large extent, on the 1995 memo. Many statements 
in the 1995 memo were actually included verbatim in the 2015 memo.  

I was especially interested to note that the 2015 memo, in the last paragraph on page 4, stated : 

            The Bandshell is also environmentally significant for its planned and natural site 
characteristics; as a component of the central urban park; and as an established, familiar, and 
prominent visual landmark with its arched design and its location near major thoroughfares.  

I was shocked and astounded, however, to see that the original paragraph on page 3 of the Staff 
memo of September 5, 1995, which recommended designation, reads: 

            The Band Shell is environmentally significant for its planned and natural site 
characteristics; as a component of the central urban park; and as an established, familiar, and 
prominent visual landmark for Boulder citizens due to its arched design, its location near major 
thoroughfares, and its amphitheater seating. The Band Shell and its open air seating have long 
served as the focus of Central Park and as a civic center for social and cultural events in 
Boulder. 

The two paragraphs are identical except for the underlined portions which were deleted in the 
Oct. 7, 2015 memo. The deletion is significant. Although the question before the Landmarks 

Agenda Item 6B     Page 2Packet Page 76



Board in October 2015 concerned the significance of the seating, the Staff copied the paragraph 
from 1995 deleting entirely all references to the seating!” 

Staff response:  
The information presented in the October 7, 2015 memo is not a direct quote from the Sept. 5, 
1995 City Council memo. While staff referred to the 1995 memos to both the Landmarks Board 
and the City Council, as well as minutes from public hearings during the 1995 designation 
process, staff relied on the designating ordinance itself for its description of significance in the 
October 7th memo and included it both in the body of the memo and as an attachment to it.  

Designating ordinances are legislative documents that identify “characteristics of the subject 
property that justify its designation as a landmark” in terms of architectural, historic and 
environmental significance.1 It is staff’s practice to rely on the designation ordinance to 
determine the appropriateness of proposed alterations to a landmarked site. Section (5) of the 
designation ordinance (Attachment B), reads:  

The characteristics of the subject property that justify its designation as a landmark are 
(1) its historical significance it has played in the social and cultural life of the city; for its 
importance of the history of park development; and for its association with the Boulder 
Lions Club; (2)its architectural significance as a rare representative of Art Deco style as 
reflected in its streamlined composition, compound arch, and simplified design; as 
Boulder’s only example of park band shell construction and one of few such examples in 
the state; and as representative of the work of Saco De Boer and Glen Huntington, noted 
landscape architect and architect; and: (3)its environmental significance for its planned 
and natural site characteristics; as a component of the central urban park; and as an 
established, familiar and prominent visual landmark. 

The section of the 1995 City Council memo referenced by Mr. Anuta also contains additional 
detail about the bandshell’s architectural and historic significance that is not included in either 
the designation ordinance or the October 7 staff memo.  

It should also be noted that the Oct. 7, 2015 Landmarks Board memo devotes several pages to 
the history of the band shell and Saco De Boer, and also presents additional information 
including a 1940 aerial photograph of the band shell and its associated landscaping, as well as a 
1950 photograph of the benches being constructed that appears not to have been available during 
the 1995 review. Additionally, historic preservation staff visited the Western History Collection 
at the Denver Public Library and accessed the Saco R. DeBoer papers which included two 
renderings of the park that show the band shell with two paths crossing in front. The current 
seating configuration of concrete and wood benches, is not shown in either rendering.  

Based on the 1995 designation ordinance, the 1950 photographs showing the installation of the 
concrete and wood benches, and the 1940s renderings by Saco DeBoer, staff recommended that 
the Landmarks Board approve the removal of the seating and regrading of the berm in front of 
the band shell. This was based in part on the consideration that because the benches were not part 

1 Standard designation ordinance language: “Section 5: The characteristics of the subject property that justify its 
designation as a landmark are:…” 

Agenda Item 6B     Page 3Packet Page 77



of DeBoer’s landscape plans and the benches were not called out as a contributing feature in the 
ordinance, their removal would not have an adverse effect on the character of the landmarked 
site.  

Attached please find the following additional information to provide a complete record of the 
referenced documents: 

Attachment C: Chronology of Review 
Attachment D: October 7, 2015 memo to the Landmarks Board 
Attachment E: September 5, 1995 memo to City Council 
Attachment F: Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board Dec. 2, 2015 

Update on the pending Landmark Alteration Certificate 
The Landmark Alteration Certificate approved for removal of seating has a number of conditions 
that require the review of detailed plans by the Landmarks Board Design Review Committee 
(Ldrs). Staff does not plan to move forward in the near term to the Ldrc since other projects and  
improvements in 2016 have a relationship to the Band Shell and the current plan is to consider 
these comprehensively.  These include: 

1. The corridor study for Canyon Boulevard (Complete Streets) and other design options
for the 1300 Block or “East Bookend.”

2. The Market Hall Feasibility Study, which also considers opportunities in both the short
and long-term to better integrate the Farmers’ Market into the Civic Area. The results of
the study, along with the recent flood analysis, will be discussed at a council study
session on March 29, 2016.

As part of Canyon Complete Streets, design options will be discussed, including the Band Shell, 
at a council study session on June 14, 2016. Once a comprehensive design has been determined 
for the current projects adjacent to the Band Shell, staff will bring forward a new application to 
the Landmarks Board if alterations are considered within the Landmark Boundary. In the near-
term, staff continues to highlight the opportunities of the Band Shell and encourage more use 
with the following initiatives: 

• Parks and Recreation will host a variety of events throughout 2016 to re-introduce the
Band Shell as a versatile event venue.  As part of the holiday “Snow Much Fun” event,
the Band Shell was lit with LED lights and
supported activities including two free
community events in December and an
autograph signing with the Denver Broncos
in November. Due to the popularity of the
lighting display, the lighting of the Band
Shell’s arches will remain.

• An updated application and Park Event
Planning Guide will be developed to
simplify the process of obtaining a permit to
use the facility for public gatherings.

Agenda Item 6B     Page 4Packet Page 78



• The Civic Area Governance team will evaluate current Park Use restrictions to determine
the best way forward in successfully activating the Band Shell, including evaluation of
the current fee structure of the Band Shell

Additionally, attached please find a letter from Historic Boulder about the pending designation 
application for the Atrium Building at 1300 Canyon (Attachment G).   

Attachments: 
A: Email from Karl Anuta to the City Council on Dec. 2, 2015  
B: Ordinance No. 5751 
C: Chronology of Review 
D: Oct. 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo 
E:  Sept. 5, 1995 City Council Memo 
F: Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board Dec. 2, 2015 
G: Historic Boulder Letter Dec. 16, 2015 

Agenda Item 6B     Page 5Packet Page 79



From: "Karl F. Anuta"  
Date: December 2, 2015 at 9:46:30 PM MST 
To: City Council <council@bouldercolorado.gov> 
Subject: Seating at Landmarked Bandshell - Landmarks Bd. 12.3.15 
I and several others spoke to Landmarks Board this evening. I suggested they delay a decision as 
only 4 board members were present and there was a lot of information to review. Their 
discussion was circuitous and ended in an agreement to “report the discussion” to Council. They 
also agreed to pass on to you a loose-leaf folder which Kathryn Barth provided. The folder 
contains copies of several documents relating to the seating and the overall significance of the 
site. I encourage you to review it. A copy of the Table of Contents is attached. 

I am compelled to bring a specific issue to your attention. A critical document is the Oct. 7, 2015 
memo to the Landmarks Board from the Staff. The memo provided the background information 
to the Board supporting Staff’s recommendation that the removal of the seating is “generally 
consistent” with the Landmarks Ordinance and that an Alteration Certificate should be issued. As 
one would hope and expect the current Staff looked back to the documents before the Landmarks 
Board in 1995 when the Bandshell was designated as a City Landmark. That was the proper 
thing to do and I commend them. Tom Carr stated on Dec.1 that he had always found the 
Historic Preservation Staff to be very “thorough and incredibly careful.”  As expected the 2015 
memo uses many statements and some full paragraphs from the 1995 memo.  

I found that the 2015 Staff memo relied, to a large extent, on the 1995 memo. Many statements 
in the 1995 memo were actually included verbatim in the 2015 memo.  

I was especially interested to note that the 2015 memo, in the last paragraph on page 4, stated : 

            The Bandshell is also environmentally significant for its planned and natural site 
characteristics; as a component of the central urban park; and as an established, familiar, and 
prominent visual landmark with its arched design and its location near major thoroughfares.  

I was shocked and astounded, however, to see that the original paragraph on page 3 of the Staff 
memo of September 5, 1995, which recommended designation, reads: 

            The Band Shell is environmentally significant for its planned and natural site 
characteristics; as a component of the central urban park; and as an established, familiar, and 
prominent visual landmark for Boulder citizens due to its arched design, its location near major 
thoroughfares, and its amphitheater seating. The Band Shell and its open air seating have long 
served as the focus of Central Park and as a civic center for social and cultural events in 
Boulder. 

The two paragraphs are identical except for the underlined portions which were deleted in the 
Oct. 7, 2015 memo. The deletion is significant. Although the question before the Landmarks 
Board in October 2015 concerned the significance of the seating, the Staff copied the paragraph 
from 1995 deleting entirely all references to the seating!  

Attachment A - Email from Karl Anuta to City Council December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 6Packet Page 80



In 1995 Staff remarked on the significance of the seating. But in 2015 Staff deliberately engaged 
in creative editing, apparently in order to convince the Board that seating was no longer 
significant. If the Board had been advised in 2015 that the seating was considered significant in 
1995 at the time of designation would they have still agreed to allow its removal? Did the Staff 
deliberately misinform the Board? Did the Staff manipulate the facts presented to the Board? The 
conclusion seems obvious. 

Last night Tom Carr stated clearly that he had always found the Historic Preservation Staff to be 
very “thorough and incredibly careful.” The attached list reveals that there are a number of 
documents which were not in the record when the Alteration Certificate was issued. The City 
Attorney may have been wrong in his statement.  

However it may be that the City Attorney was correct. In that case the only conclusion is that 
Staff was well aware of all the facts and all the documents and all prior reports and failed to 
provide them to the Board, and that they edited them to fit the desired outcome. If so, then the 
failure to provide the Board with that material on October 7 was clearly intentional manipulation. 

Similarly, the documents disclose and the Staff certainly knew that the Bandshell was and is 
eligible for listing on the National Register of Historic Places. Why did Staff fail to consult with 
History Colorado before the October 7, 2015 meeting? Why was there no phone call? Mr. 
Hewett stated tonight that the Oct. 28 letter from History Colorado came as a complete surprise. 
Why did they wait to contact the leading preservation organization in the state until Council 
asked on November 10?  

If this demolition of a designated landmark, eligible for listing on the National Register of 
Historic Places, goes forward it will certainly impact relations between the City and History 
Colorado. Surely the agency which funded major renovations to City owned buildings at 
Chautauqua Park, to the City owned Harbeck House, to the City owned Carnegie Library, to City 
owned Columbia Cemetery, and to other private entities in Boulder, can not and should not be 
ignored. 

I urge Council to direct the City Manager to withdraw her application for an alteration certificate 
and to allow the Bandshell seating to remain a part of the City landmark. 

Karl Anuta 
4840 Thunderbird Drive, # 89 
303-588-9267

Attachment A - Email from Karl Anuta to City Council December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 7Packet Page 81



Attachment B - Ordinance No. 5751

Agenda Item 6B     Page 8Packet Page 82



Attachment B - Ordinance No. 5751

Agenda Item 6B     Page 9Packet Page 83



Chronology: 
 October 7, 2015, the Landmarks Board conditionally approved (4-1, Fran Sheets

opposed) a landmark alteration certificate (LAC) to make changes within the Glen
Huntington Band Shell landmark boundary, including removal of the 1950 benches,
modifications to the bermed area in front of the stage, the introduction of new pathways,
and the removal of non-significant trees and vegetation.

 The staff memorandum recommended approval of the proposal, based on the
determination that removal of the 1950 bench seating would not have an adverse effect
on the landmarked property.

 On November 2, 2015, historic preservation staff received a letter dated October 28, 2015
from History Colorado stating their opinion that the Band Shell site, including
amphitheater seating is individually eligible for listing in the National Register of
Historic Places.

 November 10, 2015, during the Civic Area update to the City Council, the October 28
History Colorado letter is presented by members of Historic Boulder during the open
public comment portion of the meeting. The City Council discussed the letter in the
context of the Civic Area and requested that the Landmarks Board weigh in on the letter
at its next meeting.

 November 13th, 2015 historic preservation staff requested clarification from History
Colorado as to whether changes approved in the October 7 LAC (including removal of
the 1950 seating) would affect the National Register eligibility of the Band Shell.

 November 20, 2015 historic preservation staff received a second letter from History
Colorado stating that removal of the seating would jeopardize the Band Shell’s eligibility
for listing in the National Register and suggested that moving the band shell would also
jeopardize the site’s eligibility.

 December 1, 2015, in response to statements made during open public comment of the
City Council meeting, the Council clarified that it would like the Landmarks Board to
advise the City Council whether the October 28 and November 19 letters from History
Colorado would have affected its October 7 conditional LAC approval.

 December 2, 2015, per City Council direction, the Landmarks Board discussed whether
the History Colorado letters would have changed their vote, had they been available prior
to the Oct. 7 hearing. Three of the board members said they would not have changed their
votes. One member said she did not know if the new information would have changed her
vote.

 At the December 2, 2015 meeting, Kathryn Barth presented the Landmarks Board with a
binder of information on the Glen Huntington Bands Shell. These documents are
included as Attachment X: Band Shell Binder.

 At the same meeting under public comment, Karl Anuta stated that the Oct. 7, 2015 staff
memorandum did not fully quote a sentence from the Sept. 5, 1995 City Council memo.
This point was reiterated in a letter sent to the City Council Hotline on December 3,
2015.

Attachment C - Chronology of Review

Agenda Item 6B     Page 10Packet Page 84



Agenda Item # 5C Page 1 

M E M O R A N D U M 

October 7, 2015 

TO: Landmarks Board 

FROM: Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager 

James Hewat, Senior Historic Preservation Planner 

Debra Kalish, Senior Assistant City Attorney 

Marcy Cameron, Historic Preservation Planner 

Angela Smelker, Historic Preservation Intern 

SUBJECT:   Public hearing and consideration of an application for the 

removal of outdoor seating at the landmark Glen 

Huntington Bandshell in Central Park per Section 9-11-18 of 

the Boulder Revised Code, 1981 (HIS2015-00237).  

STATISTICS: 

1. Site: 1236 Canyon Blvd. 

2. Designation: Individual Landmark  

3. Historic Name: Glen Huntington Bandshell 

4. Date of Construction: 1938 

5. Zoning: P (Public)  

6. Lot size: 88,695 sq. ft. 

7. Applicant/Owner: Parks and Recreation Department, City 

of Boulder 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

If the applicant complies with the conditions listed below, staff considers the 

proposed removal of outdoor seating at the Glen Huntington Bandshell to be 

generally consistent with the conditions specified in Section 9-11-18, B.R.C. 1981, 

and the General Design Guidelines.  Staff recommends that the Landmarks Board 

adopt the following motion:  

I move that the Landmarks Board adopt the staff memorandum dated Oct. 7, 2015, as the 

findings of the board and approve a Landmark Alteration Certificate for the proposed 

removal of outdoor seating shown on plans dated September 2, 2015, finding that they 

generally meet the standards for issuance of a Landmark Alteration Certificate in Section 

9-11-18, B.R.C. 1981, subject to the following conditions:

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 11Packet Page 85



Agenda Item # 5A Page 2 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

1. The applicant shall be responsible for the removal of outdoor seating,

relocation of the bermed area and construction of a new path, all in

compliance with the approved plans dated September 2, 2015, except as

modified by these conditions of approval.

2. Prior to submitting a building permit application and final issuance of the

Landmark Alteration Certificate, the applicant shall submit the following:

 Revised plans showing the proposed new path to more closely match

the course and permeable materiality of the path shown in the c.1940

photograph or the 1947 Saco DeBoer rendering.

 Detailed photographs and dimensions of the seating prior to removal

in the event that it is to be reinstalled in the future.

These design details shall be reviewed and approved by the Landmarks 

design review committee, prior to the issuance of a building permit. The 

applicant shall demonstrate that the design details are in compliance with the 

intent of this approval and the General Design Guidelines.  

SUMMARY 

 The application was referred to the full Landmarks Board by the Landmarks

design review committee.

 Based upon review of the designating ordinance and subsequent historic

research, staff does not consider the bench seating to be part of DeBoer and

Huntington’s plan and is not an important, character-defining feature of the

landmark site.

 Provided the listed conditions are met, staff recommends the Landmarks

Board approve the proposal to remove the seating, move the bermed area and

construct a new pathway to provide access to the bandshell.

PROPERTY HISTORY: 

The Boulder Bandshell was erected in Central Park by the Boulder Lions Club in 

1938 as an outdoor amphitheater for musical concerts and other forms of 

community entertainment. Architect Glen Huntington designed the structure 

and landscape architect and city planner Saco R. DeBoer selected the site and 

prepared the landscape plan. Huntington is credited with designing some of the 

most prominent buildings in Boulder, including the County Courthouse and 

Boulder High School, as well as many fraternities, sororities, and residential 

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 12Packet Page 86



Agenda Item # 5A Page 3 

buildings. DeBoer worked primarily in Denver, but consulted with the City of 

Boulder on a number of projects during the 1920s and 1930s.  

In 1910, DeBoer was appointed as landscape architect for the City of Denver and 

during his tenure in this role completed several large projects there including 

the Sunken Gardens and Speer Boulevard. Aside from writing zoning 

recommendations for the City of Boulder, DeBoer’s other Boulder works include 

his design for Beech Park in University, the Boulder High School grounds with 

Glen Huntington, the Flagstaff Amphitheater, and North Boulder Park. Having 

lived and worked in Denver for over sixty years, DeBoer is best remembered for 

his efforts at integrating the American City Beautiful movement into his city 

planning and park development work.  

Figure 1. Glen Huntington Bandshell, 2015. 

Central Park has occupied the block bounded by Broadway, Canyon Blvd., and 

13th St. since the late 1800s, although it was initially called “Cigarette Park.”  

When the Bandshell was constructed in 1939, railroad tracks ran along Water 

Street (Canyon Blvd.) and Broadway was a two-lane road with parking on either 

side. Train service to central Boulder was discontinued in 1957 and Canyon 

Boulevard was constructed in the 1960s. Today it functions as a major east-west 

thoroughfare through the city and is designated as a state highway. 

Over the course of the last 77 years, the Glen Huntington Bandshell (named after 

its designer) has been the site of a variety of musical concerts, cultural programs, 

educational presentations, and civic gatherings in the heart of Boulder. In 

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 13Packet Page 87



Agenda Item # 5A Page 4 

response to a proposal to remove the structure from its current location in 1995, 

the Modern Architecture Preservation League submitted a landmark 

designation application. Later that year, the City Council designated the 

Bandshell as a local landmark, recognizing its historic, architectural and 

environmental significance to the city. 

In designating the Bandshell in 1995, the Landmarks Board (then the Landmarks 

Preservation Advisory Board) and the City Council found the structure and its 

site to have historic significance for the role it has played in the social and 

cultural life of the city; its importance in the history of park development in 

Boulder; and for its association with the Boulder Lions Club and that 

organization’s program of improving Boulder Parks. 

Likewise, the 1995 designation documentation of the Bandshell found it to be 

architecturally significant as a rare representative of the Art Deco in Boulder and 

as the only example of park bandshell construction in the city and one of the few 

such examples in the state; and as a representative work of Saco R. DeBoer and 

Glen W. Huntington, noted landscape architect and architect, who are associated 

with the site design and the design of the structure. 

The Bandshell is also environmentally significant for its planned and natural site 

characteristics; as a component of the central urban park; and as an established, 

familiar, and prominent visual landmark with its arched design and its location 

near major thoroughfares.   

Figure 2. Aerial looking northwest over Central Park, c. 1940. 

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 14Packet Page 88



Agenda Item # 5A Page 5 

Figure 3.“Sketch of proposed civic center and war memorial by DeBoer, 1947. 

Note Bandshell with no seating seen at right. 

Figure 2 shows the landscaping around the Bandshell in 1940, with two paths 

crossing in front of the stage. Figure 3 shows a rendering prepared by Saco 

DeBoer in 1947 as part of the plan for a boulevard through Central Park and 

along Boulder Creek and for a new city building. Benches or other seating is not 

depicted in the rendering. 

DESCRIPTION 

Figure 4. Location map and Landmark Boundary of Bandshell. 

ARAPAHOE

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 15Packet Page 89



Agenda Item # 5A Page 6 

The semi-elliptical Glen Huntington Bandshell is located on the south side of 

Canyon Boulevard between Broadway and 13th Street and faces southward 

towards a bermed area with amphitheater seating. Six concentric arches 

comprise the clamshell form of the Bandshell reflecting a simplified streamline 

Art Deco design, characteristic of many such structures constructed around 

the country during the 1930s and 1940s.  

Figure 5. View of Bandshell seating, facing northwest, 2015. 

The 1995 Landmark boundary is described as, “the northern 170 feet of Block 13, 

Original Townsite to the City of Boulder, County of Boulder, State of Colorado, 

also known as the Boulder Bandshell”.  

Figure 6. 1996 Landmark Designation Boundary (Hatched Line) 

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 16Packet Page 90



Agenda Item # 5A Page 7 

The seating directly facing the Bandshell consists of 15 rows of benches divided 

by aisles into five groups. There is a low stone retaining wall behind the seating. 

Photographs indicate that the seating was constructed in 1950, about 12 years 

after the Bandshell’s construction. As shown on the landmark boundary map 

(see Figure 5), the extent of the landmark includes the bermed embankment and 

seating. 

Figure 7. The installation of the seating and floodlights at the Bandshell, 1950. 

Figure 8. View of Bandshell seating, 2015. 

Today, much of the landscaping around the Bandshell amphitheater reflects the 

original plan including trees along the edges and to the rear and bushes behind 

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 17Packet Page 91



Agenda Item # 5A Page 8 

the seating area to the south. Photographs indicate that evergreen shrubs were 

located in front of the stage until the early 1980s.  

Figure 9. View of low retaining wall and vegetation behind Bandshell seating, 2015. 

PROPOSED REMOVAL OF OUTDOOR SEATING 

The application proposes to remove the 1950 outdoor seating in front of the 

Bandshell to provide a more functional and multi-use lawn area to promote use 

of the Bandshell, coinciding with efforts to better integrate that area into the 

Central Park and the Civic Area as a whole. As proposed, this scheme seeks to 

improve the Bandshell as a performing arts facility integral to the functioning of 

the east end of the Civic Area. In an effort to achieve this goal, Parks and 

Recreation proposes to move the bermed area closer to the stage, reducing some 

of the flat gravelled area to bring spectators and performers closer together. The 

bermed area is shown to be a lawn seating area intended to improve spectator 

and performer experience. It is anticipated that this configuration will somewhat 

improve the acoustic experience for attendees, as they will be closer to the stage.  

Parks and Recreation indicates that the removal of the seating and change in 

grading will coincide with other improvements within the landmark boundary 

area including improved lighting and increased programming for the Bandshell. 

A curved multi-use lane is proposed to curve across the southeast half of the 

landmarked area and a “tree grove” is to be planted at the southwest corner.  

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 18Packet Page 92



Agenda Item # 5A Page 9 

Figure 10. Proposed site plan with Bandshell seating removed. Blue dashed line shows 

the landmark boundary.  

Figure 11. Proposed view looking northeast after removal of seating, 2015. 

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 19Packet Page 93



Agenda Item # 5A Page 10 

Figure 12. View of Central Park if the Bandshell seating were to remain. 

Notice change in orientation of bike lane to the right, 2015 

CRITERIA FOR THE BOARD’S DECISION 

Sections 9-11-18, B.R.C. 1981, sets forth the standards the Landmarks Board must 

apply when reviewing a request for a Landmark Alteration Certificate. 

(a) The landmarks board and the city council shall not approve an application for

a landmark alteration certificate unless each such agency finds that the

proposed work is consistent with the purposes of this chapter.

(b) Neither the Landmarks Board nor the City Council shall approve a Landmark

Alteration Certificate unless it meets the following conditions:

(1) The proposed work preserves, enhances, or restores and does not

damage or destroy the exterior architectural features of the

landmark or the subject property within an historic district;

(2) The proposed work does not adversely affect the special character

or special historic, architectural, or aesthetic interest or value of the

landmark and its site or the district;

(3) The architectural style, arrangement, texture, color, arrangement of

color, and materials used on existing and proposed constructions

are compatible with the character of the existing landmark and its

site or the historic district;

(4) With respect to a proposal to demolish a building in an historic

district, the proposed new construction to replace the building

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 20Packet Page 94



Agenda Item # 5A Page 11 

meets the requirements of paragraphs (b)(2) and (3) above. 

(c) In determining whether to approve a Landmark Alteration Certificate, the

Landmarks Board shall consider the economic feasibility of alternatives,

incorporation of energy-efficient design, and enhanced access for the

disabled.

ANALYSIS 

1. Does the proposed application preserve, enhance, or restore, and not damage or destroy

the exterior architectural features of the landmark or the subject property within an

historic district?

Staff considers that the existing seating is not character-defining as it does not 

appear in DeBoer and Huntington’s plan for the Bandshell (see Figure 3). Its 

removal will not damage important features of the property provided the listed 

conditions are met and the bermed lawn area will enhance the Bandshell by 

making it a more viable performance space integral to the Central Park area of 

the Civic area. Likewise, constructing a new pathway will not damage the 

landmark provided the listed conditions are met. Staff recommends that the 

proposed path more closely follow the path show in the 1938 aerial photograph 

and DeBoer’s c.1947 rendering.  

2. Does the proposed application adversely affect the special character or special historic,

architectural, or aesthetic interest or value of the district?

The proposal will not adversely affect the historic, architectural or aesthetic value 

of the landmark as outlined in (1), above. 

3. Is the architectural style, arrangement, texture, color, arrangement of color, and

materials used on existing and proposed structures compatible with the character of the

historic district?

Provided the listed conditions are met, the proposal will be compatible with the 

character of the Glen Huntington Bandshell Landmark. 

4. Does the proposal to demolish the building within the Mapleton Hill Historic District

and the proposed new construction to replace the proposed demolished building meet the

requirements of paragraphs 9-11-18(b)(2), 9-11-18(b)(3) and 9-11-18(b)(4) of this

section?

Staff does not consider the bench seating to be an important character-defining 

feature of the landmark and its removal will meet the above requirements.  

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 21Packet Page 95



Agenda Item # 5A Page 12 

DESIGN GUIDELINES ANALYSIS: 

The Historic Preservation Ordinance sets forth the standards the Landmarks 

Board must apply when reviewing a request for a Landmark Alteration 

Certificate.  The Board has adopted the General Design Guidelines and the 

Mapleton Hill Historic District Design Guidelines to help interpret the historic 

preservation ordinance.  The following is an analysis of the proposed new 

construction with respect to relevant guidelines.  Design guidelines are 

intended to be used as an aid to appropriate design and not as a checklist of 

items for compliance.  

The following is an analysis of the proposal’s compliance with the appropriate 

sections of the General Design Guidelines. 

GENERAL DESIGN GUIDELINES 

2.5  Sidewalks  

Guideline Analysis 
Meets 

Guideline? 

.1 
New walkways should be designed 

to be compatible in location, 

pattern, spacing, dimensions, 

materials and color with existing 

walkways that contribute to the 

overall historic character of the 

landmark.   

The 1940 aerial photograph (Figure 

2) show pathways crossing in front

of the Bandshell. These pathways

appear to have been eliminated

sometime after 1950 when the

concrete and wood plank benches

were installed. The paths are

visible in De Boer’s c.1947

rendering, and appear to have been

consciously designed to provide

access across the park as well as to

the Bandshell. Staff considers that

while the geometry of the proposed

path differs from that on the 1940

photograph, it does recall the east

curving path in that photograph.

Steps might be taken to more

closely a new path to more closely

match the configuration of the 1940

path.

Maybe 

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 22Packet Page 96



Agenda Item # 5A Page 13 

3.0  Alterations          

Guideline Analysis 
Meets 

Guideline? 

. . . an alteration should preserve 

the historic (resource) . . . 

The proposal calls for the removal 

of seating installed in 1950. The 

concrete and plank benches do not 

appear to have been part of DeBoer 

and Huntington’s plan for the 

Bandshell. The 1995 designating 

ordinance for the landmark does 

not specifically call out the 

benches, but refers generally to the 

importance of the “planned and 

natural site characteristics.” While 

the seating has been in place for 65 

years, staff does not consider this 

element a significant character-

defining feature of the landmark. 

Yes 

4.4  Compatibility with Historic Site and Setting      

Additions should be designed and located so that significant site features, including mature 

trees, are not lost or obscured. The size of the addition should not overpower the site or 

dramatically alter its historic character. 

Guideline Analysis 
Meets 

Guideline? 

.1 
Design new additions so that the 

overall character of the site, site 

topography, character-defining site 

features and trees are retained. 

The addition of the proposed new 

pathway will retain the general 

character of the landmark provided 

steps are taken to ensure that its 

course and configuration match the 

historic (c. 1940 condition) as 

closely as possible. Likewise, staff 

does not consider the proposed 

concrete and plank bench seating 

or the relocation of the bermed area 

north on the site will significantly 

alter the character of the landmark. 

Consider using permeable paving 

material for path and provide for 

slightly more level area in front of 

Maybe 

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 23Packet Page 97



Agenda Item # 5A Page 14 

the stage. Review revisions at Ldrc. 

.3 
Respect the established orientation 

of the original building and typical 

alignments in the area. 

The addition of the proposed new 

pathway will retain and relocation 

of bermed area will maintain the 

alignment and orientation of 

features to the Bandshell in the 

landmark area. Review details at 

Ldrc. 

Yes 

8.7  Public Improvements  

Public Improvement features such as street lighting, street and alley paving, tree planting, parks, 

and sidewalks all contribute to the historic character of a historic district or site.  

Guideline Analysis 
Meets 

Guideline? 

.1 
Any public improvement should 

maintain and reinforce the 

character of the landmark.  

 Staff considers that the proposed 

removal of the benches, the 

relocation of the bermed area and 

the construction of a pathway will 

maintain and strengthen the 

character of the landmark. In 

addition, the proposed 

reconfiguration will enhance and 

improve the function of the 

Bandshell, its long-term viability as 

a vital component of the Civic area. 

Review details at the Ldrc. 

Yes 

Staff considers that proposed conditions are met, the removal of seating, 

relocation of the bermed area and creation of a new pathway in the landmark 

boundary are all generally consistent with the General Design Guidelines. Keeping 

the Bandshell an active and vibrant part of Central Park has been a challenge 

since at least the mid-1970s and staff considers the proposed changes will open 

this historic asset for use and appreciation that will help ensure its long term 

viability. While not within the purview of the historic preservation program, the 

success of the Bandshell as a performing will also depend on consistent and 

accessible programming in coordination with Parks and Recreation to change 

negative perceptions of the place as underutilized and isolated. 

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 24Packet Page 98



Agenda Item # 5A Page 15 

Provided the outlined conditions are met, staff considers issuance of a Landmark 

Alteration Certificate for the proposed removal of the seating, relocation of the 

bermed area and location of a new pathway across the landmark will be 

generally consistent with the Historic Preservation Ordinance, the General Design 

Guidelines. As such, staff finds the application meets the standards in Section 

9-11-18, B.R.C. 1981.

FINDINGS: 

Provided the conditions outlined in the staff recommendation are met, 

staff recommends that the Landmarks Board approve the application and 

adopt the following findings: 

1. The proposed new construction will meet the standards in Section 9-

11-18 of the Boulder Revised Code 1981.

2. The proposed removal of the bench seating, relocation of the bermed

area and construction of a new pathway will not have an adverse effect

on the value of the landmark property, as it will be generally

compatible in terms of mass, scale, or orientation with other buildings

in the district.

3. In terms of mass, scale, and orientation, the proposal will be generally

consistent with Section 9-11-18, B.R.C.1981, and the General Design

Guidelines.

ATTACHMENTS: 

A: Current Photographs 

B: Historic Photographs & Maps 

C: Individual Landmark Designation Ordinance 

D: Proposed Plans 

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 25Packet Page 99



Agenda Item # 5A Page 16 

Attachment A: Current Photographs 

Bandshell seating looking northwest, 2015. 

Bandshell seating looking north, 2015. 

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 26Packet Page 100



Agenda Item # 5A Page 17 

Bandshell seating looking northeast, 2015. 

Bandshell seating looking southwest, 2015. 

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 27Packet Page 101



Agenda Item # 5A Page 18 

Bandshell seating looking east toward 13th Street. 2015. 

Close up view of benches, 2015. 

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 28Packet Page 102



Agenda Item # 5A Page 19 

Alternate close up view of Bandshell seating, 2015. 

Landscaping behind Bandshell seating, 2015. 

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 29Packet Page 103



Agenda Item # 5A Page 20 

Bandshell looking north, 2015. 

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 30Packet Page 104



Agenda Item # 5A Page 21 

Attachment B: Historic Photographs & Maps 

Aerial view of Central Park showing Bandshell (top center) with no seating, 1938. 

Aerial view of Central Park after installation of seating, 1958. 

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 31Packet Page 105



Agenda Item # 5A Page 22 

View of seating looking west towards Broadway shortly after installation 

(Municipal Building has not yet been constructed), 1950. 

View of Bandshell looking northwest, 1961. 

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 32Packet Page 106



Agenda Item # 5A Page 23 

“Proposed Boulevard & City Building Group,” by  

Saco DeBoer & Co., 1945. Bandshell seen in center. 

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 33Packet Page 107



Agenda Item # 5A Page 24 

“Sketch of Proposed Civic Center and War Memorial,” by 

Saco DeBoer & Co., 1947. Bandshell seen at far right. 

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 34Packet Page 108



Agenda Item # 5A Page 25 

Close up view of Bandshell (red structure in center along crease) taken from 

“Boulder Creek Boulevard” by S.R. DeBoer & Co., undated. 

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 35Packet Page 109



Agenda Item # 5A Page 26 

Attachment C: Individual Landmark Designation Ordinance 

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 36Packet Page 110



Agenda Item # 5A Page 27 

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 37Packet Page 111



Agenda Item # 5A Page 28 

Updated Site Plan Scope, 2015. Bandshell area is circled in red. 

Attachment D:___ Proposed Plans

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 38Packet Page 112



Agenda Item # 5A Page 29 

Proposed Plan for Farmers’ Market Loop, 2015. 

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 39Packet Page 113



Agenda Item # 5A Page 30 

Alternate proposed plan for Farmers’ Market Loop if seating were to remain, 

2015. 

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 40Packet Page 114



Agenda Item # 5A Page 31 

Enlargement Plan: Central Park, 2015. 

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 41Packet Page 115



Agenda Item # 5A Page 32 

“Alley” – Existing Plan, 2015. 

Site Analysis, 2015. 

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 42Packet Page 116



Agenda Item # 5A Page 33 

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 43Packet Page 117



Agenda Item # 5A Page 34 

Attachment D - October 7, 2015 Landmarks Board Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 44Packet Page 118



AGENDA ITEM # Page 1 

C I T Y  O F  B O U L D E R 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: September 5, 1995 

Agenda Item Preparation Date: August 29, 1995 

AGENDA TITLE:  

Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only an ordinance 

designating the structure and its site, located on the northern 170 feet of Block 13, Original Townsite to the City 

of Boulder and further described in Attachment B, also known as the Boulder Band Shell, as an individual 

landmark under the City of Boulder Historic Preservation Code. 

Owner:  City of Boulder Parks & Recreation Department 

Applicant:  Modern Architecture Preservation League (MAPL) 

REQUESTING DEPARTMENT: 

Community Design, Planning and Development 

Will Fleissig, Planning Director 

Lara Ramsey, Presenter 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Information pending. 

PURPOSE: 

The purpose of this item is to determine whether designating the Band Shell as a local landmark meets the purposes and 

standards in the Historic Preservation Ordinance (Sections 10-13-1 and 10-13-3, B.R.C. 1981, see Attachment G), in balance 

with the goals and policies of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan.  Council shall approve by ordinance, modify and 

approve by ordinance, or disapprove the proposed designation. 

Attachment E - September 5, 1995 City Council Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 45Packet Page 119



AGENDA ITEM # Page 2 

Attachment E - September 5, 1995 City Council Memo

*When saving and converting the original 1995 Word document to PDF, an error occurred with the original spacing.
This page has been intentionally left blank.

Agenda Item 6B     Page 46Packet Page 120



AGENDA ITEM # Page 3 

BACKGROUND: 

On May 3, 1995 the Planning Department received an application for individual landmark status for the Central Park Band Shell 

from the applicant, Modern Architecture Preservation League (see Attachment D). 

On July 25, 1995, the Landmarks Preservation Advisory Board (Landmarks Board) held a public hearing in consideration of 

landmark designation of the Central Park Band Shell and voted 4-0 (Coburn absent) to recommend to City Council designation 

of the structure and its site a local landmark.  At the public hearing, 10 members from the public spoke in support of the 

designation (see Attachment I:  7/25/95 Landmarks Board Draft Minutes). 

ANALYSIS: 

The City of Boulder Planning Department hired Front Range Research Associates, Inc. to perform a historical study of the 

Boulder band shell and prepare a Colorado Historical Society Historic Building Inventory Record form.  The consultant 

surveyed the band shell to determine its eligibility for the National Register of Historic Places and for local landmark 

designation.  The consultants determined that the structure and its site meet both the National Register and local landmark 

criteria (see report in Attachment E).   

The City Planning Department requested that the Colorado Historical Society review and approve the report and its findings.  

Dale Heckendorn, National and State Register Coordinator with the Colorado Historical Society, concurred with the findings of 

the report (see letter in Attachment F). 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANCE 

The findings of the Band Shell report are summarized below relative to the significance criteria for individual landmarks 

adopted by the Landmarks Board on September 17, 1975 (see criteria in Attachment H). 

Historical Significance: 

The Band Shell has historic significance for the role it has played in the social and cultural life of the city, having served as a 

setting for musical programs, cultural entertainment and civic celebrations for over fifty years; for its importance in the history of 

park development in Boulder; and for its association with the Boulder Lions Club and its program of improving Boulder Parks. 

Architectural Significance: 

The Band Shell is architecturally significant as a rare representative of the Art Deco style in Boulder, as reflected in its 

streamlined composition, compound arch, and simplified design; as Boulder's only example of park band shell construction and 

one of the few such examples in the state; and as representative work of Saco R. DeBoer and Glen W. Huntington, noted 

Attachment E - September 5, 1995 City Council Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 47Packet Page 121



AGENDA ITEM # Page 4 

landscape architect and architect, who are associated with the site design and the design of the structure. 

Saco R. DeBoer's work on the Band Shell included recommending the site, assisting in the early plan preparation, and preparing 

the landscape plan for the grounds around the Band Shell.  During the 1930's, DeBoer served as Boulder's consulting city 

planner to the Planning and Parks Commission.  Saco R. DeBoer is noted for his work as a city planner and landscape architect 

in Denver where he planned for Sunken Gardens, Cherry Creek, Speer and Federal Boulevards, and major Denver parks and 

parkways.  Having lived and worked in Denver for over sixty years, DeBoer is best remembered for his efforts at integrating 

the American City Beautiful movement into his city planning and park development work.  

Glen Huntington, noted Boulder architect, designed many important buildings in Boulder, including the Boulder County 

Courthouse, Boulder High School, and Huntington Arms (local landmark).  The Band Shell design, although based on other 

band shell designs, represents the variety of structures and architectural styles in which Huntington produced designs. 

Environmental Significance: 

The Band Shell is environmentally significant for its planned and natural site characteristics; as a component of the central 

urban park; and as an established, familiar, and prominent visual landmark for Boulder citizens due to its arched design, its 

location near major thoroughfares, and its amphitheater seating.  The Band Shell and its open air seating have long served as 

the focus of Central Park and as a civic center for social and cultural events in Boulder. 

Eligible Area: 

The consultant determined that the eligible site includes the entire area embraced by the resource, including the Band Shell, the 

open area in front of the Band Shell, the seating area, and the bermed area to the south, including stone pathways and retaining 

walls. 

At the Landmarks Board hearing, the Landmarks Board amended the boundaries of the site to include a larger portion of the 

park (see map in Attachment B)  The Board's purpose for expanding the boundaries was to include features of the site 

associated with DeBoer, such as the pathways and planned vegetation screening the structure from Canyon Boulevard.   

OTHER ISSUES: 

City Council shall determine whether the proposed designation meets the purposes and standards in the Historic Preservation 

Ordinance (Sections 10-13-1 and 10-13-3, B.R.C. 1981, see Attachment G), in balance with the goals and policies of the Boulder 

Valley Comprehensive Plan.  

Staff has identified the following issues that may require further discussion as part of Council's consideration of the band shell 

for landmark designation: 

Attachment E - September 5, 1995 City Council Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 48Packet Page 122



AGENDA ITEM # Page 5 

1. Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan

2. Civic Center Master Plan 

3. Central Park Program Plan

4. Floodplain Regulations

5. Structural/ Acoustical Analysis

6. Use 

7. Restoration 

8. Moving 

Information related to issues #5, 6 and 7 is not currently available and would not be available until mid October, after second 

reading.  If Council determines that this information is required in order to make a decision, staff recommends continuing this 

item to a date certain for third reading (staff will bring a proposed date to Council's September 19, 1995 meeting).  To meet 

the requirements of the Preservation Ordinance, however, the applicant must consent to the extended timeline and Council 

must still hold the public hearing on second reading.  Staff has spoken with a representative of MAPL who has agreed to a 

postponement if Council determines that additional information is necessary to make a final decision (see Attachment J:  

Letter from MAPL).  If Council continues this item to a date certain, staff recommends that Council re-open the public hearing 

at third reading due to the introduction of new information.  

1. Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan

The Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan provides a sketch plan of the desired land use pattern in the Boulder Valley.  The land 

use designation for this area is "urban park" which serves a variety of functions.  This land use designation does not preclude 

structures, buildings and/or facilities from being located in urban parks. 

A number of locally landmarked structures are currently maintained by the Parks and Recreation Department, including the 

Harbeck-Bergheim House (leased to the Boulder History Museum), the Boulder Fire Station No. 2 (Pottery Lab), and a number 

of buildings in the Chautauqua Historic District (the shelter house/trolley stop at Baseline Road, the picnic arbor near the 

Auditorium, and the Ranger Cottage).   

Staff believes that landmark designation of the band shell complies with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan in that it 

supports both parks and preservation goals in terms of providing a community facility and preserving a significant historic 

resource. 

2. Civic Center Master Plan

The Boulder Civic Center Master Plan was adopted by City Council in January 1993, addressing municipal facilities and public 

places in the downtown.  The plan "places a premium on open space within the downtown area and maintains a focus on 

Attachment E - September 5, 1995 City Council Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 49Packet Page 123



AGENDA ITEM # Page 6 

Central Park and Boulder Creek which is consistent with historic planning in this area."  The plan recommends relocation of 

the band shell and bleachers to help mitigate potential flood hazards in the Civic Center, and suggests moving the band shell 

possibly adjacent to the Arboretum, east of Broadway and south of Arapahoe. 

While preservation of the band shell in its current location does not comply with the adopted Civic Center Master Plan, 

adoption of the plan occurred prior to knowledge regarding the historic significance of the band shell and its site. 

3. Central Park Program Plan

Over the last year, staff from Parks and Recreation and Planning have been coordinating a Program Plan for Central Park.  

This plan is intended to provide more detail to the uses and design of Central Park in accordance with the goals of the Civic 

Center Master Plan.   

Prior to knowledge regarding the historic significance of the band shell, both the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board (March 

27, 1995 meeting) and City Council (April 11, 1995 study session) reconfirmed that the band shell, berm and bleachers should 

be removed from their current location. 

4. Floodplain Regulations

The band shell structure and its site are located within the 100 year floodplain, but outside high hazard and conveyance areas 

(see Attachment K:  Floodplain Map).  Under current interpretation, the band shell and seating are considered "not 

intended for human occupancy". Per City floodplain regulations, there are no restrictions for these structures; therefore, 

restoration or renovation of the band shell would not be subject to floodplain regulations.  The main consideration of a 

restoration plan would be to ensure that the plan minimizes damages to the structure in case of a flood.   

The Civic Center Master Plan recommendation to relocate the band shell did not result from the band shell itself posing a risk to 

the public, but rather provided the opportunity for improving the flood standards for the larger civic center campus by 

redirecting flows south of Canyon.  If the band shell were to remain in its current location, staff would need to re-evaluate the 

potential for mitigation of flood issues associated with this portion of the civic center area. 

5. Structural/ Acoustical Analysis

If Council determines this information is necessary to make a decision, a consultant will be hired by the City to conduct a 

structural and acoustical analysis of the band shell structure and its site; this analysis would probably not be completed until 

mid October.  Costs to perform this analysis are currently unknown but will be available by first reading on September 5, 

1995.  The consultant would address the following issues: 

a. In addition to a structural analysis, the following issues would be addressed: 

Attachment E - September 5, 1995 City Council Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 50Packet Page 124



AGENDA ITEM # Page 7 

Existing Condition (what materials are original?) 

Recommendations for Stabilization/ Cost Analysis 

Ability to Restore/ Cost Analysis 

Ability to Move/ Cost Analysis 

Asbestos Analysis (recommendations for mitigation/ cost analysis) 

b. Noise analysis of the site, including perimeter roads of Broadway, Canyon, Arapahoe and 13th Street.

What noise is permissible to accommodate an acoustical performance? 

Does the band shell meet these required ranges? 

What would need to happen to the site in order to meet required ranges (cost analysis)? 

c. In addition to an acoustical analysis, the following questions would be addressed:

What specific improvements, if any, could permit acoustical performance given determined noise levels of 

site (cost analysis)? 

6. Use

The attached list identifies users of the band shell from 1992-1994 (see Attachment L:  List of Band Shell Users).  An 

acoustical analysis should determine what needs to happen to the structure and the site in order to host acoustical 

performances.  In the past, amplified performances were met by noise complaints from surrounding neighborhoods.  If 

amplified performances are to be considered in the future, consideration should be given to the type of performance as well as 

the time for such performances.  In addition, staff may need to identify non-musical venues which could utilize the structure 

(such as school programs, exhibits, special community functions, etc. . .)   

7. Restoration 

The Preservation Ordinance requires that any designated structure be maintained in its condition at the time at designation; 

therefore, designation of the band shell would not require restoration.  However, restoration of the band shell may be 

necessary in order to utilize the structure as a performance facility.  As mentioned, restoration of the band shell does not 

conflict with the City's floodplain regulations.  Exact costs associated with the restoration/ renovation of the band shell would 

not be available until completion of the structural and acoustical analyses.  Currently, the Parks and Recreation Department 

has approximately $70,000 set aside for the band shell (this money, appropriated in 1988, was originally intended for 

dismantling of the band shell and purchase of a portable band shell). 

If designated, the band shell would be eligible for State Historical Fund grant monies to assist with planning, stabilization and 

restoration costs.  Grants are made primarily to public entities for designated buildings; those projects which produce visible 

results and directly benefit the public are given the highest priority.  Although a dollar-for-dollar match is not required, 

applicants are expected to share in the cost of the project.  City owned landmarks which have recently received funding for 

restoration include the Chautauqua Community House ($97,000), Chautauqua Auditorium ($62,550), and the 

Harbeck-Bergheim House ($19,683). 

Attachment E - September 5, 1995 City Council Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 51Packet Page 125



AGENDA ITEM # Page 8 

If recommendations associated with the structural and acoustical analysis call for more than a restoration project, it is likely that 

the project would need to go through the Community Environmental Assessment Process (CEAP). 

8. Moving

The consultant determined, and the Landmarks Board concurred, that the band shell structure is significant in its current 

context.  However, if designated and City Council determines that the structure needs to be moved, a Landmark Alteration 

Certificate would be required to move the structure to another location; this would require a public hearing before the 

Landmarks Board with potential call-up by City Council.  The Landmarks Board would look to Section 10-13-18 of the 

Preservation Ordinance, "Standards for Alteration Certificate Applications", in considering an application to move the structure 

(see Attachment G: Preservation Ordinance): 

In addition, the Landmarks Board could look to the following criterion to consider other issues: 

"(c) In determining whether to approve a landmark alteration certificate, the landmarks board shall consider the 

economic feasibility of alternatives, incorporation of energy efficient design, and enhanced access for the disabled." 

While the Landmarks Board did not specifically discuss whether the band shell would still be significant if moved, the Board 

would need to know (1) the receiving location and (2) the replacement plan for the original site.  As mentioned above, 

discussions in the past have suggested the Arboretum as a possible site for relocation of the band shell structure. 

PARKS AND RECREATION ADVISORY BOARD COMMENTS: 

At its August 28, 1995 meeting, the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board (Board) discussed the band shell to identify additional 

issues for City Council's consideration.  Meeting minutes will be forwarded to Council in the second reading materials.  The 

following is a brief summary of the Board's comments: 

• The Board strongly urged Council to delay decision to third reading in order to obtain structural and acoustical

analyses, allowing the Board time to review the analyses and provide additional feedback to Council.

• A performance venue is needed in the Civic Center area; concerned that band shell is no longer useful in providing 

that venue at its current location. 

• Moving the structure is only one alternative to preserving the structure in current location; other alternatives, such as

documentation of structure through Historic American Building Survey (HABS Documentation) and/ or placing an 

interpretive sign on the site should be considered. 

• Reluctant to prioritize the structure and site for funding until Board has a better idea of the useability and costs

associated with preserving the band shell; cannot determine support of leaving structure in current location without

further analysis. 

• The Board could support keeping the structure in its present location if it is a useable performance venue.

• The Board does not want to see the structure function solely as a monument; if it is not useable due to acoustical or 

other problems which interfere with its use as a performance venue, would like to see the structure removed and 

Attachment E - September 5, 1995 City Council Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 52Packet Page 126



AGENDA ITEM # Page 9 

Central Park returned to an open park. 

PUBLIC COMMENT AND PROCESS: 

On July 25, 1995, the Landmarks Preservation Advisory Board held a public hearing in consideration of landmark designation of 

the Central Park Band Shell and voted 4-0 (Coburn absent) to recommend to City Council designation of the structure and its 

site a local landmark (see Attachment  I:  7/25/95 Landmarks Board Draft Minutes).  The Landmarks Board made the 

following findings: 

Based on the findings of the report, the Landmarks Board recommends to City Council that the Central Park Band Shell 

structure and its site, modifying the boundaries to include the northern 170 feet of Block 13, Original Townsite to the 

City of Boulder, be designated as an individual landmark under the City historic preservation code, adopting the 

evaluation report and the staff memorandum detailing the significance criteria as findings of the Board. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The Landmarks Board recommends to City Council that the Central Park Band Shell structure and its site, located on the 

northern 170 feet of Block 13, Original Townsite to the City of Boulder and further described in Attachment B, be designated as 

an individual landmark under the City historic preservation code, adopting the evaluation report and the staff memorandum 

detailing the significance criteria as findings of the Board.  

The Landmarks Board recommends that the structure and its site be named the Boulder Band Shell. 

If Council determines to continue this item to third reading, staff recommends that: 

1. Council hold a public hearing at second reading on September 19, 1995;

2. Council continue the item to a date certain for a public hearing and final consideration at third reading (staff will

bring a proposed date to Council's September 19, 1995 meeting); and, 

3. Council identify other issues which should be addressed prior to third reading.

Approved By: 

Stephen T. Honey 

City Manager 

ATTACHMENTS: 

Attachment E - September 5, 1995 City Council Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 53Packet Page 127



AGENDA ITEM # Page 10 

Attachment A: Draft Ordinance 

Attachment B: Proposed Landmark Site 

Attachment C: Photo 

Attachment D: Landmark Application 

Attachment E: Boulder Band Shell Historical Study Report 

Attachment F: Letter from the Colorado Historical Society 

Attachment G: Historic Preservation Ordinance 

Attachment H: Significance Criteria 

Attachment I: 7/25/95 Landmarks Board Draft Minutes 

Attachment J: Letter from MAPL 

Attachment K: Floodplain Map 

Attachment L: List of Band Shell Users 

Attachment M: Letters from Public 

H:\data\comdev\hist\gen\bandshel.cc1

Attachment E - September 5, 1995 City Council Memo

Agenda Item 6B     Page 54Packet Page 128



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 55Packet Page 129



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 56Packet Page 130



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 57Packet Page 131



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 58Packet Page 132



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 59Packet Page 133



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 60Packet Page 134



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 61Packet Page 135



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 62Packet Page 136



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 63Packet Page 137



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 64Packet Page 138



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 65Packet Page 139



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 66Packet Page 140



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 67Packet Page 141



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 68Packet Page 142



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 69Packet Page 143



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 70Packet Page 144



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 71Packet Page 145



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 72Packet Page 146



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 73Packet Page 147



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 74Packet Page 148



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 75Packet Page 149



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 76Packet Page 150



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 77Packet Page 151



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 78Packet Page 152



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 79Packet Page 153



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 80Packet Page 154



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 81Packet Page 155



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 82Packet Page 156



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 83Packet Page 157



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 84Packet Page 158



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 85Packet Page 159



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 86Packet Page 160



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 87Packet Page 161



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 88Packet Page 162



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 89Packet Page 163



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 90Packet Page 164



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 91Packet Page 165



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 92Packet Page 166



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 93Packet Page 167



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 94Packet Page 168



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 95Packet Page 169



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 96Packet Page 170



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 97Packet Page 171



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 98Packet Page 172



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 99Packet Page 173



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 100Packet Page 174



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 101Packet Page 175



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 102Packet Page 176



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 103Packet Page 177



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 104Packet Page 178



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 105Packet Page 179



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 106Packet Page 180



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 107Packet Page 181



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 108Packet Page 182



Attachment F - Binder Presented by Kathryn Barth to the Landmarks Board December 2, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 109Packet Page 183



December 16, 2015 

Dear Members of the Landmarks Board: 

Historic Boulder is writing you to express our continuing interest and concern for the 
preservation and individual landmark designation of the city-owned Atrium Building (originally 
the Midland Federal Savings Bank) at the SE corner of 13th St. and Canyon Blvd., in 
conjunction with the Civic Area Master Plan and Redevelopment project. Our mission is 
preserving important historic structures, not only older ones but also more recent buildings 
which we believe are architecturally and historically significant. 

We include the Atrium Building, built in 1968, in this category primarily because of its 
distinctive architectural design, the prominent mid-century Boulder Architect Hobart Wagener 
who designed it, and its appropriate scale and character on the block of 13th St. adjacent to 
the park.  We also believe preserving and repurposing this building will serve a public benefit 
as a multi-purpose public venue for assembly, exhibition, performance, farmers market, and 
other potential civic activities. 

The Atrium Building was included as one of 66 important modern buildings in the city's 
Survey of Boulder Modern Architecture, produced in 2000 to guide the city in the preservation 
of important modernist structures.  This building was singled out in that survey as "one of the 
finest modern buildings in the city" and its architect as "one of the acknowledged masters of 
Boulder's mid-century modern architecture." 

Three architects and a structural engineer who are members of Historic Boulder's board have 
studied the original drawings for the building and have made a preliminary evaluation that the 
Atrium Building can be altered without great expense for the purposes described above.  This 
would involve the removal of the existing interior construction in the 8,200 SF building 
resulting in one large high-ceilinged dramatic space, open to the skylight and pyramidal roof 
structure.  The addition of overhead glass garage-type doors at the south side would allow 
the building to open up to the exterior plaza adjacent to the Tea House.  We have produced 
illustrations of what the interior and exterior of the building could look like as a result of these 
alterations. (These are attached here.) Also, the building could have an architecturally 
appropriate addition and/or be connected to a new building at the east side for expanded 
facilities. 

In the past and current master-planning concepts for the Civic Center, the retention of the 
Atrium Building has been shown as undetermined, and may be proposed for demolition.  We 
believe that because of the building’s significance and opportunities for re-use that the 
evolving master-plan should include the preservation and reuse of this building.   

Attachment G - Historic Boulder Letter December 16, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 110Packet Page 184



Therefore, Historic Boulder submitted an application for the designation of the Atrium Building 
as an individual local landmark on April 7, 2015.  We believe that this is a viable and 
appropriate action to ensure preservation of the building.  The Landmarks Board voted 
unanimously to initiate landmark designation on August 5, 2015.   
 
Prior to our application, city staff informed Historic Boulder that the city planned to conduct a 
“Feasibility Study” of the Atrium Building as part of the Civic Area Master Plan process, and 
asked us if we would agree to a time extension for the Designation Hearing if Initiation was 
approved.  Although we were unsure of the purpose of the Feasibility Study, or how long it 
would take, we agreed to this request, and this delay was included as a condition of the 
Initiation approval by the Landmarks Board. 
 
In recent communications with city preservation staff and the Civic Area planning staff, we 
have learned that the Feasibility Study (Civic Area Market Hall Feasibility Study) is underway, 
and that it will not be completed until April, 2016. This study will then be used as the basis for 
“an architectural ‘test fit’ analysis to determine the appropriate facility to accommodate the 
market hall either in a repurposed Atrium Building or as part of a new building” in that 
location.  This “test fit analysis” will presumably then require additional delay of the Landmark 
Designation hearing. 
 
Historic Boulder has concerns about how this Landmark Application is being processed and 
would like to call several issues to the attention of the Landmarks Board: 
 

1. Although the Landmarks Board is a city board and the city is the owner of the Atrium 
Building, we believe that the landmark designation process should be handled the 
same as for a privately owned building. 

2. The August 5, 2015, staff report gave a strong recommendation to the Landmarks 
Board for initiating landmark designation of the Atrium Building. 

3. Of the seven established Criteria evaluated by staff for their recommendation, four 
were affirmative, one was not-applicable, and two were To Be Determined.  The 
Criteria to be determined were- whether there is community and neighborhood support 
for landmark designation; and would designation be in the public interest.  

4. Regarding community and neighborhood support- evaluating this criteria is highly 
subjective, and will be difficult to quantify.  Historic Boulder believes that support for 
saving and repurposing the Atrium Building was expressed by a large number of 
parties and stake-holders during the Civic Area Master Plan public input process. 

5. Regarding the issue of being in the public interest- Historic Boulder believes that 
preserving an architecturally and historically important building, and repurposing a 
unique and functional structure, will serve the public interest.  We also believe that 
saving and repurposing this existing building which has anchored the corner of 
Canyon Blvd. and 13th St. with appropriate scale and design in relation to Central Park 
for almost 50 years, vs. demolition for a new building, supports accepted city 
sustainability goals, is also therefore in the public interest. 

6. Opinions have been expressed that a one-story building on a downtown site having 
high property value is not the highest and best use of the site for the city.  This 
basically makes the argument that requiring preservation of the existing building would 
be a financial hardship to the owner.  This is not an accepted criterion for 
consideration of landmark designation of a building. 

7. The Feasibility Study being conducted by the owner focuses on one proposed use for 
the Atrium Building- as a “Market Hall”.  Historic Boulder believes that the building can 
be altered and/or expanded for flexible multiple uses- a public indoor market, 

Attachment G - Historic Boulder Letter December 16, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 111Packet Page 185



performance, exhibition, and assembly venue.  Suitability and “fit” for one specific use 
by the owner is not an accepted criterion for landmark designation of a building. 

8. The city/owner has been allowed an unusually long postponement of the Landmark
Designation hearing- for more than eight months, well beyond the typical required
maximum of four months, in order to complete a Feasibility Study of the Atrium
Building.  We now understand that the purpose of this study is to determine if the city
will support preserving the building as part of the Civic Area Master Plan.  Although
owner support is always preferable to “owner objection”, owner approval is not a
criterion for landmark designation.

The Atrium Building has been identified by the city as an eminent example of Boulder’s 
unique mid-century modernism.  It is a building which is suitable for many new and continued 
uses in the community, and which has anchored the corner of Canyon Blvd. and 13th St. with 
an appropriate park-related scale and design for almost fifty years. We strongly urge the 
Landmarks Board to make a fair and objective decision, when the delayed Landmark 
Designation hearing occurs, based on the building’s merits and on the applicable 
criteria as stated in the city’s Landmark Ordinance, the same as it would for any 
individual landmark application.   

Sincerely, 

Gail Gray 
President, Historic Boulder Inc. 

cc:  Sam Assefa, James Hewat, Marcy Cameron 

1123 Spruce Street 

Boulder, CO 80302 

Attachment G - Historic Boulder Letter December 16, 2015

Agenda Item 6B     Page 112Packet Page 186



2016 City Council Committee Assignments 
 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS 
Beyond the Fences Coalition Morzel (Castillo – staff alternate) 
Boulder County Consortium of Cities Young, Burton (alternate) 
Colorado Municipal League (CML) – Policy Committee Jones, Appelbaum (Castillo – staff alternate) 
Denver Regional Council of Governments (DRCOG) Brockett, Appelbaum (alternate) 
Housing Authority (Boulder Housing Partners) Shoemaker 
Metro Mayors Caucus Jones 
National League of Cities (NLC) Appelbaum 
Resource Conservation Advisory Board (RCAB) Morzel 
Rocky Flats Stewardship Council Morzel, Weaver (alternate) (Castillo – 2nd staff 

alternate) 
University of Colorado (CU)/City Oversight Committee Weaver, Yates, Burton 
US 36 Mayors/Commissioners Coalition (MCC) Jones 
US 36 Commuting Solutions Burton, Morzel (alternate) 
Urban Drainage and Flood Control District Young 
 
LOCAL ORGANIZATIONS 
Boulder Museum of Contemporary Art (BMoCA) Shoemaker 
Boulder Convention and Visitors Bureau Yates, Burton 
Colorado Chautauqua Board of Directors Morzel 
Dairy Center for the Arts Brockett 
Downtown Business Improvement District Board Weaver, Young, Yates (alternate) 
 
INTERNAL CITY COMMITTEES 
Audit Committee Shoemaker, Yates, Weaver 
Boards and Commissions Committee Appelbaum, Burton  
Boulder Urban Renewal Authority (BURA) Yates 
Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) Process Sub-Committee Brockett, Weaver 
Charter Committee Morzel, Weaver, Young 
Civic Use Pad/9th and Canyon Morzel, Young 
Council Retreat Committee Morzel, Yates 
Council Employee Evaluation Committee Morzel, Shoemaker 
Housing Strategy Process Sub-Committee Morzel, Young, Burton 
Legislative Committee Jones, Weaver, Appelbaum 
School Issues Committee Morzel, Shoemaker, Young  
 
SISTER CITY REPRESENTATIVES 
Jalapa, Nicaragua  
Kisumu, Kenya Morzel 
Llasa, Tibet Shoemaker 
Dushanbe, Tajikistan  
Yamagata, Japan Burton 
Mante, Mexico Young 
Yateras, Cuba  
Sister City Sub-Committee Morzel, Burton, Young 
 

Agenda Item 8B     Page 1Packet Page 187



Packet Page 188



Packet Page 189



City of Boulder
2015 Work Plan
 (Tentative as of December 16, 2014)

Project 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

CC: Open Access Transmission Tariff    

SS: Power Supply 
SS (2): Rates, Energy Services, Power 

Supply
Project update  Project update

 Budget update  Budget update  Budget update  Budget update
Staff Activities Municipalization Transition Plan Municipalization Transition Plan Municipalization Transition Plan Municipalization Transition Plan

Council 
SS: Review interim goals, targets and 

strategies

Staff Activities Launch action plan 
Energy system transformation; blue 

print convening Implementation based on action plan Implementation based on action plan

Council Briefing SS (2)

Staff Activities
Housing Matters launch event, 

engagement activities 
Draft strategy development

Implementation based on adopted 
strategy

Implementation based on adopted 
strategy

SS: Direction of preferred scenario SS : Draft plan and action plan

Next Corridor - 30th St or Colorado

Staff Activities Develop East Arapahoe action plan
Council SS Direction or IP Direction or IP Direction or IP

Staff Activities Develop scoping plan Strategy analysis and development Strategy analysis and development Strategy analysis and development
Council SS Direction or IP Direction or IP

Staff Activities Issues identification Strategy analysis and development Strategy analysis and development Strategy analysis and development
Council Update and coordinate with BVCP Update and coordinate with BVCP

Staff Activities

Council Briefing Briefing
Staff Activities

SS : Review options & Update; 
including recommendations for TDM 

tool kit for new development

Council action on TDM Tool Kit for 
new development

Recommendations including planning 
code changes

SS: Review options and update 
Ongoing work plan in 7 focus areas Ongoing work plan Ongoing work plan Ongoing work plan
Alternatives analysis and specific 

option development

Specific option 

development/refinements
Joint Board workshop & public 

engagement
Joint Board workshop & public 

engagement

Council

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan

Sustainable Streets and Centers/ East Arapahoe

Council 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

a
ti

o
n

C
li

m
a

te
 a

n
d

 
E

n
er

g
y

 Comprehensive Housing Strategy (Housing 
Boulder)

 Energy Future and Associated Projects 

H
o

u
si

n
g

/L
a

n
d

 U
se

 
P

la
n

n
in

g

Climate Commitment

Resilience

Transportation Master Plan Implementation

Staff and elected official activities ongoing 
Regional Travel

Access Management and Parking Strategy (AMPS)

Staff Activities

Council

C:\Users\burnt1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\SGAYQBHC\CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5)CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5) 1 3/26/2015
Packet Page 190



City of Boulder
2015 Work Plan
 (Tentative as of December 16, 2014)

Project 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council SS: Parkland Concepts Plan CC: Approval of Concept Plan
Outreach to community & partners; 

create delivery plan for spring, 
summer, fall events

Deliver spring events Deliver summer activities and events
Review 2015 activation; compare lessons 

from 2014 and revise for 2016

Draft of parkland concept plan options 
for public workshop, Boards, Council 

review 

Board/Commission input on Concept 
Plan

Begin detailed design work on park 
improvements

Complete detailed design work for 
bidding 

Develop overall site master plan 
concepts, begin to formulate major 

capital projects

Initial feasibility planning on major 
capital projects

Continue to develop capital projects, 
identify potential partners, explore 

financing options

Continue to develop capital projects, 
identify potential partners, explore 

financing options

Council IP and local meals for Council Pilot

Council consideration of Local Food 
Procurement Policy; Review and 

acceptance of Ag Resources 

Management Plan

Council consideration of Local Food 
Procurement Policy; Review and 

acceptance of Ag Resources Management 

Plan

Staff Activities

SS: Review options IP 
CC: Public Hearing and Decision                                                                                                          

Recommendation & development of 
ordinances, changes and recommend 

other strategies to address 
Moratorium goals 

Follow up on other strategies & 
coordination with Hill Reinvestment 
Strategy; incorporate strategies into 

other work plan

Board review & public engagement Board review & public engagement

 Direction  on 14th Street 
redevelopment proposal 

SS 

SS: Update on strategy 
Residential service district (RSD) pilot 

program
RSD pilot program RSD pilot program RSD pilot program

Work plan implementation Work plan implementation Work plan implementation On-going work plan  implementation

Establish benchmarks  and evaluation 
criteria

Commercial district: Eco Pass Study & 
Commercial bear dumpsters

Implement volunteer program for 
clean up

Evaluate existing programs

Integration of strategy 
recommendations from Moratorium

Research options for sustainable 
governance & funding

Develop options for sustainable 
governance & funding

14th Street Lot public/private 
partnership redevelopment options re: 

work force affordable housing

14th Street Lot public/private 
partnership redevelopment options 

re: work force affordable housing

Stakeholder engagement Stakeholder engagement Stakeholder engagement Stakeholder engagement

Council IP: 2014 Accomplishments 
SS: As part of Human Services strategy 

update 
IP - Services and Regional coordination 

update
Staff Activities

Council 
Council update and input on testing 

phase
Briefing

SS: Adoption of Community Cultural 
Plan

Staff Activities
Research phase complete. Drafting 

phase complete. Testing phase begins
Testing phase complete. Certification 

phase begins
Implementation begins. New public art 

policy drafting
Public Art Policy drafting 

L
iv

a
b

il
it

y
L

o
ca

l 
F

o
o

d

Sustainable Agriculture and Local Foods 

Homeless Action Plan

C
iv

ic
 A

re
a

Community Cultural Plan 

Staff Activities

University Hill Moratorium

Council

Council

Staff Activities

 University Hill  Reinvestment Strategy 

Civic Area Implementation
Staff Activities

C:\Users\burnt1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\SGAYQBHC\CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5)CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5) 2 3/26/2015
Packet Page 191



City of Boulder
2015 Work Plan
 (Tentative as of December 16, 2014)

Projects 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council 

Staff Activities Ongoing redevelopment coordination
North Side of Pearl and Goose Creek 

bridge landscaping install. Bridge 
opens 

Depot Square opens 

Council Ongoing and Wastewater Collection 

System Rehabilitation program begins

Ongoing SS: 2016-2021 CIP Ongoing

Staff Activities

Council Report on 2015 City Events Summary of 2015 City Events

Staff Activities
Implement new events application and 

internal review process
Refine systems as needed Refine systems as needed

Improve events application for new 
online Landlinks System in 2016

Council SS SS

Staff Activities
Broadband Action Group formation 

and consultant assessment 
Consultant assessment continued Consultant assessment continued Present findings and recommendations 

Council
SS: Staff Recommendations design 

tools/process changes 
IP

CC: Draft recommendations/Adopt 
strategy 

Staff Activities
Issues identification/  preliminary  

work on design tools/ process changes
Technical analysis /develop options Draft recommendations

Public engagement Boards/public engagement Boards/public engagement 

Council

Staff Activities Flood Annexations - Individual Flood Annexations - Old Tale Rd Ongoing Ongoing

Council SS Public Hearing 
Staff Activities

Council

IP: Stormwater Master Plan and 
Wastewater Collection System Master 

Plan consideration

Staff
Stormwater Master Plan and 

Wastewater Collection System Master 
Plan updates continue

Stormwater Master Plan and 
Wastewater Collection System Master 

Plan updates continue

Council CC: Second reading 

Staff Activities Education campaign Enforcement begins Monitor Outcomes Monitor Outcomes

Council SS

Staff Activities
Research regulations and possible fees 

or taxes 

Human Services Strategy

O
th

er

 Boulder Junction

Capital Projects Activity 

CityWide Special Events 

Community Broadband

Design Excellence

 Flood-related  Annexations 

 Flood Management 

Smoking Ban - Implementation

Vacation Rental by Owner (VRBO)

C:\Users\burnt1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\SGAYQBHC\CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5)CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5) 3 3/26/2015
Packet Page 192



                                                             COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 

Suzanne Jones  Mayor 
Mary Young  Mayor Pro Tem 

Matthew Appelbaum 
Aaron Brockett 

 Council Member  
Council Member 

Jan Burton  Council Member 
Lisa Morzel  Council Member 

Andrew Shoemaker  Council Member 
Sam Weaver  Council Member 

Bob Yates  Council Member 
   

                                                               
 
                                                             COUNCIL EMPLOYEES 
 

Thomas A. Carr  City Attorney 
Jane S. Brautigam  City Manager 

Linda P. Cooke  Municipal Judge 
                                                                
 
                                                              KEY STAFF 
 

Mary Ann Weideman 
Bob Eichem 

 Assistant City Manager 
Chief Financial Officer 

Lynnette Beck  City Clerk 
Patrick von Keyserling  Communications Director 

David Driskell  Executive Director for the Department of Planning, Housing 
Sustainability  

Molly Winter  Director of Community Vitality 
Heather Bailey  Executive Director of Energy Strategy and Electric Utility 

Development  
Michael Calderazzo  Fire Chief 

Joyce Lira  Human Resources Director 
Karen Rahn  Human Services Director 

Don Ingle  Information Technology Director 
David Farnan  Library and Arts Director 

James Cho  Municipal Court Administrator 
Tracy Winfree  Open Space and Mountain Parks Director 

Yvette Bowden  Parks and Recreation Director 
Greg Testa  Police Chief 

Maureen Rait  Executive Director of Public Works 
Cheryl Pattelli  Director of Fiscal Services 
Mike Sweeney  Acting Transportation Director 

Jeff Arthur  Utilities Director 
 

Packet Page 193



 Approved   02-17-2015 

2015 City Council Committee Assignments 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS 
Beyond the Fences Coalition Morzel, Plass (Castillo – staff alternate) 
Boulder County Consortium of Cities Young, Morzel (alternate) 
Colorado Municipal League (CML) – Policy Committee Jones,  Cowles (Castillo – staff alternate) 
Denver Regional Council of Governments (DRCOG) Jones, Plass 
Housing Authority (Boulder Housing Partners) Shoemaker 
Metro Mayors Caucus Appelbaum 
National League of Cities (NLC) Appelbaum, Cowles 
Resource Conservation Advisory Board Morzel (at large seat), Plass 
Rocky Flats Stewardship Morzel, Plass (1st alternate), Castillo (2nd alternate) 
University of Colorado (CU) / City Oversight Cowles, Shoemaker, Weaver 
US36 Mayors and Commission Coalition Appelbaum 
US36 Commuting Solutions Karakehian, Morzel (alternate) 
Urban Drainage and Flood Control District Jones 

LOCAL ORGANIZATIONS 
Boulder Museum of Contemporary Art (BMoCA) Young 
Boulder Convention and Visitors Bureau Plass, Cowles (alternate) 
Dairy Center for the Arts Jones 
Downtown Business Improvement District Board  Weaver, Young 

INTERNAL CITY COMMITTEES 
Audit Committee Cowles, Morzel, Shoemaker 
Boards and Commissions Committee Plass, Shoemaker 
Boulder Urban Renewal Authority (BURA) 
Mayoral Appointment 

Karakehian 

Charter Committee Karakehian, Morzel, Weaver 
Civic Use Pad/ 9th and Canyon Karakehian, Morzel, Young 
Council Employees Salary Review Cowles, Shoemaker 
Council Retreat Committee Morzel, Yates 
Evaluation Committee Morzel, Shoemaker

 

Housing Strategy Process Sub-committee Morzel, Shoemaker and Young 
Legislative Committee Jones, Karakehian, Weaver 
School Issues Committee Morzel, Plass, Shoemaker 

SISTER CITY REPRESENTATIVES 
Jalapa, Nicaragua Jones 
Kisumu, Kenya Morzel 
Llasa, Tibet Shoemaker 
Dushanbe, Tajikistan Weaver 
Yamagata, Japan Plass 
Mante, Mexico Young 
Yateras, Cuba Karakehian, Cowles (alternate) 
Sister City Sub-Committee Morzel, , Karakehian 

Packet Page 194



DRAFT
2016 Study Session Calendar

Date Status Topic Time Location Contacts
Materials 

Due

01/26/16 Discussion of Co-op Housing 6-9PM Chambers 01/14/16

6-7:30 PM Chambers Tammye Burnette 01/28/16
Neighborhood Parking Permit Review and Update 7:30-9 PM Chambers Molly Winter/Ruth Weiss
Resilience Strategy Update and Exercise 7:30-9PM Chambers Greg Guibert/Julie Raymond

Briefing: Boulder Energy Future 5:30-6 PM Chambers Heather Bailey/Heidi Joyce 02/11/16
Hillard Heintze report - from the City Manager 6-7:30 PM Chambers Tammye Burnette
Middle Income Housing Strategy 7:30-8:30PM Chambers Jay Sugnet/Edy Urken

03/03/16 Boards and Commissions Interviews (Thursday) 6-9 PM 1777 West
03/08/16 Boards and Commissions Interviews 6-9 PM 1777 West 02/25/16
03/10/16 Boards and Commissions Interviews (Thursday) 6-9 PM 1777 West

03/29/16 Civic Area Long Term Planning Update 6-8 PM Chambers Sam Assefa/Lauren Reader 3/17/2016
8-9 PM Chambers

Boulder Valley Comp Plan Update- 3rd Phase 6:00-7:30 Chambers Lesli Ellis/Lauren Reader 03/31/16
Dev Related Impacts Fees and Excise Taxes 7:30-9:00 Chambers Chris Meschuk/Lauren Reader

04/26/16 No Study Session-Council travel to Portland, OR

Potential Ballot Items and Budget and Long Range Financial 
Planning Update 6-8 PM Chambers Peggy Bunzli/Elena Lazarevska 04/28/16
Boulder Energy Future Update 7:30-9:00 Chambers Heather Bailey/Heidi Joyce

05/10/16

02/23/16

02/09/16

4/12/2016

No Study Session-CU Spring Break Mar 21-253/22/2016

Packet Page 195



Agenda Section Time Minutes
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS
OPEN COMMENT 45 Minutes
CONSENT 15 Minutes

2nd reading alternative ordinance to implement West TSA plan re: equine use 
2nd reading for the short term rental supplemental appropriation

PUBLIC HEARINGS Minutes

Joint Session with Planning Board and City Council - a public hearing for initial screening of 
public requests for Areas II and III properties 
• Presentation for Area II and III property requests and county recommendations for same
• Public hearing for Area II and III property requests 
• Council  feedback and motion for Area II and Area III properties continues in Council 
Chambers
• Planning Board deliberation and motion for Area II and Area III properties continues in 
Municipal Building, room 1777 (downstairs)

180 Minutes
MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER
MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY
MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL
CALL-UPS

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours:Minutes) 4:00

February 2, 2016
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

Packet Page 196



Agenda Section Item Name Time
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS One Action 2016 Declaration-- Council Member Young 10 Minutes
OPEN COMMENT 45 Minutes
CONSENT 1st reading ordinance -Downtown Urban Guidelines Update- Lifting the height restriction is 

dependent on the adoption of the update 15 Minutes
1st Reading to Approve an ordinance Amending Boulder's Cable Code
1st rdg Leases for Point to Point Electrical Conduit Crossings

Emergency Single Reading BRC supplement 126 allowing ordinances adopted last quarter of 
2015 to be updated in hard copy

PUBLIC HEARINGS 2nd rdg Annexation Ord for 236 and 250 Pearl 60 Minutes
Motion to revise the COB 2016 State and Federal Legislative Agenda 60 Minutes
West Fourmile Canyon Creek Area Study update and direction Ponderosa MHP 90 Minutes

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER Expanding the City's Living Wage Resolution 926 60 Minutes

Bear Protection Ord Implementation Update 20 Minutes
MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY
MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL
CALL-UPS

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours:Minutes) 6:00

February 16, 2016
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

Packet Page 197



Agenda Section Time Minutes
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS
OPEN COMMENT 45 Minutes
CONSENT 15 Minutes

Study Session Summary for Neighborhood Parking Permit Review and Update

Boulder Creek Restoration Master Plan

PUBLIC HEARINGS 2nd reading Ordinance-Downtown Urban Design Guidelines Update-  Lifting the height 
restriction is dependent on the adoption of the update 90 Minutes
2nd rdg Leases for Point to Point electrical conduit Crossings 30 Minutes

Minutes

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER
Report summarizing the City Wide events in 2015 and authorize renewal agreement w the 
World Triathlon Corp 15 Minutes

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY
MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL
CALL-UPS

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours:Minutes) 3:15

Agenda Section Item Name Time
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS
OPEN COMMENT 45 Minutes
CONSENT 2/23 Study Session Summary regarding the Middle Income Housing Strategy 15 Minutes

FAmendments to Title 13- Elections
1st Reading Ord Form Based Code Boulder Junction Phase 1

PUBLIC HEARINGS Minutes
Minutes

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER
MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY
MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL B & C Appointments 60 Minutes
CALL-UPS

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours:Minutes) 2:00

March 1, 2016
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

March 15, 2016
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

CU Spring Break Mar 21-25

Packet Page 198



Agenda Section Time Minutes
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS Quarterly Municipal Court Update 15
OPEN COMMENT 45 Minutes
CONSENT 15 Minutes

2nd Rdg for Amendments to Title 13
Hill Reinvestment Strategy 12/8/15 Study Session Summary 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 2nd Rdg Ord for Form Based Code for Boulder Junction Phase I 150 Minutes
Minutes
Minutes

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER
MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY
MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL
CALL-UPS

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours:Minutes) 3:45

Agenda Section Item Name Time
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS
OPEN COMMENT 45 Minutes
CONSENT 1st Reading Ord of Annual Budget Carryover and First Adjustment to Base 2016 15 Minutes

Notice of Sale Resolution - 2016 Water and Sewer Bonds- Resolution

PUBLIC HEARINGS Minutes
Minutes

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER
MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY
MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL
CALL-UPS

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours:Minutes) 1:00

April 5, 2016
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

April 19, 2016
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

Packet Page 199



 

 

           TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council 

     FROM:  Jordan Matthews, City Clerk’s Office 

      DATE:  January 19, 2016 

SUBJECT:  Information Packet 
 

 

1. CALL UPS 
 None 

 
2. INFORMATION ITEMS 

 None 
   

3. BOARDS & COMMISSIONS 
 A. Environmental Advisory Board – December 9, 2015 
 B. Transportation Advisory Board – October 12, 2015 
 C. Transportation Advisory Board – November 9, 2015 

 
4. DECLARATIONS 

 None 
 

 

Packet Page 200



Boards and Commissions 
EAB 12-09-2015

3A     Page 1Packet Page 201



Boards and Commissions 
EAB 12-09-2015

3A     Page 2Packet Page 202



Boards and Commissions 
EAB 12-09-2015

3A     Page 3Packet Page 203



Boards and Commissions 
TAB 10-12-2015

3B     Page 1Packet Page 204



Boards and Commissions 
TAB 10-12-2015

3B     Page 2Packet Page 205



Boards and Commissions 
TAB 10-12-2015

3B     Page 3Packet Page 206



Boards and Commissions 
TAB 10-12-2015

3B     Page 4Packet Page 207



Boards and Commissions 
TAB 10-12-2015

3B     Page 5Packet Page 208



Boards and Commissions 
TAB 11-09-2015

3C     Page 1Packet Page 209



Boards and Commissions 
TAB 11-09-2015

3C     Page 2Packet Page 210



Boards and Commissions 
TAB 11-09-2015

3C     Page 3Packet Page 211


	00_agenda public final
	3A_AMPS_SS_Summary
	Executive Summary, Staff Recommendation
	Attachment A- Summary

	3B_Water Bond Res
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Assessmetns, Impacts, Background, Analysis
	Attachment A- Res No. 1179

	3C_1st Rdg Supp App for STR
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Impacts, Feedback, Analysis, Background
	Next Steps
	Attachment A- Ord No. 8103
	Attachment B- Detailed Requests

	3E_Appointment of Tim Plass to the Planning Board (2)
	Executive Summary, Staff Recommendation
	Background, Analysis

	5A_2nd Rdg 2200 Broadway Landmark Designation
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts, Landmarks Board Action
	Property Descripton
	Site Review Approval
	Analysis
	Analysis of LM Criteria, Historic Significance
	Architectural Significance, Environmental
	Landmark Name, Boundary Analysis
	Options
	Attachment A- Ord No. 8100
	Attachment B- Purposes and Intent
	Attachment C- Significance Criteria

	5B_2nd Rdg 1900 King Ave Landmark Designation
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts, Landmarks Board Action
	Property Description
	Analysis, Analysis of LM Criteria, Historic Significance
	Environmental Significance
	Landmark Name, Boundary Analysis
	Options
	Attachment A- Ord No. 8102
	Attachment B- Purposes and Intent
	Attachment C- Significance Criteria

	6A_Living Lab Phase I
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Background
	Assessemtns & Impacts
	Feedback
	Phase I Pilot Project Analysis
	Next Steps
	Attachment A- Description and Map
	Attachment B- TAB Meeting Minutes- draft

	6B_Band Shell Update
	Executive Summary
	Memo
	Staff Response
	Update on LM Alteration Certificate
	Attachment A- Email
	Attachment B- Ord No. 5751
	Attachment C- Chronology of Review
	Attachment D-LM Memo from Oct 7, 2015
	Attachment E- Sep 5, 2015 CC Memo
	Attachment F- Binder presented
	Attachment G- Letter from Historic Boulder

	8B_City Council Committee Assignments 2016
	89_Reference
	1. Council Working Agreements
	2. 2015 Work Plan
	3.INSIDE FRONT COVER Council and Key Staff 11.13.14 (1)
	BACK INSIDE COVER Council Committee Assignments 02.17.15
	Council_Master_Calendar for reference
	2016 Study Sessions
	February 2016
	March 2016
	April 2016


	99__IP web
	IP Cover
	3A  EAB 2015.12.09
	3B TAB 2015.10.12
	3C TAB 2015.11.09




